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Introduction
The Public Accounts of the Province of Prince Edward Island are presented through the
publication of Volume I: The Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, Volume II, the financial
statements of the Operating Fund and the details of revenues and expenses of the Operating
Fund, and Volume III which presents a reproduction of the available audited financial
statements of the Province’s Agencies, Boards and Crown Corporations.

Internet Address – Volumes I, II, and III of the Public Accounts are available in PDF format on
the Province’s Website:
https://www.princeedwardisland.ca/en/topic/public-accounts
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June 28, 2018
Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of
The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Charlottetown Area Development
Corporation, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controls. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation as at March 31, 2018, and the consolidated results of
its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants
( 1)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2018
2018
$

2017
$

Assets (note 13)
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable (notes 5 and 17)
Current portion of investment in leases

Property inventory (note 6)
Investment in leases (note 7)
Property and equipment (note 8)

6,145,800
681,501
721,689

3,052,727
401,922
348,137

7,548,990

3,802,786

3,210,862

3,119,972

216,172

937,861

30,831

110,101

52,161,008

55,868,142

290,425

290,425

63,458,288

64,129,287

5,931,067
1,558,110
1,250,743

2,736,601
1,726,236
4,530,547

8,739,920

8,993,384

636,656

733,352

Long-term debt, less current portion (note 13)

10,890,530

11,778,014

Deferred credits (note 14)

35,910,350

36,866,663

56,177,456

58,371,413

Investment properties (note 9)
Investment properties under development (note 10)

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Demand loans (notes 11 and 13)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (notes 12 and 17)
Current portion of long-term debt

Deferred revenue (note 17)

Shareholders' Equity
Capital stock (note 15)

2,500

2,500

Contributed surplus

4,526,706

4,526,706

Retained earnings

2,751,626

1,228,668

7,280,832

5,757,874

63,458,288

64,129,287

Approved by the Board of Directors
_____________________________ Director

_____________________________ Director
(2)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended March 31, 2018
2018
$

2017
$

Retained earnings - Beginning of year

1,228,668

840,056

Net earnings for the year

1,522,958

388,612

Retained earnings - End of year

2,751,626

1,228,668

(3)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended March 31, 2018
2018
$

2017
$

149,046
57,879
63,819
39,400

143,946
18,619
88,221
21,912

310,144

272,698

100,728
16,068
854
12,155
2,702
207,336
42,673
75,374
22,541
2,787
503,768
349

15,656
48,150
1,009
(135,000)
11,406
3,172
234,906
41,061
85,070
21,398
4,854
740,108
3,791

Revenue
Management fee - leasing
Interest
Interest on investment in leases
Miscellaneous

Expenses
Concept planning
Directors' fees (note 18)
Directors' meetings
Doubtful accounts (recovery)
Insurance
Interest and bank charges
Interest on long-term debt (note 17)
Office operations and sundry
Professional fees
Telephone
Travel
Wages and benefits (notes 16 and 18)
Depreciation

987,335

Operating loss

1,075,581

(677,191)

(802,883)

998,178
236,771
(649)
121,162
181,088
217,067
(64,724)
920
510,336

751,150
265,466
(100,958)
101,100
17,002
233,822
(77,515)
1,428
-

Other income (expense)
Harbourside Complex (Schedule 1)
Invesco Building (Schedule 2)
Founders' Hall (Schedule 3)
Peake's Wharf (Schedule 4)
CGI Building (Schedule 5)
Biocommons (Schedule 6)
Venue Site and Parking Lot (Schedule 7)
Convention Centre (Schedule 8)
Gain on sale of investment property

Net earnings for the year

(4)

2,200,149

1,191,495

1,522,958

388,612
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2018
2018
$

2017
$

1,522,958

388,612

68,493
1,084,135
(510,336)
(690,013)
-

134,566
1,165,168
(767,206)
34,822

1,475,237

955,962

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Net earnings for the year
Items not affecting cash
Depreciation of property and equipment
Depreciation of investment properties
Gain on sale of investment property and property and equipment
Depreciation of deferred credits
Depreciation of leasehold inducements
Net change in non-cash working capital items
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
Decrease in prepaid deposits and expenses
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(279,579)
(168,126)
1,027,532

306,867
11,863
781,214
2,055,906

Financing activities
Increase in demand loans
Repayment of long-term debt
Increase in deferred credits
Decrease in deferred revenue

3,194,466
(4,167,288)
62,000
(96,696)

(940,462)
93,174
(96,696)

(1,007,518)

(943,984)

(90,890)
3,100,000
348,138
(1,134)
(283,055)

(116,063)
323,736
(1,198)
(495,657)

3,073,059

(289,182)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

3,093,073

822,740

Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year

3,052,727

2,229,987

Cash and cash equivalents - End of year

6,145,800

3,052,727

Investing activities
Increase in property inventory
Proceeds on sale of investment property and property and equipment
Decrease in investment in leases
Purchase of property and equipment
Increase in investment properties

(5)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

1

General information
The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation was established to provide innovation, investment, and
expertise for individual projects of economic and social benefit that government or the private sector are not
prepared to execute alone.
The corporation is owned by the Province of Prince Edward Island, the City of Charlottetown and the Town
of Stratford and is, therefore, a non-taxable entity under the provisions of the Income Tax Act.

The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation's head office is located in Charlottetown, Prince Edward
Island.
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on June 28, 2018.

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(a)

Basis of measurement
These financial statements have been presented on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments as indicated in note 2(f).

(b)

Basis of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of The Charlottetown Area
Development Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Harbourside Management Services Inc.

(c)

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is The Charlottetown Area
Development Corporation's functional currency.

(d)

Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of The Charlottetown Area
Development Corporation at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate at that date. Foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the
difference between cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period or at the reporting
date if a current year transaction, and the cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the
end of the reporting period. Foreign currency differences arising on the translation are recognized in
the statement of earnings.

(6)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(e)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held with banks.

(f)

Financial instruments
i)

Recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and their
subsequent measurement is dependent on their classification as described below. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired or
issued. At initial recognition, The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation classifies its
financial instruments as follows:


Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets held for trading are reported at FVTPL with changes in fair value
reported through the statement of earnings. A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term, if so designated by
management or it is a derivative that is not designated or effective as a hedging
instrument. Transaction costs are expensed.
Assets in this category include cash and cash equivalents.



Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are recorded at
fair value on initial recognition and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.
Assets in this category include accounts receivable and investment in leases.



Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Liabilities in this category include demand loans, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities and long-term debt.

(7)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
ii)

Impairment of financial assets

The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation assesses, at each statement of financial
position date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired, and
impairment losses are recorded, only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”)
and the loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include significant financial
difficulty of the borrower or issuer, default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a
loan or advance by The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation on non-market terms
that The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation would not otherwise consider,
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active
market for a security, or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as conditions
that correlate with defaults in the group.


Financial assets classified as loans and receivables
For the purposes of individual evaluation of impairment, the amount of the impairment
loss on a loan or receivable is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is
recognized in the statement of earnings. The calculation of the carrying value reflects
the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the
collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed
regularly by The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation to reduce any
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. When a loan is
uncollectible, it is written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and
the amount of loss has been determined. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment
loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is
recognized in the statement of earnings in provision for loan loss expense.
Loans that were past due and either subject to collective impairment assessment or are
individually significant and whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer
considered to be past due but are treated as new loans. In subsequent years, if the loan
becomes past due, this will be disclosed only if renegotiated again.

(8)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(g)

Investment properties
Investment properties includes buildings held to earn rental income and properties that are under
construction or development for future use as investment properties.
(i)

Property inventory
Properties being developed for resale are accounted for in accordance with IAS 2 – Inventories
and are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of property inventory is
comprised of the original purchase, costs of conversion to prepare the property for resale and
borrowing costs incurred during that period. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less selling costs and costs to complete development. To the
extent there have been write-downs to net realizable value, the reversal of these write-downs is
recognized in the subsequent period should net realizable value recover. Property inventory
expected to be sold within a year is reported as a current asset.

(ii) Investment properties
Initially, investment properties are recorded at cost, including transaction costs which include
transfer taxes and various professional fees. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The company allocates the amount recognized in respect of each item in investment
properties to its significant components and depreciates each component separately.
Depreciation is recognized so as to write-off the cost less the residual values over the useful lives
of the assets using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at each year-end with the effect of any changes in estimates
accounted for on a prospective basis. Depreciation rates are as follows:
Land improvements
Buildings

40 years
1.33% - 4%

Investment property is derecognized when it has been disposed of or permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on
retirement or disposal of investment properties are recognized in the income statement in the year
of retirement or disposal.
(iii) Investment properties under development
The cost of development properties includes direct development costs, realty taxes and
borrowing costs directly attributable to the development. Investment properties under
development are recorded at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Once development has been completed, the properties are transferred to investment properties
and depreciated accordingly.

(9)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(h)

Investment in leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement at inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a
specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not
explicitly specified in the arrangement.
As a lessor, the company classifies all leases which transfer substantially all risks and benefits
incidental to owner of the leased item to the lessor as a financing lease. The financing leases are
recorded on the Statement of Financial Position as investment in leases. The company has assessed
all other leases to be operating leases.

(i)

Property and equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes expenditures
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent expenditures are included in
the asset’s carrying amount or are recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to The Charlottetown Area
Development Corporation and the cost can be measured reliably. Repairs and maintenance costs are
charged to expenses during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation is calculated using the declining balance method as follows:
Equipment
Computer
Automotive

20% and 33.3%
30%
30%

The useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. No property and equipment were
identified as impaired as at March 31, 2018.
Gains and losses on disposals of property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds to
the net book value of the asset and are presented as a gain or loss on disposal in the statement of
earnings.
(j)

Retiring allowance
The Corporation provides a retiring allowance to its employees. The amount paid to eligible
employees at retirement is two weeks of pay for each year of service and the rate of pay in effect at
the retirement date. The retirement pay benefits are accrued on an annual basis, starting retroactively
in 2017, and are reflected in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

(10)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(k)

Government assistance and capital donations
Grants relating to general operations are recorded as revenue in the period in which they are received
or receivable. Grants relating to the delivery of specific programs are recorded as revenue in the
period in which the related expenditures are made.
Government assistance received relating to property and equipment, investment properties and
investment properties under development are recorded as deferred credits and are depreciated on the
same basis as the related assets are being depreciated.

(l)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from rental operations is recognized over the terms of the leases when collection is
reasonably assured.
Interest income and interest on investment in leases is recorded in the period earned.
Management fees - leasing is based on market rates for financing and administering rental operations
and the City's three parkades.

(m)

Impairment of assets
At the end of each reporting period, non-financial assets, such as investment properties, are assessed
for any indication of impairment. Should the indication of impairment exist, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is defined as the higher of an asset’s “fair value less cost to sell” and its “value
in use”. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risk specific to the asset for which the estimate of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the recoverable amount determined, an impairment
loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. After the recognition of an impairment
loss, the depreciation charge related to that asset is also revised for the adjusted carrying amount on a
systematic basis over the remaining useful life of an asset. Should this impairment loss be determined
to be reversed in a future period, a reversal of the impairment loss is recorded in the statement of
earnings. However, the reversal of an impairment loss will not increase the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognized.

(n)

Related parties
A related party is a person or an entity that is related to The Charlottetown Area Development
Corporation.

(11)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to The Charlottetown Area
Development Corporation if that person:
i)

Has control or joint control over The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation, with the
power to govern The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation’s financial and operating
policies;

ii) Has significant influence over The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation, participating in
financial and operating policy decisions, but not control over these policies; or
iii) Is a member of the key management personnel of The Charlottetown Area Development
Corporation. Key management personnel, consistent with the definition under IAS 24, Related
Party Disclosures, are persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation, directly or
indirectly, including any director of The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation.
(o)

Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and report amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue
and expenses during the period. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.
The judgments that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial
statements are detailed in note 3.

(p)

Standards issued but not yet effective
As at March 31, 2018, a number of standards and interpretations had been issued by IASB which are not
effective for these financial statements and have not yet been adopted by The Charlottetown Area
Development Corporation. Other than the introduction of IFRS 9, these changes are not expected to have
a material impact on the financial statements.
IFRS 9 - Financial instruments
On July 24, 2014, IASB issued the complete version of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 introduces a principles-based
approach to the classification of financial assets based on an entity's business model and the nature of the
cash flows of the asset. All financial assets are to be measured at fair value through profit and loss
(FVTPL) unless certain conditions are met which permit measurement at amortized cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income. The classification and measurement of liabilities remain generally
unchanged, with the exception of liabilities recorded at FVTPL.
(12)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
IFRS 9 also introduces a new loss impairment model for all financial assets not at FVTPL, which results
in credit losses being recognized regardless of whether a loss event has occurred. This expected credit
loss (ECL) model replaces the current "incurred loss" model and requires an entity to recognize expected
credit losses at all times and to update the amount of expected credit losses recognized at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the credit risk of financial instruments.
IFRS 9 is effective January 1, 2018 and will be applied retrospectively. The Charlottetown Area
Development Corporation is currently analyzing the potential effects of adopting this new standard.

3

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future
that will, by definition, seldom equal actual results. These estimates and judgments have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the period the assumptions
changed. The principal areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity and/or area which require
significant estimates are described below:
(a)

Provision for losses

The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation regularly reviews its investment in leases portfolio
to assess for impairment. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the
statement of earnings, The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation makes judgments as to
whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment trigger followed by a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of leases before the decrease can be
identified with that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has
been an adverse change in the payment status of members in a group. Management uses estimates
based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of
impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows.
(b)

Estimated useful lives of property and equipment and investment properties
Management estimates the useful lives of property and equipment and investment properties based on
the period during which assets are expected to be available for use. The amounts and timing of
recorded depreciation expense of property and equipment and investment properties for any period
are affected by these estimated useful lives. The estimates are reviewed at least annually and are
updated if expectations change as a result of physical wear and tear and legal and other limits to use.
It is possible that changes in these factors may cause changes in the estimated useful lives of The
Charlottetown Area Development Corporation’s property and equipment and investment properties in
the future.

(13)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

4

Financial instruments
Fair values versus carrying amounts
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of
financial position, are as follows:
2018
2017
Carrying
amount
$
Assets carried at fair value
Financial assets held for trading

5

Carrying
amount
$

Fair
value
$

6,145,800

6,145,800

3,052,727

3,052,727

681,501
937,861

681,501
937,861

401,922
1,285,998

401,922
1,285,998

1,619,362

1,619,362

1,687,920

1,687,920

5,931,067

5,931,067

2,736,601

2,736,601

1,558,110
12,141,273

1,558,110
12,141,273

1,726,236
16,308,561

1,726,236
16,308,561

19,630,450

19,630,450

20,771,398

20,771,398

Assets carried at amortized cost
Mortgages and receivables
Investment in leases

Liabilities carried at amortized cost
Demand loans
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities
Long-term debt

Fair
value
$

Accounts receivable

Trade receivable
Funding receivables
Other receivables
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts

(14)

2018
$

2017
$

130,889
552,332
48,280
(50,000)

123,842
316,880
11,200
(50,000)

681,501

401,922
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
Continuity of allowance for doubtful accounts

2018
$

6

2017
$

Balance - beginning of year
Recovery of doubtful accounts
Write-off of doubtful accounts

50,000
-

198,344
(135,000)
(13,344)

Balance - end of year

50,000

50,000

Property inventory
2018
$

2017
$

Balance - beginning of year
Capitalized expenditures
Capitalized interest
Reimbursed expenses

3,119,972
12,772
78,118
-

3,003,909
71,671
68,422
(24,030)

Balance - end of year

3,210,862

3,119,972

The company expects these properties to be completed within their normal operating cycle for such
properties, which may extend beyond one year.

7

Investment in leases
2018
$
Total minimum lease payments due June 1, 2018, receivable
in monthly instalments of $2,719, including principal and
interest
Less: Portion representing interest at 4.1%

Total minimum lease payments due October 1, 2019,
receivable in monthly instalments of $31,610, including
principal and interest
Less: Portion representing interest at 6.64%

Less: current portion

(15)

2017
$

373,313
3,784

405,941
17,870

369,529

388,071

686,046
117,714

1,065,366
167,439

568,332

897,927

937,861

1,285,998

721,689

348,137

216,172

937,861
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
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March 31, 2018

8

Property and equipment
Equipment
$

Automotive
$

Total
$

Balance - March 31, 2017
Additions
Disposals

867,188
(123,234)

125,958
1,134
-

35,921
-

1,029,067
1,134
(123,234)

Balance - March 31, 2018

743,954

127,092

35,921

906,967

766,531
68,144
(111,323)

122,733
349
-

29,702
-

918,966
68,493
(111,323)

Balance - March 31, 2018

723,352

123,082

29,702

876,136

Carrying value
March 31, 2017
March 31, 2018

100,657
20,602

3,225
4,010

6,219
6,219

110,101
30,831

Accumulated depreciation
Balance - March 31, 2017
Current year depreciation
Disposals

9

Computer
$

Investment properties
Land
$

Land
Improvements
$

Buildings
$

Total
$

Cost
Balance - March 31, 2017
Capitalized expenditures
Disposals

5,189,720
(286,939)

3,451,980
196,109
-

60,229,459
86,946
(3,992,942)

68,871,159
283,055
(4,279,881)

Balance - March 31, 2018

4,902,781

3,648,089

56,323,463

64,874,333

Accumulated depreciation
Balance - March 31, 2017
Depreciation
Disposals

-

1,198,699
123,672
-

11,804,318
960,463
(1,373,827)

13,003,017
1,084,135
(1,373,827)

Balance - March 31, 2018

-

1,322,371

11,390,954

12,713,325

5,189,720
4,902,781

2,253,281
2,325,718

48,425,141
44,932,509

55,868,142
52,161,008

Carrying value
March 31, 2017
March 31, 2018

(16)
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March 31, 2018
The fair value of the investment properties is estimated to be $31,445,000 (2017 - $30,150,000).
The carrying value of the investment properties is reduced by the $35,910,350 (2017 - $36,866,663) balance
in deferred credits to get a net book value of the investment properties of $16,250,658 (2017 - $19,001,479).
An independent valuation was completed by an accredited appraisal firm for one of the investment properties
which represents 93% of the above portfolio. The remaining properties were valued internally by
management. Management's internal valuation model is based on the capitalization rate of normalized income
by property using specific capitalization rates. Management determined the normalized income for each
property based on current rents and assumptions about occupancy.
Investment property valuations are most sensitive to changes in the capitalization rates. The weighted average
of the capitalization rate used is 7.92% with a range of 6.50% to 10.00%
The impact of a 10% change in the capitalization rate used to value the investment properties would affect the
fair value calculation as follows:



a 10% increase in the capitalization rate would result in a fair value amount of $34,589,500.
a 10% decrease in the capitalization rate would result in a fair value amount of $26,370,000.

10 Investment properties under development

Land
$

Land
Improvements
$

Buildings
$

Total
$

Balance - March 31, 2017

290,425

-

-

290,425

Balance - March 31, 2018

290,425

-

-

290,425

11 Demand loans
2018
$
Prime minus .1% demand loan, due on demand, interest paid
monthly
Prime minus .1% demand loan, due on demand, interest paid
monthly
Prime minus .1% demand loan, due on demand, interest paid
monthly

(17)

2017
$

2,631,601

2,631,601

105,000

105,000

3,194,466

-

5,931,067

2,736,601
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March 31, 2018

12 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
2018
$
Trade payables
Property taxes payable
HST payable
Other

2017
$

410,229
666,614
53,381
427,886

234,017
449,638
86,543
956,038

1,558,110

1,726,236

13 Long-term debt
2018
$
Debentures
2.6% term loan, due May 1, 2018, repayable in monthly
installments of $2,407 including principal and interest
6.64% debenture, due October 1, 2019, repayable in monthly
instalments of $31,610 including principal and interest
Mortgages payable
2.92% mortgage, due June 2020, repayable in monthly instalments of
$18,568, including principal and interest
2.95% mortgage, due February 2022, repayable in monthly
instalments of $21,578, including principal and interest
2.92% mortgage, due April 2023, repayable in monthly instalments
of $16,518 including principal and interest
3.11% mortgage, due April 2023, repayable in monthly instalments
of $9,410 including principal and interest
4.18% mortgage, due November 2027, repayable in monthly
instalments of $6,092, including principal and interest
4.57% mortgage, repaid during the year
Less: Current portion

(18)

2017
$

363,252

382,412

568,616

898,211

3,632,956

3,747,857

3,204,387

3,366,038

2,426,534

2,551,904

1,364,004

1,433,331

581,524
-

629,447
3,299,361

12,141,273
1,250,743

16,308,561
4,530,547

10,890,530

11,778,014
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March 31, 2018
The aggregate amount of principal repayments required in each of the next five years to meet retirement
provisions are as follows:
$

1,250,743
768,453
3,836,604
2,965,757
284,961

Year ending March 31, 2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Security on long-term debt and demand loans


The 6.64% debenture is unsecured. These loans are payable to the majority shareholder.



The 2.6% term loan and the 2.95%, 4.18%, 2.92% and 3.11% mortgages and the demand loans are
secured by a general security agreement representing a first charge on all assets, continuing collateral
mortgages representing a first charge on all real property known as Harbourside Complex and an
undertaking not to encumber or mortgage the property at 119 Euston Street, assignment of mortgage
receivable and fire insurance for Harbourside Complex, and general assignment of rents representing a
first charge on rents on the Harbourside Complex.

Covenants
The company's debt agreement contains certain restrictive covenants which require the maintenance of a
specific ratio. As at March 31, 2018, the consolidated entity was able to maintain a total debt service ratio of
100%, and is therefore in compliance with the covenant.

14 Deferred credits
Accumulated
depreciation
$

Cost
$
Harbourside Complex
Peakes Wharf
Founders' Hall
CGI Building
Invesco Building
Convention Centre
Biocommons
Concert site

2018

2017

Net
$

Net
$

117,500
619,428
4,124,499
4,625,000
27,119,979
2,000,000
2,553,220

10,316
333,999
1,353,984
1,137,292
1,472,966
140,305
800,414

107,184
285,429
2,770,515
3,487,708
25,647,013
1,859,695
1,752,806

47,285
297,956
328,300
2,863,918
3,590,571
25,974,894
1,885,205
1,878,534

41,159,626

5,249,276

35,910,350

36,866,663

During the year, $62,000 (2017 - $93,174) in deferred credit additions was the result of receiving a
government grant to fund an ongoing project by The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
(19)
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15 Capital stock
Authorized
5,000 common shares of the par value of $1 each

2018
$
Issued
2,500 common shares

2,500

2017
$
2,500

16 Pension
Employees, who are members, contribute a minimum of 5% of earnings to a defined contribution pension
plan. The company matches 100% of the minimum contribution. Pension expense for the year was $41,889
(2017 - $51,026).

17 Related party transactions
Related parties
The Province of Prince Edward Island is the majority shareholder of The Charlottetown Area Development
Corporation and the City of Charlottetown and the Town of Stratford are minority shareholders.
Balances
Included in accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are the following amounts due to
and from related parties:
2018
2017
$
$
Accounts receivable
Due from the City of Charlottetown
Due from the Province of Prince Edward Island
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to the City of Charlottetown
Due to Province of Prince Edward Island
Deferred revenue
Province of Prince Edward Island

(20)

153,646
382,204

252,210
182,997

46,671
41,962

375,368
21,966

636,656

733,352
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Transactions
During the year, the Corporation received $679,015 (2017 - $640,214) from the Province of Prince Edward
Island for commercial rental revenue recorded in Harbourside Complex and $124,550 (2017 - $123,198) from
a provincial Crown corporation recorded as rental revenue in Biocommons. In addition, the Corporation
reported $96,696 (2017 - $96,646) in commercial rental revenue in Harbourside Complex for deferred
revenue from the Province of Prince Edward Island being recognized in the fiscal period.
During the year, the Corporation expensed interest on long-term debt of $49,730 (2017 - $70,848) paid to the
Province of Prince Edward Island on the 6.64% debenture.

18 Composition of key management
Key management includes the general manager, assistant general manager and controller. Compensation
awarded to key management included:
(a) Key management, excluding directors

Salaries and short-term employee benefits

2018
$

2017
$

292,295

312,556

2018
$

2017
$

16,068

48,150

(b) Directors' remuneration

Honorariums

19 Risk management
The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation’s principal business activities result in a Statement of
Financial Position that exposes it to a variety of financial risks. The principal financial risks that arise from
transacting financial instruments include credit, liquidity, market and operational risk. Authority for all risktaking activities rests with the Board of Directors (Board), which approves risk management policies,
delegates limits and regularly reviews management’s risk assessments and compliance with approved policies.
Qualified professionals throughout The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation manage these risks
through comprehensive and integrated control processes, including regular review and assessment of risk
measurement and reporting processes.

(21)
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(a)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation if a
member or counterparty of a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk
arises primarily from The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation’s investment in leases.
Credit risk also arises from the possibility that tenants may experience financial difficulty and be
unable to fulfil their lease term commitments. The company mitigates this risk of credit loss through
diversification of it existing portfolio and limiting its exposure to any one tenant. Credit assessments
are conducted with respect to all new leasing and the company also obtains a security deposit to assist
in potential recovery requirements. The receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and
the company establishes an appropriate provision for doubtful accounts.
Credit risk is the single largest risk for The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation’s business;
management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. Oversight for the credit risk
management and control is done by management who reports to the Board.

The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance
sheet date in relation to each class of recognized financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets
indicated in the statement of financial position. The maximum credit exposure does not take into
account the value of any collateral or other security held, in the event other entities or parties fail to
perform their obligations under the financial instruments in question. The principal collateral and
other credit enhancements The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation holds as security for
loans include (i) insurance and mortgages over residential lots and properties, and (ii) recourse to
liquid assets, guarantees and rents. The value of collateral held against individual exposures is
generally only assessed at the time of borrowing or when a specific review of that exposure is
undertaken in accordance with policy.
The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date was:
2018
2017
$
$
Cash and equivalents
Accounts receivable
Investment in leases

6,145,800
681,501
937,860

3,052,727
401,922
1,285,998

7,765,161

4,740,647

Cash and equivalents have low credit risk exposure as these assets are cash and deposits at chartered
banks and high quality investments with low risk counterparties. The Charlottetown Area
Development Corporation reviews the member’s capacity to repay the receivables rather than relying
exclusively on collateral, although it is an important component in establishing risk. See note 2(f) ii)
for further disclosure of credit risk on loans and receivables.

(22)
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(b)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities as they come due.

The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that
it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to The Charlottetown Area
Development Corporation’s reputation.
Exposure to liquidity risk:
For this purpose, liquid assets are financial assets that are readily saleable or expected to generate
cash inflows to meet cash outflows on financial liabilities. Consequently, cash inflows by remaining
maturities are as follows:
Under 1
year
$
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Investment in leases

Over 1 to
5 years
$

2018
Total
$

6,145,800
681,501
721,689

216,172

-

6,145,800
681,501
937,861

7,548,990

216,172

-

7,765,162

Under 1
year
$
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Investment in leases

Over
5 years
$

Over 1 to
5 years
$

Over
5 years
$

2017
Total
$

3,052,727
401,922
348,137

937,861

-

3,052,727
401,922
1,285,998

3,802,786

937,861

-

4,740,647

(23)
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Cash flows payable under financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities are as follows:
Under 1
year
$
Demand loans
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Long-term debt

Over 1 to
5 years
$

March 31,
2018
Total
$

5,931,067

-

-

5,931,067

1,558,110
1,250,743

7,855,775

3,034,755

1,558,110
12,141,273

8,739,920

7,855,775

3,034,755

19,630,450

Under 1
year
$
Demand loans
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Long-term debt

Over
5 years
$

Over 1 to
5 years
$

Over
5 years
$

March 31,
2017
Total
$

2,736,601

-

-

2,736,601

1,726,236
4,530,547

6,631,241

9,677,576

1,726,236
20,839,364

8,993,384

6,631,241

9,677,576

25,302,201

(c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk of exposure to changes to financial prices affecting the value of positions held by
The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation as part of its normal trading activities. As The
Charlottetown Area Development Corporation does not deal in foreign exchange contracts or
commodities, market risk consists solely of interest rate risk. The objective of market rate risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimizing the return on risk.
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The borrowings of the company have fixed and floating rate
interest components resulting in an exposure to interest rate movements. The company’s debt consists of
$12,141,273 (2017 - $16,308,561) in fixed rate debt and $5,931,067 (2017 - $2,736,601) in floating rate
debt which is all in demand loans repayable in less than one year. The company has entered into interest
rate swaps in order to manage the fluctuating interest rates on $10,991,133 (2017 - $14,780,903) of its
debt. The swap contracts have an effective interest rate range of 2.6% to 3.11% and have maturity dates
ranging from May 2018 until April 2023.

(24)
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The following table provides the potential impact of an immediate and sustained 1% increase or decrease
in interest rates on net interest expense, assuming no further hedging is undertaken. These measures are
based on assumptions made by management. All interest rate risk measures are based upon interest rate
exposures at a specific time and continuously change as a result of business activities and The
Charlottetown Area Development Corporation’s management initiatives.
Net interest
expense
2018
$

59,311

1% increase or decrease in interest rates

Net interest
expense
2017
$

27,366

(d) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with
The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure,
and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and
regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.

The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to
balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to The Charlottetown Area Development
Corporation’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict
initiative and creativity. The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls
to address operational risk is assigned to senior management.
(e) Capital management
The primary objective of The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation's capital management is to
ensure that it maintains a healthy financial position in order to support its business. The Charlottetown
Area Development Corporation manages its capital structure and makes changes to it in light of changes
in economic conditions.
Subsequent to March 31, 2018, the The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation entered into an
agreement with the bank to refinance $4,443,452 of one of the debentures payable when it came due in
May 2013.

(25)
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Schedule 1
2018
$

2017
$

1,574,095
907,806

1,522,073
870,062

2,481,901

2,392,135

78,112
67,679
152,699
271,218
96,811
27,456
417,949
141,340
3,183
1,969
24,613
4,364
196,330

83,741
115,702
146,998
254,529
129,245
41,232
414,111
224,744
9,942
4,370
22,019
3,209
191,143

1,483,723

1,640,985

998,178

751,150

Revenue
Rental - commercial (note 17)
- residential

Expenses
Cleaning
Common area
Electricity
Fuel
Heating system
Insurance
Property taxes
Repairs and maintenance
Snow removal
Supplies and miscellaneous
Water
Deblois property expenses
Depreciation

Net revenue

(26)
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Schedule 2
2018
$

Revenue
Rent - commercial
Monthly parking

Expenses
Cleaning
Electricity
Heating system
Insurance
Interest on long-term debt
Property taxes
Repairs and maintenance
Snow removal
Telephone
Water
Depreciation
Depreciation of deferred credits

Net revenue

(27)

2017
$

1,083,011
63,600

1,082,734
62,805

1,146,611

1,145,539

103,141
194,972
58,248
5,448
204,964
143,612
39,019
9,618
2,523
3,453
247,705
(102,863)

103,827
215,127
42,769
6,888
211,424
114,645
22,978
13,540
2,420
1,819
247,501
(102,865)

909,840

880,073

236,771

265,466
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Schedule 3
2018
$

Revenue
Rent - commercial
Expenses
Electricity
Fuel
Heating system
Insurance
Property taxes
Repairs and maintenance
Supplies and miscellaneous
Telephone
Water
Depreciation
Depreciation of deferred credits

Net expense

14,116

151,994

1,716
2,546
1,305
1,028
4,144
2,413
1,238
375
-

27,096
30,001
10,103
5,492
55,628
41,315
303
3,624
1,989
97,401
(20,000)

14,765

252,952

(649)

(28)

2017
$

(100,958)
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Schedule 4
2018
$

Revenue
Base rent
Percentage rent
Parking lot

Expenses
Insurance
Operating, repairs and maintenance
Parking lot
Promotion
Property tax
Depreciation
Depreciation of deferred credits

Net revenue

(29)

2017
$

65,023
55,486
134,006

65,017
61,008
123,737

254,515

249,762

1,680
18,063
23,935
2,500
21,681
80,118
(14,624)

2,424
33,228
29,235
2,500
20,336
74,327
(13,388)

133,353

148,662

121,162

101,100
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Schedule 5
2018
$

2017
$

Revenue
Rent - commercial

464,840

266,406

Expenses
Cleaning
Insurance
Interest on long-term debt
Electricity
Property taxes
Repairs and maintenance
Snow removal
Water
Depreciation
Depreciation of leasehold inducements
Depreciation of deferred credits

52,687
2,580
24,925
101,614
46,678
31,011
7,973
1,888
107,804
(93,408)

27,993
3,480
27,098
66,828
46,324
18,717
8,003
1,731
107,804
34,829
(93,403)

283,752

249,404

181,088

17,002

Net revenue

(30)
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Schedule 6
2018
$

2017
$

Revenue
Rent - commercial (note 17)

504,464

511,030

Expenses
Common area
Electricity
Fuel
Insurance
Interest on long-term debt
Property taxes
Repairs and maintenance
Snow removal
Water
Heating system
Depreciation
Depreciation of deferred credits

590
11,915
53,127
4,728
73,165
70,492
7,005
8,010
21,545
62,330
(25,510)

1,155
12,152
48,713
6,900
75,954
70,113
3,582
9,063
12,013
778
62,295
(25,510)

287,397

277,208

217,067

233,822

Net revenue

(31)
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Schedule 7
2018
$

Revenue
Rent
Expenses
Interest on long-term debt
Interest and bank charges
Insurance
Advertising
Property taxes
Supplies
Telephone
Repairs and maintenance
Snow removal
Water
Fuel
Electricity
Depreciation of deferred credits
Depreciation

Net expense

(32)

2017
$

21,980

16,237

43,768
2,020
4,104
7,860
2,988
7,686
830
3,680
1,253
7,211
(122,887)
128,191

45,771
2,864
628
2,454
10,529
215
2,937
9,549
1,260
6,101
1,266
6,050
(184,159)
188,287

86,704

93,752

(64,724)

(77,515)
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The Charlottetown Area Development Corporation
Consolidated Schedule of Convention Centre Revenue and Expenses
For the year ended March 31, 2018

Schedule 8
2018
$

Revenue
Recovery of expenses
Decrease in recovery from prior years (note)

Expenses
Property tax (recovery)
Depreciation of deferred credits
Depreciation

Net revenue

2017
$

266,711
-

54,849
(617,871)

266,711

(563,022)

266,711
(327,881)
326,961

(563,746)
(327,881)
327,177

265,791

(564,450)

920

1,428

From 2013 to 2016, the Convention Centre was originally assessed at approximately $13,300,000 for property
taxes. In July 2016, the property tax assessed value was reassessed to $5,445,000 for the 2013 to 2016 years. This
reassessment resulted in a property tax recovery recorded in expenses for the year ended March 31, 2017. The
reduction in property tax expense results in a decrease in recovery revenue recorded in prior years.

(33)
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Management's Report
The integrity, relevance and comparability of the data in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
are the responsibility of management.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada. A summary of the significant accounting policies is disclosed in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. The preparation of consolidated financial statements necessarily involves
the use of estimates based on management's judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current
period cannot be finalized with a certainty until future periods.
To meet its responsibility, management maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in compliance with
legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is available on a timely basis for
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. These systems are monitored and evaluated by
management.
Management is accountable to the Board of Directors of Finance PEI on matters of financial reporting and
internal controls. Management provides the Board with internal consolidated financial statements on a
monthly basis and externally audited consolidated financial statements annually. The Board also discusses any
significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to their approval of the consolidated financial
statements.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by ArsenaultBestCameronEllis, independent external
auditors appointed by the Corporation. The accompanying Independent Auditor's Report outlines their
responsibilities, the scope of their examination and their opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
On behalf of Finance PEI
___________________________________
Jamie Aiken, CPA, CA
Chief Executive Officer of Finance PEI

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

June 12, 2018
Independent Auditor's Report
To the Board of Directors of
Finance PEI
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Finance PEI, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the consolidated statements of
operations, accumulated surplus, changes in net debt and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of Finance PEI as at March 31, 2018, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants

(1)
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Finance PEI
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2018
2018
$

2017
$

Assets
Financial assets
Cash
Accounts receivable (notes 2 and 11)
Loans receivable (notes 3 and 11)
Advances to related companies (note 11)
Due from the Province of Prince Edward Island (note 11)
Investment in private companies (note 4)

1,346,939
674,354
170,262,680
163,150
11,163,650
120,001

1,038,614
932,265
166,362,914
39,292
11,163,650
120,001

183,730,774

179,656,736

1,586,738
1,262,893
14,578,417
19,695,142
148,767,362

1,584,298
1,266,236
13,909,214
20,558,618
146,669,074

185,890,552

183,987,440

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 11)
Deferred revenue
Advances from related companies (note 11)
Short-term notes payable (note 5)
Long-term debt (note 6)

Net debt

(2,159,778)

(4,330,704)

111,348
646,053
312,727
30,486,228

109,350
670,896
600,260
29,203,215

31,556,356

30,583,721

29,396,578

26,253,017

Contingent liabilities (note 9)

Non-financial assets
Prepaid expenses
Net investment in lease (note 7)
Foreclosed properties (note 8)
Property holdings (notes 6 and 11) (Schedule 2)

Accumulated surplus

Approved by the Board of Directors
_____________________________ Director

_____________________________ Director
(2)

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

41

Finance PEI
Consolidated Statement of Accumulated Surplus
For the year ended March 31, 2018
2018
$

Accumulated surplus - Beginning of year
Operating surplus

Accumulated surplus - End of year

(3)

2017
$

26,253,017

24,217,074

3,143,561

2,035,943

29,396,578

26,253,017
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Finance PEI
Consolidated Statement of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2018
Budget
(Unaudited)
$

Actual
2018
$

Actual
2017
$

Revenue
Interest from borrowers
Interest from deposits
Property operations (note 11)
Post-receivership income
Management fees (note 11)
Gain on disposal of property holdings
Miscellaneous

Expenses (notes 6 and 11) (Schedule 1)
Administration (note 1)
Lending operations
Property operations (note 1)
Provision for (recovery of) possible losses

9,320,000
30,000
4,135,000
500,000
125,000

9,133,100
32,166
4,298,621
1,390
500,000
126,697

8,767,874
36,146
4,605,126
1,648
500,000
58,261
112,305

14,110,000

14,091,974

14,081,360

608,700
5,165,300
4,832,200
1,700,000

Operating surplus

(4)

665,095
5,030,579
5,262,960
(10,221)

644,966
5,230,349
4,990,454
1,179,648

12,306,200

10,948,413

12,045,417

1,803,800

3,143,561

2,035,943
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Finance PEI
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt
For the year ended March 31, 2018
2018
$

Annual surplus

2017
$

3,143,561

2,035,943

(4,027,989)
1,360,794
31,380
1,352,802
(2,064,881)
2,039,243
313,171
-

(2,684,748)
1,400,634
(58,261)
107,837
(2,851,841)
1,995,792
268,613
130,994

(995,480)

(1,690,980)

Increase in prepaid expenses

(1,998)

(741)

Change in net investment in lease

24,843

Acquisition of property holdings
Amortization of property holdings
Loss (gain) on disposal of property holdings
Proceeds on disposal of property holdings
Transfer to foreclosed properties
Transfer of provision to foreclosed properties
Payments received on foreclosed properties
Disposal of foreclosed properties

(972,635)

Decrease in net debt

2,170,926

23,944
(1,667,777)
368,166

Net debt - Beginning of year

(4,330,704)

(4,698,870)

Net debt - End of year

(2,159,778)

(4,330,704)

(5)
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Finance PEI
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2018
2018
$

2017
$

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Operating surplus
Items not affecting cash
Amortization
Change in net investment in lease
Provision for (recovery of) possible losses
Gain on disposal of property holdings

Net change in non-cash working capital items
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
Increase in prepaid expenses
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Decrease in deferred revenue

3,143,561

2,035,943

1,360,794
24,843
(10,221)
31,380

1,400,634
23,944
1,179,648
(58,261)

4,550,357

4,581,908

257,911
(1,998)
2,440
(3,343)

(372,508)
(741)
183,789
(275)

4,805,367

4,392,173

669,203
(123,858)
(863,476)
16,200,000
(14,101,712)

492,223
31,855
5,112,242
(90,870)
16,700,000
(26,756,749)

1,780,157

(4,511,299)

(3,889,545)
(4,027,989)
1,352,802
(2,064,881)
313,171
2,039,243

1,393,685
130,000
(2,684,748)
107,837
(2,851,841)
130,994
268,613
1,995,792

(6,277,199)

(1,509,668)

Financing activities
Increase in advances from related companies
Decrease (increase) in advances to related companies
Increase in short-term notes payable
Repayment of short-term notes payable
Increase in long-term debt
Repayment on long-term debt

Investing activities
Decrease (increase) in loans receivable
Decrease in investment in private companies
Additions to and purchases of property holdings
Reductions and proceeds on disposal of property holdings
Additions to foreclosed properties
Disposal of foreclosed properties
Payments received on foreclosed properties
Decrease in foreclosed properties

Change in cash

308,325

(1,628,794)

Cash - Beginning of year

1,038,614

2,667,408

Cash - End of year

1,346,939

1,038,614

(6)
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Finance PEI
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

1

Summary of significant accounting policies
The financial statements of the corporation have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of CPA Canada. The following is a
summary of significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these statements:
a) General
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the wholly-owned subsidiaries, Atlantic
Technology Centre Inc., P.E.I. Infrastructure Inc. and 100417 P.E.I. Inc., all having March 31, 2018 year
ends.
b) Financial instruments
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured
at cost or amortized cost.
c) Cash
Cash is comprised of cash on hand and cash in banks and is recorded at cost.
d) Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable arise from tenant rents, trade sales, staff advance and Harmonized Sales Tax
receivable. An allowance for doubtful accounts has been calculated through discussions with
management, assessment of the other circumstances influencing the collectibility of amounts, and using
historical loss experience. Amounts deemed uncollectible are written off and deducted from the carrying
value of the receivable. Amounts subsequently recovered from accounts previously written off are
credited to the allowance account in the period of recovery.
e) Loans receivable
Loans are recorded at amortized cost less an allowance for possible losses.
An impaired loan is a loan where in management’s opinion there is no longer reasonable assurance as to
the timely collection of the full amount of principal and interest. Allowances for possible losses are
calculated on loans receivable as outlined in note 1j).
f) Due from Province of Prince Edward Island
The amount due from Province of Prince Edward Island is funding receivable related to the allowance for
possible credit losses. The due from the Province of Prince Edward Island is reduced when a write-off is
recognized by Finance PEI and the Province with notes payable reduced correspondingly. This amount is
also reduced by any payment received from the Province on payment by the Corporation to satisfy
guarantees.

( 7)
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Finance PEI
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
g) Investments in private companies
Investment in private companies, except for two preferred share investments not considered to be
concessionary, are recorded at one-half of cost. An expense of 50% was charged to development programs
when the funds were invested. The remaining cost is reduced by any applicable allowance for possible
losses. Any recovery exceeding the balance in share investment is taken into revenue when received.
The two investments in preferred shares of private companies that are not being carried at one-half of their
cost are being carried at the lower of cost and estimated realizable value.
Investment in private companies are reviewed annually for potential declines in value and are written down
or an allowance is recorded if a decline in value is considered evident. Write downs are included in
lending operations expense.
It is not practical within the constraints of timeliness and cost to determine the fair market value of the
investment in private companies as these investments are in closely held private companies that have no
organized financial market. The estimated realizable value of these investments is based on expected
future cash flows.
h) Property holdings, foreclosed properties and amortization
i)

Property holdings
Property holdings are reported at the lower of cost and estimated realizable value. Property holdings
are amortized using the straight-line method at the following annual rates:
Land improvements
Leasehold improvements
Buildings
Equipment

10%
7%
14 - 30 years
20%, 33% and 100%

Proceeds on the sale of land included in industrial sites is recorded as a reduction in the carrying value
of the asset.
Included in property operations expense is amortization of $1,292,996 (2017 - $1,333,178). Included
in administration expenses is amortization of $67,798 (2017 - $67,456).
ii)

Foreclosed properties
Foreclosed properties are carried at the lower of cost of the impaired asset prior to realization of the
related security and the underlying estimated realizable value of the security.
Reductions from the carrying value of the impaired asset to estimated realizable value is recorded as a
provision for possible losses.

( 8)
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Finance PEI
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
iii) Fair value
Fair value for land, buildings and equipment held for resale or under lease purchase options and
industrial malls, is its property tax assessed value. Fair value for industrial sites is the expected
proceeds on resale. Fair value for the test cells is the net cost to construct the assets supported by
payments under a long-term lease agreement. If property and equipment carrying value should exceed
fair value, additional amortization or a writedown is provided.
i) Net investment in lease
Net investment in lease represents the net present value of the minimum lease payments receivable over
the term of the lease plus the purchase option for leases with a deferred purchase option.
j) Allowance for possible losses
An allowance for possible losses is maintained which is considered adequate to absorb all credit and
investment related losses of financial position items including guarantees. The allowance is deducted from
the applicable asset on the statement of financial position, except for guarantees. The allowance for
guarantees is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
The allowance consists of specific and general provisions.
Specific provisions include the accumulated allowances for losses on particular assets required to reduce
the book values to estimated realizable amounts. Specific provisions for loans receivable, accounts
receivable, investments in private companies and foreclosed properties total $25,625,322 (2017 $25,770,413).
The Corporation does not accrue interest on a loan receivable once a specific provision has been recorded
against the loan.
The Corporation reviews its loans portfolio, investments and advances, foreclosed properties and property
holdings and guarantees on an ongoing basis to assess whether an allowance is required.
A variety of methods are used to determine the amount expected to be recovered from investments in and
advances to private companies and property holdings, including estimated future cash flows and the
estimated fair value of the underlying security and value of any collateral security taken.
A general provision of $13,239,608 (2017 - $13,666,577) includes accumulated allowances for losses
which are prudential in nature and are not specifically identified. The general provision is based on past
performance of similar assets, the level of the specific provision, management's judgment, the economic
climate and the maturity and financial strength of the investee.
k) Employee pension plan
The Corporation's staff are members of the Province of Prince Edward Island pension plan. The pension
plan obligation is a liability of the Province and not Finance PEI and no liability for these costs has been
accrued by the Corporation at March 31, 2018.

(9)
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Finance PEI
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
l) Post retirement benefits
The Corporation provides retirement benefits to eligible employees. The benefit is based on one week's
salary per year of service to a maximum of 26 weeks and is expensed on an accrual basis.
m) Deferred revenue
Contributions received and not expended on land purchases and grants to finance infrastructure costs and
contributions to occupants of the Biocommons park are recorded as deferred revenue.
n) Revenue recognition
Interest on loans from borrowers is recognized as revenue in the period earned except where a loan is
classified as impaired. Interest earned on an impaired loan is recognized as revenue only when it has been
received.
Revenue from property operations are recorded when collection is reasonably assured and all other
significant conditions of service are met.
Revenue from service fees, post-receivership income, management fees and miscellaneous income are
recorded when earned and collection is reasonably assured.
Government contributions and interest from deposits are recorded in the period earned.
o) Government transfers
Government transfers are the transfer of assets from senior levels of government that are not the result of
an exchange transaction, are not expected to be repaid in the future, or the result of a direct financial
return. Government transfers are recognized in the financial statements as revenue in the period in which
events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have
been met, and reasonable estimates on the amounts can be determined.
p) Management estimates
The presentation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector standards requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenditures during the year. Actual results could differ from the following estimates:





The amount recorded regarding the allowance for possible credit losses is subject to management's
assessment of the performance of the company's loans receivable, investments and accounts
receivable as well as the valuation of the assets placed as security;
The amount recorded for amortization of property holdings on the statement of operations is subject
to management's assessment of the estimated useful life of the company's property holdings; and
The recognized amounts of potential claims and liabilities depend on management's assessment of
future costs and the probability these events will occur.

(10)
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Finance PEI
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

2

Accounts receivable
The accounts receivable have been reduced by an allowance for possible losses of $700,518 (2017 $608,232).

3

Loans receivable
2018
Allowance
for
possible
losses
General
$

Allowance
for
possible
losses
Specific
$

3,406,650
2,194,290
2,386,340
1,252,750
2,418,430

1,400,000
166,071
360,851
666,649

1,401,097
67,379
93,000

605,553
2,028,219
1,958,110
1,252,750
1,658,781

411,109
1,855,956
1,518,866
1,011,417
1,642,069

11,658,460

2,593,571

1,561,476

7,503,413

6,439,417

24,687,300
30,345,591
27,226,038
87,113,052
20,365,236
128,836

2,409,381
589,890
2,324,461
4,025,000
1,297,305
-

4,350,733
8,550,000
335,698
1,677,469
1,707,685
-

17,927,186
21,205,701
24,565,879
81,410,583
17,360,246
128,836

17,378,597
20,602,487
25,708,896
77,833,757
17,853,987
276,695

189,866,053

10,646,037

16,621,585

162,598,431

159,654,419

160,836

-

-

160,836

269,078

201,685,349

13,239,608

18,183,061

170,262,680

166,362,914

Total
$
Working capital loans
Agriculture
Tourism
Manufacturing and processing
Fisheries
Small business

Long-term loans
Agriculture
Tourism
Manufacturing and processing
Fisheries and aquaculture
Small business
Eco energy

Accrued interest

2017

Net
$

Net
$

Working capital loans are repayable over various terms to a maximum of 5 years with interest rates ranging
from 4.45% to 7.95%.
Long-term loans are repayable over various terms to a maximum of 10 years with interest rates ranging from
4.00% to 8.11%.
Security for working capital loans and long-term loans consists of promissory notes, land, building, inventory
and personal guarantees from the borrowers.

(11)
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Finance PEI
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
Continuity of allowance for possible losses

4

2018
$

2017
$

Allowance for possible losses - Beginning of year
Less: Loans written off
Add: Provision recorded during year
Less: Transferred to foreclosed properties
Less: Recoveries during year

34,278,736
(795,067)
2,191,583
(2,129,795)
(2,122,788)

37,103,290
(1,946,448)
5,011,259
(2,006,050)
(3,883,315)

Allowance for possible losses - End of year

31,422,669

34,278,736

Investment in private companies

Investment in private companies
Small Business and Venture Capital Equity Program investments
Less: Allowance for possible losses

2018
$

2017
$

438,910
(438,910)

438,910
(438,910)

Investment in preferred shares of private companies
Less: Allowance for possible losses

-

332,812
(212,811)

422,812
(302,811)

120,001

120,001

120,001

120,001

Continuity of allowance for possible losses
2018
$

2017
$

Allowance for possible losses - Beginning of year
Less: Recovery during the year

741,721
(90,000)

841,721
(100,000)

Allowance for possible losses - End of year

651,721

741,721

(12)
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Finance PEI
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

5

Short-term notes payable
2018
$
Demand note payable to Island Investment Development Inc.
Demand notes payable to Province of Prince Edward Island

2017
$

6,998,502
12,696,640

6,998,502
13,560,116

19,695,142

20,558,618

The demand notes payable to Island Investment Development Inc. includes a $15,000,000 available operating
line of credit with an outstanding balance at March 31, 2018 of $6,998,502 (2017 - $6,998,502).
The demand note to Island Investment Development Inc. is secured by a promissory note for $15,000,000 and
a revolving credit agreement. The demand notes to Province of Prince Edward Island are unsecured.
Interest paid by Finance PEI is included in the expenditure category to which it relates. Included is interest
for 2018 in the amount of $214,528 (2017 - $155,740).
Demand notes payable are issued by the Province of Prince Edward Island and Island Investment
Development Inc. with interest set monthly based on the Province's short-term lending rate in existence at the
first day of the month. These notes are renewed on an ongoing basis with interest payable monthly.

(13)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

6

Long-term debt
2018
$
4.00% note payable to Island Investment Development Inc., no
specific repayment terms
4.00% note payable to Island Investment Development Inc., no
specific repayment terms
4.00% note payable to Island Investment Development Inc., due
April 2018, repayable $8,165 monthly including
principal and interest
6.01% note payable, due December 2024, repayable $88,025
monthly including principal and interest
5.54% note payable, due December 2024, repayable $7,969
monthly including principal and interest
3.46% note payable to Province of Prince Edward Island, due
March 31, 2031, repayable in $32,366 quarterly
payments including principal and interest
3.23% note payable to Province of Prince Edward Island, due
June 1, 2032, repayable in $342,453 annual payments
including principal and interest
2.31% note payable to Province of Prince Edward Island, due
August 22, 2032, repayable in $260,127 quarterly
payments including principal and interest
Notes payable to Province of Prince Edward Island with interest
rates from 1.65% to 3.45%, maturing at various dates
between 2018 and 2023
6.62% Bank of Nova Scotia mortgage, repaid during the year

2017
$

556,846

556,846

1,430,499

1,430,499

1,089,478

1,143,376

5,862,874

6,548,886

538,614

602,824

1,350,806

1,431,774

4,020,986

-

4,435,002

-

129,482,257
-

129,913,202
5,041,667

148,767,362

146,669,074

Island Investment Development Inc. is a provincial Crown corporation. The repayment terms of the $556,846
and $1,430,499 loans are to be determined at a future date.
The 6.01% and 5.54% notes payable are secured by a general security agreement covering certain property
holdings with a net book value of nil.
All other notes payable are unsecured.

(14)

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

53

Finance PEI
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
The aggregate amount of principal payments estimated to be required in each of the next five years to meet
retirement provisions is as follows:
$
Year ending March 31, 2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

31,756,586
39,566,753
23,010,063
25,788,168
22,159,617

Interest paid by Finance PEI and its subsidiaries in the amount of $3,570,992 (2017 - $3,923,730) is included
in the expenditure category to which it relates.

7

Net investment in lease
Net investment in lease representing the purchase option receivable from a lessee, due December 2035.
The net investment in this lease is recorded at the net present value of the total lease payments using a
discount rate of 3.75%, calculated as follows:
2018
$
Total of lease payments to be received to December 2035
Less: Portion representing interest at 3.75%
Net present value of net investment in lease

8

2017
$

900,030
(253,977)

950,030
(279,134)

646,053

670,896

Foreclosed properties

Foreclosed projects - land, buildings and equipment held for
resale
Less: Allowance for possible losses

2018
$

2017
$

6,312,309
(5,999,582)

4,560,599
(3,960,339)

312,727

(15)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
Continuity of allowance for possible losses
2018
$

9

2017
$

Allowance for possible losses - Beginning of year

3,960,339

1,964,547

Add: Provision recorded during the year
Add: Transferred from loans receivable
Less: Recovery during the year

21,476
2,129,795
(112,028)

89,000
2,006,050
(99,258)

Allowance for possible losses - End of year

5,999,582

3,960,339

Contingent liabilities
a)

A counterclaim has been commenced against the Corporation in response to an action for a deficiency
remaining after realization on collateral held by the P.E.I. Lending Agency. The claimant has not
provided any details as to the nature and extent of damages or loss for which they seek compensation.
There is no liability recorded in these financial statements as it is management's opinion that no liability
is likely to arise as a result of this counterclaim. The counterclaim has been ongoing since 1996.

b)

The Corporation is contingently liable under loan guarantees at March 31 as follows:

2018
$
-

Loan guarantees

2017
$
8,250

The Corporation is also contingently liable under entrepreneur loan program guarantees of $11,335.
The guarantees are secured by various assets and proceeds from liquidation are expected to cover the net
carrying amount of the guarantees.
There is no provision for possible losses included in the financial statements for the guarantees.

10 Commitments
Loans approved but not disbursed at March 31, 2018 total $6,803,849 (2017 - $6,336,106).

(16)
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March 31, 2018

11 Related party account balances and transactions
Related parties
The related companies are provincial Crown corporations or subsidiaries of provincial Crown corporations.
Statement of Financial Position

2018
$
Advances to related companies:
Biocommons Development Inc.
Island Investment Development Inc.

Advances from related companies:
Innovation PEI
Island Investment Development Inc.
Prince Edward Island Century 2000 Fund Inc.

2017
$

39,292
123,858

39,292
-

163,150

39,292

11,146,934
3,431,483

11,064,367
210,909
2,633,938

14,578,417

13,909,214

The advances to/from related companies and due from the Province of Prince Edward Island, are non-interest
bearing and have no specific terms of repayment. Innovation PEI and Island Investment Development Inc. are
provincial Crown corporations. Prince Edward Island Century 2000 Fund Inc. is a subsidiary of a provincial
Crown corporation. Biocommons Development Inc. is a non-profit company with a similar Board of
Directors as P.E.I. Infrastructure Inc.'s Board of Directors.
Included in accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are the following amounts due
from/due to related parties:
2018
2017
$
$
Accounts receivable:
Due from Province of Prince Edward Island

147,039

147,468

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Due to Province of Prince Edward Island
Due to related companies

154,437
747,707

131,769
665,240

902,144

797,009

(17)
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Finance PEI
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
Property holdings
The Province of Prince Edward Island conveys land to the Corporation periodically to be used for
development purposes. The exchange and carrying amounts of land when transferred into the Corporation is
nil.
Statement of operations
Included in property operations revenue is $552,004 (2017 - $577,414) from related parties.
During the year, management fees of $500,000 (2017 - $500,000) were received from Island Investment
Development Inc., a provincial Crown corporation.
Included in expenditures is $3,021,653 (2017 - $3,093,825) in interest paid to Province of Prince Edward
Island and $196,872 (2017 - $178,912) in interest paid to Island Investment Development Inc., a provincial
Crown corporation.
The above transactions were recorded in the normal course of operations and measured at exchange amounts.
Other
During the year, a loan receivable in the amount of $1,512,557 was transferred from Prince Edward Island
Century 2000 Fund Inc. to Finance PEI at its carrying amount.
The Corporation rents land for the annual amount of $2,120 plus applicable taxes from Slemon Park
Corporation under a fifty-year lease agreement, effective for the term September 28, 2001 to September 28,
2051.
Slemon Park Corporation is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Island Investment Development Inc.

12 Financial risk management objectives and policies
Finance PEI’s principal business activities result in a statement of financial position that consists primarily of
financial instruments. The principal financial risks that arise from transacting financial instruments include
credit, liquidity, market and operational risk. Authority for all risk-taking activities rests with the Board of
Directors (Board), which approves risk management policies, delegates’ limits and regularly reviews
management’s risk assessments and compliance with approved policies. Qualified professionals throughout
Finance PEI manage these risks through comprehensive and integrated control processes and models,
including regular review and assessment of risk measurement and reporting processes.

(18)
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(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty of a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises primarily from the company’s loans
receivable.
The company's maximum exposure to credit risk at the statement of financial position date in relation to
each class of recognized financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets indicated in the statement
of financial position. The maximum credit exposure does not take into account the value of any
collateral or other security held, in the event other entities/parties fail to perform their obligations under
the financial instruments in question.
The company's maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Accounts receivable
Loans receivable
Advances to related companies
Due from the Province of Prince Edward Island
Investment in subsidiaries and private company
Loan guarantees

(i)

2018
$

2017
$

674,354
170,262,680
163,150
11,163,650
120,001
-

932,265
166,362,914
39,292
11,163,650
120,001
8,250

182,383,835

178,626,372

Loans receivable
For the loans receivable portfolio, the company uses risk modelling that is customer based rather
than product based. The company reviews the borrowers capacity to repay the loan rather than
relying exclusively on collateral, although it is an important component in establishing credit risk.
Typically, collateral consists of capital assets held by the borrower but can extend to working capital
assets such as inventory when warranted. Any shortfall in collateral as compared to the carrying
value of the loan is considered when analyzing the loan for the provision that needs to be applied to
it.

(19)
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Credit is approved by staff and the company’s Board of Directors with loans in excess of $1 million
requiring approval by Treasury Board and loans in excess of $2.5 million requiring approval by
Executive Council. The company factors the financial strength of each borrower, the security
available, their position in industry and past payment history when assessing all potential loans.
A loan is considered past due when a party has not made a payment by the contractual due date.
The following table presents the carrying value of loans that are past due but not classified as
impaired:
0 - 60 days
$
As at:
March 31, 2018
March 31, 2017

60 - 120 days
$

138,918
226,805

211,838
90,108

+120 days
$

6,182,091
4,419,261

Total
$

6,532,847
4,736,174

(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company may not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due. Specifically, the company needs to ensure it has adequate resources to repay all accounts payable
and accrued liabilities, advances from related companies, notes payable and mortgages as they come due.
The company's approach to manage liquidity risk is to closely monitor its cash flows and forecast the
expected receipts and obligations.
The table below analyzes the company's financial liabilities into relevant groupings based on the
remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date.
Under 1
year
$
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Advances from related
companies
Short-term notes payable
Long-term debt

Between
1 - 5 years
$

Over
5 years
$

2018
Total
$

1,586,738

-

-

1,586,738

14,578,417
19,695,142
31,756,586

110,524,601

6,486,175

14,578,417
19,695,142
148,767,362

67,616,883

110,524,601

6,486,175

184,627,659

(20)
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Under 1
year
$
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Advances from related
companies
Short-term notes payable
Long-term debt

Between
1 - 5 years
$

Over
5 years
$

2017
Total
$

1,584,298

-

-

1,584,298

13,909,214
20,558,618
38,830,550

101,952,637

5,885,887

13,909,214
20,558,618
146,669,074

74,882,680

101,952,637

5,885,887

182,721,204

(c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and equity prices will affect
the company’s income or the value of its holdings in financial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimizing the return on risk.
i)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. For the Corporation, mismatches in the
balances of assets, liabilities and off-statement of financial position financial instruments that
mature and reprice in varying reporting periods generate interest rate risk. These mismatches will
arise through the ordinary course of business as the Corporation manages member portfolios of
loans and deposits with changing term preferences and through the strategic positioning of the credit
union to enhance profitability.
The following table provides the potential impact of an immediate and sustained 1% increase or
decrease in interest rates on net interest income, assuming no further hedging is undertaken. These
measures are based on assumptions made by management. All interest rate risk measures are based
upon interest rate exposures at a specific time and continuously change as a result of business
activities and the Corporation’s management initiatives.
Net interest
income
change
$
Impact of
1% increase in interest rates
1% decrease in interest rates

64,446
(64,446)

(21)

Interest
expense
change
$

281,511
(281,511)
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(d) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with
the company’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and
generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.
The company’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses
and damage to the company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures
that restrict initiative and creativity. The primary responsibility for the development and implementation
of controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior management.
(e) Capital management
The primary objective of Finance PEI's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a healthy
financial position in order to support its business. Finance PEI manages its capital structure and makes
changes to it in light of changes in economic conditions.

(22)

Administration
Lending operations
Property operations
Provision for possible losses

Expenses

Administration
Lending operations
Property operations
Provision for possible losses

Expenses

For the year ended March 31, 2018

332,240
159,966
492,206

2,329,131

(23)

2,416,550

2,416,550
-

Property
Operations
$

Operating
Goods &
Services
$

Salaries
Benefits
$
245,203
1,401,106
682,822
-

3,098,156

474,435

2,041,644

3,098,156
-

Property
Operations
$

346,916
127,519
-

Operating
Goods &
Services
$

250,262
1,227,585
563,797
-

Salaries
Benefits
$

Consolidated Schedule of Expenses by Type

Finance PEI

1,327,427

147,779
1,179,648

Lending
Operations
$

169,747

179,968
(10,221)

Lending
Operations
$

4,079,469

67
3,681,464
397,938
-

Interest
Expense
$

3,803,637

119
3,623,026
180,492
-

Interest
Expense
$

1,400,634

67,456
1,333,178
-

Amortization
$

1,360,794

67,798
1,292,996
-

Amortization
$

12,045,417

644,966
5,230,349
4,990,454
1,179,648

Total
$

2017

10,948,413

665,095
5,030,579
5,262,960
(10,221)

Total
$

2018
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Test cell

Industrial Sites
Land
Land improvements
Leasehold improvements
Building
Equipment

Property holdings held
for resale
Land
Buildings

General
Land
Land improvements
Building

4,027,989

53,383,908

3,982,283

41,406,368

4,937,000

34,867
3,912,069
35,347

-

2,784,302

4,069,575
2,789,802
1,001,339
26,384,487
7,161,165

-

45,706

4,256,238

1,584,302
1,200,000

45,706

Additions
$

981,500
44,765
3,229,973

Beginning
$

As at and for the year ended March 31, 2018

Schedule of Property Holdings

Finance PEI

(4,937,000)

(4,937,000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Disposals
$

(24)

52,474,897

-

45,388,651

4,104,442
2,789,802
1,001,339
30,296,556
7,196,512

2,784,302

1,584,302
1,200,000

4,301,944

981,500
44,765
3,275,679

Disposals/
Ending
$

Cost

24,180,693

3,552,818

19,252,367

2,739,101
297,307
9,071,609
7,144,350

192,000

192,000

1,183,508

44,765
1,138,743

1,360,794

-

1,187,289

6,154
70,094
1,090,072
20,969

48,000

48,000

125,505

125,505

Beginning Amortization
$
$

(3,552,818)

(3,552,818)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Disposals/
adjustments
$

Accumulated amortization

21,988,669

-

20,439,656

2,745,255
367,401
10,161,681
7,165,319

240,000

240,000

1,309,013

44,765
1,264,248

Ending
$

30,486,228

-

24,948,995

4,104,442
44,547
633,938
20,134,875
31,193

2,544,302

1,584,302
960,000

2,992,931

981,500
2,011,431

Net book
value
$

2018

Schedule 2
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Test cell
2,684,748

4,937,000

50,748,736

2,684,748

38,771,196

-

2,784,302
60,336
2,603,782
20,630

-

Property holdings held for resale
Land
1,584,302
Buildings
1,200,000

4,058,815
2,789,802
1,001,339
23,780,705
7,140,535

-

4,256,238

Industrial Sites
Land
Land improvements
Leasehold improvements
Building
Equipment

-

Additions
$

981,500
44,765
3,229,973

General
Land
Land improvements
Building

Beginning
$

As at and for the year ended March 31, 2017

Schedule of Property Holdings

Finance PEI

(49,576)

-

(49,576)

(49,576)
-

-

-

-

-

Disposals
$

(25)

53,383,908

4,937,000

41,406,368

4,069,575
2,789,802
1,001,339
26,384,487
7,161,165

2,784,302

1,584,302
1,200,000

4,256,238

981,500
44,765
3,229,973

Ending
$

Cost

22,780,059

3,305,968

18,268,863

2,732,812
227,213
8,168,302
7,140,536

144,000

144,000

1,061,228

44,765
1,016,463

1,400,634

246,850

983,504

6,289
70,094
903,307
3,814

48,000

48,000

122,280

122,280

Beginning Amortization
$
$

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Disposals
$

24,180,693

3,552,818

19,252,367

2,739,101
297,307
9,071,609
7,144,350

192,000

192,000

1,183,508

44,765
1,138,743

Ending
$

Accumulated amortization

29,203,215

1,384,182

22,154,001

4,069,575
50,701
704,032
17,312,878
16,815

2,592,302

1,584,302
1,008,000

3,072,730

981,500
2,091,230

Net book
value
$

2017
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Management's Report
The integrity, relevance and comparability of the data in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
are the responsibility of management.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada. A summary of the significant accounting policies is disclosed in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. The preparation of consolidated financial statements necessarily involves
the use of estimates based on management's judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current
period cannot be finalized with a certainty until future periods.
To meet its responsibility, management maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in compliance with
legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is available on a timely basis for
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. These systems are monitored and evaluated by
management.
Management is accountable to the Board of Directors of Innovation PEI on matters of financial reporting and
internal control. Management provides the Board of Directors with externally audited financial statements
annually. The Board also discusses any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to their
approval of the consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by ArsenaultBestCameronEllis, independent external
auditors appointed by the Board. The accompanying Independent Auditor's Report outlines their
responsibilities, the scope of their examination and their opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
On behalf of Innovation PEI
___________________________________
David Keedwell
Chief Executive Officer

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

June 13, 2018
Independent Auditor's Report
To the Minister of Economic Development and Tourism
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Innovation PEI, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the consolidated
statements of operations, accumulated surplus, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Innovation PEI as at March 31, 2018, and the results of its operations, changes in its net debt
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants

(1)
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Innovation PEI
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2018
2018

2017

$

$

Assets
Financial assets
Cash
Accounts receivable (note 2)
Advances to related companies (note 5)
Due from Province of Prince Edward Island

4,038,045
892,209
11,308,847
17,118,647

4,578,787
1,054,713
11,291,587
13,933,838

33,357,748

30,858,925

28,136,007

25,718,661

5,221,741

5,140,264

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5)

Net financial assets
Trust funds (note 3)
Less: funds on deposit

679,771
(679,771)

2,000,000
(2,000,000)

-

-

1,016,300
31,932

1,096,554
33,155

1,048,232

1,129,709

6,269,973

6,269,973

Non-financial assets
Property holdings (Schedule)
Prepaid expenses and deposits (note 5)

Accumulated surplus

Approved by the Board of Directors
_____________________________ Director

_____________________________ Director
(2)
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Innovation PEI
Consolidated Statement of Accumulated Surplus
For the year ended March 31, 2018

Accumulated operating surplus - Beginning of year
Annual surplus

Accumulated operating surplus - End of year
Contributed surplus (note 5)

Accumulated surplus - End of year

(3)

2018

2017

$

$

5,903,934

5,903,934

-

-

5,903,934

5,903,934

366,039

366,039

6,269,973

6,269,973
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Innovation PEI
Consolidated Statement of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2018
Budget
(Unaudited)
$

2018

2017

$

$

Revenue
Grant - Province of Prince Edward Island (note 5)
Federal Government funding
Project recoveries
Miscellaneous

39,561,900
30,000
1,779,700
9,000

42,561,900
1,624,852
15,629

36,070,500
20,951
1,512,996
15,056

41,380,600

44,202,381

37,619,503

4,953,600
1,432,700
34,774,300
70,000
150,000

4,646,094
1,350,600
37,896,693
125,218
183,776

4,196,634
1,504,643
31,659,015
89,786
169,425

41,380,600

44,202,381

37,619,503

-

-

-

Expenses
Salaries
Operating
Development programs
Project costs
Amortization - property holdings

Annual surplus

(4)
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Innovation PEI
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets
For the year ended March 31, 2018

Annual surplus

2018
$

2017
$

-

-

(103,522)
183,776

(89,925)
169,425

80,254

79,500

1,223

32,253

81,477

111,753

Net financial assets - Beginning of year

5,140,264

5,028,511

Net financial assets - End of year

5,221,741

5,140,264

Acquisition of property holdings
Amortization of property holdings
Change due to property holdings
Change in prepaid expenses

Increase in net financial assets

(5)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2018
2018

2017

$

$

-

-

183,776

169,425

183,776

169,425

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Annual surplus
Items not affecting cash
Amortization - property holdings

Net change in non-cash working capital items
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Decrease in prepaid expenses and deposits

162,504
2,417,346
1,223

(13,072)
(4,157,082)
32,253

2,764,849

(3,968,476)

(17,260)
(3,184,809)

182,644
10,136,973

(3,202,069)

10,319,617

Financing activities
Decrease (increase) in advances to related companies
Decrease (increase) in due from Province of Prince Edward Island

Investing activity
Additions to and purchase of property holdings

(103,522)

Increase (decrease) in cash

(540,742)

(89,925)
6,261,216

Cash and short-term investments (bank advances) - Beginning of year

4,578,787

(1,682,429)

Cash - End of year

4,038,045

4,578,787

(6)
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Innovation PEI (the "Corporation") is a Crown corporation established under the Innovation PEI Act. Its financial
results are included in the public accounts of the Province of Prince Edward Island.

1

Summary of significant accounting policies
The financial statements of the corporation have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Standards Board of CPA Canada. The
following is a summary of significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these statements.
(a) General
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the wholly-owned subsidiary, F.T.C.
Enterprises Limited (operating as Bio/Food/Tech).
(b) Financial instruments
The Corporation's financial instruments consists of cash, accounts receivable, advances to related
companies, due from Province of Prince Edward Island and accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured
at cost or amortized cost.
(c) Cash
Cash is comprised of cash on hand, cash in banks and savings accounts.
(d) Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable arise from trade sales, staff advances and Harmonized Sales Tax receivable. An
allowance for doubtful accounts has been calculated through discussions with management, assessment
of the other circumstances influencing the collectibility of amounts, and using historical loss experience.
Amounts deemed uncollectible are written off and deducted from the carrying value of the receivable.
Amounts subsequently recovered from accounts previously written off are recorded as a recovery of
doubtful accounts in the period recovered.
(e) Due from the Province of Prince Edward Island
The amount due from the Province of Prince Edward Island is the funding to be received for operating
grants and other approved reimbursements.
(f) Programs assistance payable
Program assistance grants are expensed as development program expenditures and included in accrued
liabilities when approved by the Corporation and accepted by the client except for Federal-Provincial
cost shared programs and provincially-funded assistance requiring future performance criteria, which are
expensed based on eligible claims.

(7)
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P.E.I. labour rebate, enriched investment tax credits, development fund assistance, specialized labour
rebate and share purchase tax credit commitments that extend beyond two years are expensed in each
year that performance criteria are met by the applicant.
(g) Property holdings and amortization
i)

Property holdings
Property holdings are stated at cost and amortized using the straight-line method at the following
annual rates:
Buildings
Equipment

5%, 20%
10%, 20%

A full year’s amortization is recorded in the year of acquisition.
(h) Post retirement benefits
The Corporation provides retirement benefits to eligible employees. The benefit is based on one week's
salary per year of service to a maximum of 26 weeks and is expensed on an accrual basis.
(i)

Employee pension plan
Most of the Corporation's staff are members of the Province of Prince Edward Island pension plan.
Pension obligations are liabilities of the Province and not the Corporation and no liability for these costs
has been accrued by the Corporation at March 31, 2018. The employer contributions to the pension for
the year totaled $269,899 (2017 - $274,984).

(j) Foreign currency
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at
the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the average monthly exchange rate.
Exchange differences are recognized into income in the period in which they arise.
(k) Revenue recognition and deferred revenue
Grants from the Province of Prince Edward Island are recorded in the period authorized by the Province.

Innovation PEI's subsidiary follows the percentage-of-completion method of accounting for revenue and
expenditures on project contracts. The percentage-of-completion method records the organization’s
project revenue based on the expenditures incurred and work completed on each contract in progress as
at the statement of financial position date. Revenue billed that is unearned is recorded as deferred
revenue.

(8)
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(l)

Government assistance
The company receives assistance from other government entities. The company recognizes this
assistance as revenue in the period when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria and/or
stipulations, if any, are met.
The company received $220,000 (2017 - $308,000) in technical support and workshop funding from
National Research Council aimed at improved productivity and competitiveness. This amount is included
in revenue under project recoveries. The company also received nil (2017 - $20,591) in assistance from
Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency to purchase equipment which was recognized as government
funding for capital.

(m) Government transfers
Government transfers are transfer of assets from government that are not the result of an exchange
transaction, are not expected to be repaid in the future, and are not the result of a direct financial return.
Government transfers are recognized in the financial statements as revenue in the period in which events
giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are authorized, eligibility criteria have been met
and reasonable estimates on the amounts can be determined. There are no government transfers in 2018
or 2017.
(n) Management estimates
The presentation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reported period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. The following are areas in which management makes significant accounting estimates:




2

The amount recorded for amortization of property holdings on the statement of operations is subject
to management's assessment of the estimated useful life of the company's property holdings;
The recognized amounts of potential claims and liabilities depend on management's assessment of
future costs and the probability these events will occur; and
The revenue recognized from long term projects under the percentage of completion method is
based on an assessment of each project based on costs incurred with regard to estimated overall
costs of the project.

Accounts receivable
The accounts receivable have been reduced by an allowance for possible losses of $104,619 (2017 $124,455).

(9)
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3

Trust funds
On May 31, 2015, Innovation PEI entered into an agreement with McCain Foods (Canada), a division of
McCain Foods Limited, on behalf of the government of Prince Edward Island to manage the "Adjustment
Fund" that has been established to assist the Albany/Borden-Carleton area with mitigating lost employment
and economic impacts resulting from the closure of the McCain processing facility in Albany/BordenCarleton.
As a result, Innovation PEI has received $2,000,000 which will be disbursed to approved projects in
accordance with the provisions of the agreement. Any unused portion of this fund that has not been
committed to an approved project by January 31, 2019 will be returned by Innovation PEI to McCain Foods
by February 15, 2019. As of March 31, 2018, the balance of unused funds is $679,771 (2017 - $2,000,000).

4

Commitments
(a) F.T.C. Enterprises Limited has entered into a twenty-five year lease expiring November 2038 with the
University of Prince Edward Island for the land upon which the Corporation constructed its facilities.
The lease cost is $1 per year and is renewable for a further term of twenty-five years for the same annual
consideration.
(b) Innovation PEI has committed to disbursing as development program expenses $26,863,302 (2017 $31,330,100) for P.E.I. labour rebate program assistance, $8,154,594 (2017 - $5,257,627) for enriched
investment tax credits, $3,569,580 (2017 - $7,003,093) for development fund assistance, $59,406 (2017 $73,527) for specialized labour rebate and $21,000 (2017 - $21,000) for share purchase tax credit over
the next four years as companies meet the required requirements.
In accordance with accounting policy, note 1f), program assistance for the PEI labour rebate, enriched
investment tax credit, development fund assistance, specialized labour rebate program and specialized
labour rebate expenses that extend beyond two years are expensed in each year that performance criteria
are met by the applicant.

5

Related party transactions
Related companies
The related companies are provincial Crown corporations or subsidiaries of provincial crown corporations.

(10)
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Statement of Financial Position
Advances to related companies

Advances to (from) related companies
Finance PEI
Island Investment Development Inc.
P.E.I. Biocommons Inc.
Atlantic Technology Centre Inc.
100417 P.E.I. Inc.
Tourism PEI

2018

2017

$

$

11,113,316
85,887
80
33,719
(100)
75,945

11,027,627
87,095
80
36,841
(100)
140,044

11,308,847

11,291,587

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $157,158 (2017 - $357,078) payable to the Province of
Prince Edward Island.
F.T.C. Enterprises Limited's property and liability insurance coverage is provided by Finance PEI, a related
party. As at March 31, 2018, $13,615 (2017 - $13,077) has been recognized as prepaid insurance and is
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
Contributed surplus
F.T.C. Enterprises Limited received a cumulative total of $366,039 in funds from the Province of Prince
Edward Island through Innovation PEI that have been accounted for as contributed surplus. This contribution
has not been eliminated on consolidation.
Statement of Operations
Revenue
Included in revenue are grants from the Province of Prince Edward Island of $42,561,900 (2017 $36,070,500).
The above transactions were recorded in the normal course of operations and measured at exchange amounts.

6

Contingent liabilities
A counterclaim has been commenced against the Corporation in response to an action for a deficiency
remaining after realization on collateral held by the P.E.I. Lending Agency, a former Crown corporation. The
claimant has not provided any details as to the nature and extent of damages or loss for which they seek
compensation. There is no liability recorded in these financial statements as it is management's opinion that no
liability is likely to arise as a result of this counterclaim. The counterclaim is ongoing.
(11)
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7

Financial risk management objectives and policies
Innovation PEI’s principal business activities result in a statement of financial position that consists primarily
of financial instruments. The principal financial risks that arise from transacting financial instruments include
credit, liquidity, market and operational risk. Authority for all risk-taking activities rests with management,
which approves risk management policies, delegates’ limits and regularly reviews management’s risk
assessments and compliance with approved policies. Qualified professionals throughout Innovation PEI
manage these risks through comprehensive and integrated control processes and models, including regular
review and assessment of risk measurement and reporting processes.
(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Corporation if a customer or counterparty of a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises primarily from the company’s
accounts receivable, advances to related companies and due from the Province of Prince Edward Island.
The Corporation's maximum exposure to credit risk at the statement of financial position date in relation
to each class of recognized financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets indicated in the
statement of financial position. The maximum credit exposure does not take into account the value of
any collateral or other security held, in the event other entities/parties fail to perform their obligations
under the financial instruments in question.
The Corporations's maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
$

892,209
11,308,847
17,118,647

Accounts receivable
Advances to related companies
Due from Province of Prince Edward Island

29,319,703
(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation may not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due. Specifically, the Corporation needs to ensure it has adequate resources to repay all accounts
payable and accrued liabilities as they come due. The Corporation's approach to manage liquidity risk is
to closely monitor its cash flows and forecast the expected receipts and obligations.
The Corporation's financial liabilities of $28,136,007 (2017 - $25,718,661) are expected to be repaid
within one year.

(12)
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(c) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with
the Corporation’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other
than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and
generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.
The Corporation’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial
losses and damage to the company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control
procedures that restrict initiative and creativity. The primary responsibility for the development and
implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior management.
(d) Capital management
The primary objective of Innovation PEI's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a healthy
financial position in order to support its business. Innovation PEI manages its capital structure and
makes changes to it in light of changes in economic conditions.

8

Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures presented for the 2017 fiscal year have been restated to conform with the
financial statement presentation adopted in the current year.

(13)

General
Equipment
Buildings

General
Equipment
Buildings

89,925

12,005,850

Additions
$

Beginning
$
89,925
-

103,522

12,095,775

7,548,375
4,457,475

75,544
27,978

Additions
$

7,638,300
4,457,475

Beginning
$

As at and for the year ended March 31, 2018

Consolidated Schedule of Property Holdings

Innovation PEI

-

-

Disposals/
Transfers
$

-

-

Disposals/
Transfers
$

(14)

12,095,775

7,638,300
4,457,475

Ending
$

Cost

12,199,297

7,713,844
4,485,453

Ending
$

Cost

183,776

181,082
2,694

10,829,796

6,391,927
4,437,869

169,425

168,131
1,294

Beginning Amortization
$
$

10,999,221

6,560,058
4,439,163

Beginning Amortization
$
$

11,182,997

6,741,140
4,441,857

Ending
$

-

-

Disposals
$

10,999,221

6,560,058
4,439,163

Ending
$

Accumulated amortization

-

-

Disposals
$

Accumulated amortization

1,096,554

1,078,242
18,312

Net book
value
$

2017

1,016,300

972,704
43,596

Net book
value
$

2018

Schedule
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June 11, 2018
Independent Auditor's Report
To the Board of Directors of
Island Investment Development Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Island Investment Development
Inc., which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Island Investment Development Inc. as at March 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants
(1)
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Island Investment Development Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2018
2018
$

2017
$

Assets
Cash
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable (notes 6 and 15)
Prepaid expense
Inventory (note 14)
Demand loan receivable (note 8)
Notes receivable (note 9)
Advances to related company (note 15)
Investment in private companies (note 10)
Deferred financing costs (note 11)
Property and equipment (Schedule and note 14)
Investment properties (notes 7 and 14)
Restricted funds (note 12)
Cash and marketable securities

13,019,938
58,058,707
1,173,258
15,868
118,553
6,998,502
127,230,212
3,431,483
2,440,511
570,336
2,655,394
8,852,423

22,697,691
48,776,782
1,191,202
42,760
114,947
6,998,502
130,976,635
2,633,938
1,434,373
1,464,698
1,441,186
8,271,472

215,097,010

208,324,461

439,662,195

434,368,647

4,031,429
70,429,498
215,097,010

100,756
3,056,153
98,259,170
208,324,461

289,557,937

309,740,540

150,104,258

124,628,107

439,662,195

434,368,647

Liabilities
Bank indebtedness
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (notes 13 and 15)
Notes payable (note 14)
Restricted funds (note 12)

Contingent liability (note 17)

Retained earnings

Approved by the Board of Directors
_____________________________ Director

_____________________________ Director
( 2)
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Retained earnings - Beginning of year
Net earnings for the year

Retained earnings - End of year

(3)

2018
$

2017
$

124,628,107

96,334,714

25,476,151

28,293,393

150,104,258

124,628,107
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Island Investment Development Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended March 31, 2018
2018
$

2017
$

5,461,300
5,263,371
2,390,170
17,649,983
9,218,997
350,000

5,765,026
5,681,015
3,637,750
18,030,000
8,164,498
350,053

40,333,821

41,628,342

270,946
1,507,687
11,225
244,261
1,153
179,931
535,000
11,521
47,763
221,463
8,308
7,612,025
1,045,357
50,000
1,631,074
38,698
539,124
904,058

163,523
379,236
28,912
232,335
691
303,515
535,000
28,298
43,080
182,889
5,517
7,272,375
1,048,990
50,000
1,254,301
39,447
450,360
1,334,711

14,859,594

13,353,180

25,474,227

28,275,162

929
995

18,231
-

1,924

18,231

25,476,151

28,293,393

Revenue
Interest on notes and loan receivable (note 15)
Investment income on marketable securities
Provincial Nominee Program fees
Provincial Nominee Program defaults
Property operations (note 15)
Miscellaneous revenue

Expenses
Doubtful accounts
Education contribution
Equipment
Grants - private companies
Interest and bank charges
Interest on notes payable (note 15)
Management fees (note 15)
Meetings and conferences
Office
Professional fees
Promotion and advertising
Property operations (note 15)
Provision for possible losses
Rent (note 15)
Salaries (note 15)
Travel
Amortization
Amortization of deferred financing costs

Operating earnings
Other income
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Interest income

Net earnings for the year

( 4)
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2018
$

2017
$

25,476,151

28,293,393

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Net earnings for the year
Items not affecting cash
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Amortization
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Provision for possible losses

904,058
539,124
(929)
1,045,357
27,963,761

Net change in non-cash working capital items
Decrease in accounts receivable
Decrease in prepaid expense
Decrease (increase) in inventory
Decrease in income taxes receivable
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

17,944
26,892
(3,606)
975,276

1,334,711
450,360
(18,231)
1,048,990
31,109,223
149,953
28,754
1,573
263,533
(1,200,243)

28,980,267

30,352,793

(100,756)
(27,829,672)
(797,545)

51,867
(43,053,475)
(347,629)

(28,727,973)

(43,349,237)

(1,006,138)
(9,281,925)
(6,772,549)
6,772,549
2,701,066
(1,990,622)
(911,266)
560,728
7,806
(9,696)

(490,245)
14,635,312
(32,178,725)
32,178,725
6,860,506
(526,465)
(619,449)
209,207
18,231
(24,003)

(9,930,047)

20,063,094

Increase (decrease) in cash

(9,677,753)

7,066,650

Cash - Beginning of year

22,697,691

15,631,041

Cash - End of year

13,019,938

22,697,691

Financing activities
Increase (decrease) in bank indebtedness
Decrease in notes payable - net
Increase in advances to related company

Investing activities
Increase in investment in private companies
Decrease (increase) in marketable securities - net
Increase in restricted funds - cash and marketable securities
Increase in restricted funds - liability
Decrease in notes receivable - net
Additions to property and equipment
Additions to investment properties
Capital grants received
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment
Increase in deferred financing costs

(5)
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1

Reporting entity
The company is a provincial Crown corporation established under the provisions of the Island Investment
Development Inc. Act and is therefore a non-taxable entity under the provisions of the Income Tax Act.
The company is the corporate administrator of government-administered venture capital funds in the Province
of Prince Edward Island with its purpose to invest in active business operations. The investments are made in
typically new or expanding companies.
The company administers the Prince Edward Island Provincial Nominee Program on behalf of the Province of
Prince Edward Island, and charges applicants under the program various fees to process the applications
received.

Island Investment Development Inc.'s head office is located in Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island.
Island Investment Development Inc. prepares its financial statements in compliance with Canadian
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”).
These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on June 11, 2018.

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of consolidation
These financial statements include the operations of Island Investment Development Inc. and its whollyowned subsidiaries, Prince Edward Island Century 2000 Fund Inc. (Century 2000 Fund) and Slemon Park
Corporation.
(b) Basis of measurement
These financial statements have been presented on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments as indicated in note 2(d).
(c) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the company’s functional
currency.

(6)
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(d) Financial instruments
i)

Recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and their subsequent
measurement is dependent on their classification as described below. The classification depends on
the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired or issued. At initial recognition, the
company classifies its financial instruments as follows:


Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets held for trading are reported at FVTPL with changes in fair value reported
through the statement of comprehensive income. A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term, if so designated by
management or it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
Transaction costs are expensed.
Assets in this category includes marketable securities.



Available for sale ("AFS")
Available for sale investments are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or
not classified in any of the other categories. Available for sale investments are recognized
initially at fair value plus transactions costs, and are subsequently carried at fair value, other
than the company's investment in certain shares as their fair value cannot be reliably measured.
Upon such time that their fair value can be reliably measured, the carrying amount of these
financial assets will be adjusted to fair value. Gains and losses arising from remeasurement are
recognized in other comprehensive income.
Dividends or distributions on available for sale investments are recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income as investment income, when the company's right to receive payment is
established.
Assets in this category include investment in private companies.



Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are recorded at fair value on
initial recognition and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Assets in this category includes cash, accounts receivable, demand loan receivable, notes
receivable and advances to related company.

(7)
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Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Liabilities in this category include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, notes payable and
restricted funds.

ii)

Impairment of financial instruments
The company determines, at each statement of financial position date, whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired, and impairment losses are recorded, only if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (a “loss event”) and the loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of
the borrower or issuer, default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by
the company on non-market terms that the company would not otherwise consider, indications that a
borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, or
other observable data relating to a group of assets such as conditions that correlate with defaults in
the group.


Financial assets classified as loans and receivables
For the purposes of individual evaluation of impairment, the amount of the impairment loss on
a loan or receivable is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the statement of earnings. The
calculation of the carrying value reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less
costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly
by the company to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off after all the necessary procedures have been
completed and the amount of loss has been determined. If, in a subsequent period, the amount
of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is
reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognized in the
statement of earnings in provision for possible losses expense.

(8)

134

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

Island Investment Development Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
Loans that were past due and either subject to collective impairment assessment or are
individually significant and whose terms have been renegotiated are not longer considered to be
past due but are treated as new loans. In subsequent years, if the loan becomes past due, this
will be disclosed only if renegotiated again.


Assets classified as available for sale
At each statement of financial position date, the company assessed if there is objective
evidence that an AFS financial asset may be impaired. A significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an AFS security below its costs is considered objective evidence in determining
whether the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for AFS financial assets, the
cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss, is
reclassified from equity and recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Impairment
losses recognized in the statement of comprehensive income on equity instruments are not
reversed.

(e) Cash
Cash consists of cash held in banks. Bank indebtedness is considered to be a financing activity.
(f) Inventory
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs are assigned using the
specific item formula for food inventory. Costs include all expenses directly attributable to the
purchase and delivery of the product to the Company's location. Oil inventory is valued at the lower
of cost and net realizable value and is recorded at invoice cost on a first-in, first-out basis. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any applicable
selling expenses.
(g) Deferred financing costs
The costs incurred in obtaining financing have been capitalized and are being amortized using the
straight-line basis over the term of the notes payable, which is sixty months.
(h) Property and equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at the fair value on the transition date of April 1, 2015 to IFRS
for Slemon Park Corporation, a subsidiary, as deemed cost, with additions since that time measured
at historic cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, property and equipment is recorded at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. The company allocates the amount
recognized in respect of each item in property and equipment to its significant components and
amortizes each component separately.

(9)
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Amortization is recognized so as to write-off the cost less residual values over the useful lives of the
assets. The estimated useful lives, residual values and amortization method are reviewed at each
year-end with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis.
Amortization rates are as follows:
Sewer and water infrastructure
Paving
Buildings and improvements
Furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles
Computer equipment and software

2% - 4%
8%
4% - 20%
20%
30%
30%

declining balance
declining balance
declining balance
declining balance
declining balance
declining balance

As asset's carrying value is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's
carrying amount is higher than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. No property and equipment
were identified as impaired as at March 31, 2018.
(i)

Investment properties
Investment properties include land and buildings held to earn rental income. Investment properties
are recorded at the fair value on the transition date of April 1, 2015 to IFRS of Slemon Park
Corporation, a subsidiary, as deemed cost, with additions since that time measured at historic cost.
Subsequent to its initial recognition, investment properties are recorded at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses. The company allocates the amount recognized in
respect of each item in investment properties to its significant components and amortizes each
component separately.
Amortization is recognized so as to write-off the cost less residual values over the useful lives of the
assets. The estimated useful lives, residual values and amortization method are reviewed at each
year-end with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis.
Amortization rates are as follows:
Buildings
Roads and paving

4% - 20% declining balance
8% declining balance

Investment properties are derecognized when it has been disposed of or permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on
retirement or disposal of investment properties are recognized in the income statement in the year of
retirement or disposal.
(j) Capitalization policy
Acquisition, construction or development over time:
The cost of a capital asset includes direct construction or development costs (such as materials and
labour) and overhead costs directly attributable to the construction or development activity.
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The cost of capital assets includes the purchase price and other acquisition costs such as installation
costs including architectural, design and engineering fees, legal fees, survey costs, site preparation
costs, freight charges, transportation insurance costs, duties, testing, interest and preparation
charges.
Betterment:
The cost incurred to enhance the service potential of a capital asset is a betterment. Service
potential may be enhanced when there is an increase in the previously assessed physical output or
service capacity, associated operating costs are lowered, the life or useful life is extended, or the
quality of output is improved. The cost incurred in the maintenance of the service potential of a
capital asset is a repair, not a betterment. If a cost has the attributes of both a repair and a
betterment, the portion considered to be a betterment is included in the cost of the capital asset.
Government assistance:
Government assistance towards acquisition of capital assets will be deducted from the related capital
assets with any amortization calculated on the net amount.
Buildings and renovations:
All expenditures that provide future benefit beyond the annual operating period and which are an
integral component of the building are classified as an addition to the building.
(k) Impairment of long-lived assets
For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
largely independent cash inflows (cash generating units). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash generating unit level. The company tests
long-lived assets for impairment on an annual basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that its carrying amount of the asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The
impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if the
carrying amount exceeds the higher of fair value less costs to disposal and value-in-use. To
determine the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cashgenerating unit and determines a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
(l)

Revenue recognition
Investment income is recorded in the period earned.
Interest accrued on notes and loans receivable is recognized as revenue in the period earned.
Provincial Nominee Program fees and interview fees are recorded as revenue when earned.
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Provincial Nominee Program defaults are recorded as revenue in the year in which the deposit
period ends and the applicant does not meet the conditions for repayment.
Accommodation, food and beverage, sports centre, retail and airport operation revenues, included in
property operations, are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable less
any trade discounts or volume rebates. Revenues are recognized when the goods or services have
been provided to the customer, it is probable that the associated economic benefit will flow to the
company and the amount of revenue can be reliably measured.
Revenue from commercial and residential rental operations, included in property operations, is
recognized straight-line over the terms of the leases when collection is reasonably assured. The
difference between the rental revenue recognized and the amounts contractually due under the lease
agreements is recorded in trade receivables. The company retains substantially all of the benefits
and risks of ownership of its income properties and, therefore, accounts for its leases with tenants as
operating leases. Realty tax and operating cost recoveries, and other incidental income are
recognized on an accrual basis.
Miscellaneous revenue is recognized in the period in which the transaction or events that give rise to
the revenue occur and collection is reasonably assured.
(m) Government assistance and other grants
The Governments of Canada and Prince Edward Island have contributed money to fund renovations
to existing facilities and to assist the management of Slemon Park Corporation. Grants are not
recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the entity will comply with the conditions
attaching to it, and that the grant will be received. These funds, along with other grants received, are
credited to the operating expenses or capital assets to which they relate. During the year, $560,728
(2017 - $209,207) in grants were received or receivable related to water and sewer utility capital
projects and credited to property and equipment.
(n) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and report amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue
and expenses during the period. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.
The judgments that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial
statements are with respect to the allowance for loan losses, as detailed in note 4.
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(o) Future accounting standards and reporting changes
The following are future changes in accounting policies not yet effective as of March 31, 2018.
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial instruments, a new expected-loss impairment model that will require more timely
recognition of expected credit losses and a substantially-reformed model for hedge accounting,
which enhanced disclosures about risk management activity. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and will be applied retrospectively. The company has not yet
begun the process of evaluating the impact of this standards on its financial instruments.
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which will replace IAS 11, Construction
Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for
the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, and SIC-31,
Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. IFRS 15 provides a single,
principles-based five-step model that will apply to all contracts with customers with limited
exceptions, including, but not limited to, leases within the scope of IAS 17; financial instruments
and other contractual rights or obligations within the scope of IRFS 9, IRFS 10, Consolidated
Financial Statements and IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements. In addition to the five-step model, the
standard specifies how to account for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs
directly related to fulfilling a contract. The incremental costs of obtaining a contract must be
recognized as an asset if the entity expects to recover these costs. The standard's requirements will
also apply to the recognition and measurements of gains and losses on the sale of some non-financial
assets that are not an output of the entity's ordinary activities. IFRS 15 is required for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with earlier adoption permitted. The company has not
yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this standard on its financial statements.
IFRS 16 was issued by the IASB on January 13, 2016. The new standard introduces a single lessee
accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of
more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognize a
right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing
its obligation to make lease payments. This standard substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements of IAS 17, while requiring enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors.
The company has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of the standard on its financial
instruments.
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3

Agent agreement
Prince Edward Island Century 2000 Fund Inc.
The Federal Minister of Citizenship and Immigration acts as an Agent for the company and Crown
corporations of other participating provinces by receiving investments from immigrant investors and
disbursing them to the provincial Crown corporations in accordance with the allocation formula set out in the
federal Immigration Regulations, 1978. All monies received by the Agent pursuant to the issuance of debt
obligations are held by the Agent in a separate account from the moment such monies are received, on behalf
of the company and the provincial designates. Investments are subject to a commission agreement whereby a
5% commission is paid to the party that facilitates an investment. These commissions are paid out of the
special account by the Agent on the first day of the second month following the issuance of a visa to the
investor to the party that made the facilitated investment, and are recorded as deferred financing charges by
the company.
The Agent disburses the provincial allocation, less applicable commissions, to the company at the beginning
of the five-year allocation period. The Agent issues a promissory note to the investor on behalf of the
company. The company is obligated to repay the note, bearing interest at 0%, within 30 days after the expiry
of the allocation period.
The company is required to repay the investor, through the Agent, the investor's promissory note within 90
days of receipt by the Agent of a request by the investor to withdraw his/her application for permanent
residence, or upon the refusal of the application by the Minister.
In the 2014 Federal Government Budget, it was disclosed that Citizenship Immigration Canada (CIC) would
be terminating the Federal Immigrant Investor Programs during the 2014 calendar year. Subsequently, CIC
has communicated to all provinces that there will be no accelerated repayment schedule for funds received
through the Immigrant Investor Program.

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future that will, by definition, seldom equal
actual results. These estimates and judgments have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the period the assumptions changed. The principal area involving
a higher degree of judgment or complexity and/or area which require significant estimates is described below:
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Provision for possible losses
The company regularly reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment. In determining whether an impairment
loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the company makes judgments as to
whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment trigger followed by a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with that
portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the
payment status of members in a group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio
when scheduling its future cash flows.
Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial instruments where no active market exists or where quoted prices are not
otherwise available are determined by using specific valuation techniques. In these cases, the fair values are
estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments. Where market observable data
inputs are not available, they are estimated based on appropriate assumption. Where valuation techniques are
used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by management.
For investments in private companies, consideration was given as to whether or not par value was equal to
redemption value and whether the company had the right to redeem those shares at their discretion. To the
extent that the redemption value of those shares is equal to their par value, then these shares will also be
designated as AFS at fair value with fair value equal to (or in the case of potential impairment, less than) par
value. These investments are reported at par value on the basis that they are not liquid investments and have a
limited number of potential purchasers. Where fair value cannot be reliably measured, these investments are
recorded at cost.
Estimated useful lives of investment properties and property and equipment
Management estimates the useful lives of investment properties and property and equipment based on the
period during which assets are expected to be available for use. The amounts and timing of recorded
amortization expense of investment properties and property and equipment for any period are affected by
these estimated useful lives. The estimates are reviewed at least annually and are updated if expectations
change as a result of physical wear and tear, legal and other limits to use. It is possible that changes in these
factors may cause changes in the estimated useful lives of the company's investment properties and property
and equipment in the future.
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Investment properties fair value
The fair market value of investment property is disclosed on an annual basis as of the statement of financial
position date. This fair value information is also used to calculate potential impairment losses as of the
statement of financial position date. The valuations are prepared using recognized valuation techniques to
determine the fair value. The determination of the fair value requires the use of estimates on future cash flows
from assets and discount rates applicable to those assets. These estimates are based on local market
conditions existing at the statement of financial position date, including the impact of recent market
transactions.
Investment properties and property and equipment
The company's accounting policies related to investment properties and property and equipment are described
in note 2. In applying these policies, judgment is applied to determine the significant components of each
asset, including the useful lives over which componentized assets are to be amortized. Judgment is also
required in determining what assets are classified as property, plant and equipment and what assets are
classified as investment property.
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5

Financial instruments
Fair values versus carrying amounts
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of
financial position, are as follows:
2018
Carrying
amount
$

Fair
value
$

2017
Carrying
amount
$

Fair
value
$

Assets carried at fair value
Financial assets held for trading

273,155,717

273,155,717

257,101,243

257,101,243

Assets carried at amortized cost
Notes, receivables and advances
Cash
Investment available for sale

138,833,455
13,019,938
2,440,511

138,833,455
13,019,938
2,440,511

141,800,277
22,697,691
1,434,373

141,800,277
22,697,691
1,434,373

154,293,904

154,293,904

165,932,341

165,932,341

Liabilities carried at amortized cost
Bank indebtedness
Accounts payable and accrued
4,031,429
liabilities
70,429,498
Notes payable
215,097,010
Restricted funds

-

100,756

100,756

4,031,429
70,429,498
215,097,010

3,056,153
98,259,170
208,324,461

3,056,153
98,259,170
208,324,461

289,557,937

289,557,937

309,740,540

309,740,540

The fair value of financial assets held for trading is determined by their quoted market value at the reporting
date.

6

Accounts receivable
2018
$
1,534,009
411,165
(771,916)

Trade
Related party
Other
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts

1,173,258

(17)
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974,274
618,012
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1,191,202
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7

Investment properties
The fair market value of investment properties as of March 31, 2018 is $11,054,068 (2017 - $9,940,725). The
investment properties have been valued using a capitalized net operating income method. Using this method,
capitalization rates are applied to net operating income (revenues less property operating expenses). The key
assumptions is the capitalization rate of 10% to 14% (2017 - 10% to 14%) plus a discount applied in a recent
transaction between unrelated market participates which reflects the special nature and location of the assets.
This discount is to reflect the specialized assets and their location. This valuation process would be classified
as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
Land
$

Buildings, roads
and paving
$

Total
$

Cost
Balance - March 31, 2017
Additions
Disposals

1,414,252
-

7,607,643
911,266
(6,877)

9,021,895
911,266
(6,877)

Balance - March 31, 2018

1,414,252

8,512,032

9,926,284

Accumulated amortization
Balance - March 31, 2017
Amortization expense

-

(750,423)
(323,438)

(750,423)
(323,438)

Balance - March 31, 2018

-

(1,073,861)

(1,073,861)

Net carrying value
March 31, 2017

1,414,252

6,857,220

8,271,472

March 31, 2018

1,414,252

7,438,171

8,852,423

The future minimum lease payments to be received under non-cancelable operating leases in aggregate for
each of the following periods:

$
Under 1 year
2 to 5 years
Over 5 years

1,647,697
5,008,322
6,906,113

Total

13,562,132
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8

Demand loan receivable
The company entered into an agreement with Finance PEI, a provincial Crown corporation, to provide a
$15,000,000 revolving line of credit. The balance of the line of credit at March 31, 2018 is $6,998,502 (2017 $6,998,502).
Interest is charged monthly at a rate equal to the Department of Provincial Treasury of Prince Edward Island's
short-term lending rate and the total amount is repayable on demand.
The demand loan is secured by a promissory note for $15,000,000 and a revolving credit agreement.

9

Notes receivable
Impaired loans
included
Total
in total
$
$

Individual
Allowance
$

2018

2017

Net
$

Net
$

Working capital
Manufacturing and
processing

4,818,165

2,494,825

1,836,784

2,981,381

3,199,664

Long-term loans
Manufacturing and
processing
Technology
Aerospace
Tourism
General business
Bioscience

52,122,272
1,503,062
61,671
19,790,424
71,070,093
1,836,000

8,042,853
1,303,062
975,590
45,868,439
1,661,000

3,541,379
200,000
292,000
18,874,711
700,000

48,580,893
1,303,062
61,671
19,498,424
52,195,382
1,136,000

47,595,380
1,103,062
653,882
15,235,380
51,931,458
9,585,669

146,383,522

57,850,944

23,608,090

122,775,432

126,104,831

3,285,669

-

1,812,270

1,473,399

1,672,140

154,487,356

60,345,769

27,257,144

127,230,212

130,976,635

Accrued interest

The fair value of the collateral held by the company as security for the impaired loans was $47,709,977 (2017
- $47,201,704). The company has estimated the fair value of collateral based on an updated assessment of the
security appraisal undertaken at the original funding assessment and management's knowledge of local real
estate and business market conditions.
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Continuity of individual allowance
Beginning
balance
$
Working capital
Manufacturing and
processing

1,836,784

Long-term loans
Manufacturing and
processing
Technology
Tourism
General business
Bioscience

3,019,827
200,000
292,000
18,900,434
700,000

Accrued interest

Provision/
reversal
$

-

Write-off
$

2018
Ending
Balance
$

2017
Ending
Balance
$

-

1,836,784

1,836,784

717,422
(25,723)
-

195,870
-

3,541,379
200,000
292,000
18,874,711
700,000

3,019,827
200,000
292,000
18,900,434
700,000

23,112,261

691,699

195,870

23,608,090

23,112,261

1,480,266

353,658

21,654

1,812,270

1,480,266

26,429,311

1,045,357

217,524

27,257,144

26,429,311

Loans past due but not impaired
A loan is considered past due when a payment has not been received by the contractual due date. The
following table presents the carrying value of the loans that are past due but not classified as impaired as they
are either (i) less than 90 days past due unless there is information to the contrary that an impairment event
has occurred or (ii) fully secured and collection efforts are reasonably expected to result in repayment.
Loans that are past due but not impaired are as follows:
90 - 120
days
$
As at:
March 31, 2018
March 31, 2017

-

120 - 150
days
$

169,555
-

150 - 180
days
$

-

+180
days
$

9,730,564
11,450,046

Total
$

9,900,119
11,450,046

During the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, the company did not acquire any assets in respect of
delinquent loans.
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Related party notes:
Included in long-term loans manufacturing and processing are unsecured notes receivable due from Finance
PEI of $3,076,822 (2017 - $3,130,720).
Included in accrued interest is $747,707 (2017 - $665,239) from Finance PEI.

10 Investment in private companies
2018
$
Investment in private companies
Atlantic Canada Regional Venture Fund LP
Island Capital Partners Seed Investment Fund

2017
$

1,740,511
700,000

1,434,373
-

2,440,511

1,434,373

11 Deferred financing costs

Accumulated
amortization
$

Cost
$
Commissions

4,186,240

3,615,904

2018

2017

Net
$

Net
$

570,336

1,464,698

12 Restricted funds
Restricted funds held in trust consist of the following amounts held under the Provincial Nominee Program:

2018
$
Good Faith deposits
Entrepreneur Program deposits
Language deposits
Escrow deposits - business impact category
Intermediary deposits

2017
$

179,073
41,665
214,576,272
300,000

329,073
100,000
81,665
207,513,723
300,000

215,097,010

208,324,461

The company has internally restricted cash and marketable securities to meet or exceed the restricted funds
payable.
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13 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
2018
$
Trade payables and accruals
Government remittances
Related entities
Province of Prince Edward Island
Other

2017
$

2,164,208
265,680
1,422,630
178,911

2,447,489
17,897
103,754
276,601
210,412

4,031,429

3,056,153

14 Notes payable
2018
$
Prince Edward Island Century 2000 Fund Inc.
Non-interest bearing notes payable, nominally dated with
commencement dates ranging from April 1, 2013 to
April 1, 2018, repayable in full in five years from the
commencement date pursuant to the federally
administered Immigrant Investor Program

2017
$

64,416,711

89,305,244

5,155,214

-

857,573
-

4,350,603
1,823,005

Accrued interest payable

-

31,397

Slemon Park Corporation
3.519% term loan, repaid during the year
3.506% term loan, repaid during the year

-

941,999
1,806,922

70,429,498

98,259,170

Island Investment Development Inc.
1.61% term loan, due August 2018, from the Province of
Prince Edward Island, payable in quarterly payments
of $146,575 including interest, unsecured
2.46% term loan, due November 2022, to the Province of
Prince Edward Island, payable in quarterly payments
of $47,962 including interest, unsecured
3.11% term loan, repaid during the year
Treasury Board loan, repaid during the year
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Prince Edward Island Century 2000 Fund Inc.
All notes payable are pursuant to the Immigrant Investor Regulations.
The Province of Prince Edward has provided a guarantee of the notes payable to the Minister of Citizenship
and Immigration (Agent) in the event of the failure of Prince Edward Island Century 2000 Fund Inc. to repay
the notes payable to the Agent within 30 days following the end of the allocation period.
Slemon Park Corporation
As additional security for certain long-term debt and an authorized operating line of credit of $900,000,
Slemon Park Corporation has provided a location specific general security agreement over all present and
future personal property of certain buildings, a floating charge over inventory and appliances of the residential
units, an assignment of residential rents, an assignment of specific commercial rents, a first fixed charge
mortgage with cash value insurance coverage over the residential units, a collateral mortgage over certain
properties and a general assignment of book debts.
The principal payments due on the notes payable over the next five years are as follows:
$
Year ending March 31, 2019
2018
2021
2022
2023

53,442,963
14,439,115
1,611,232
545,284
390,903

15 Related party transactions
Related parties
Finance PEI, Innovation PEI and Tourism PEI are Crown corporations of the Province of Prince Edward
Island.
Related party balances
Included in accounts receivable is nil (2017 - $210,909) to Finance PEI.
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $85,887 (2017 - $87,095) to Innovation P.E.I.,
$123,793 (2017 - nil) to Finance PEI, $56,000 (2017 - nil) to Tourism PEI and $1,231,856 (2017 - $136,936)
to the Province of Prince Edward Island.

(23)
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Advances to related company:
2018
$
3,431,483

Finance PEI

2017
$
2,633,938

Advances to related company are non-interest bearing with no specific terms of repayment.
Transactions
Included in interest on notes and loan receivable is $196,873 (2017 - $178,912) from Finance PEI.
Included in expenses are management fees of $535,000 (2017 - $535,000) and rent of $50,000 (2017 $50,000) to Finance PEI and interest on notes payable of $133,156 (2017 - $163,183) to the Province of
Prince Edward Island.
Included in property operations is revenue of $1,381,955 (2017 - $1,000,065) and purchases of $606,879
(2017 - $642,710) from enterprises controlled by the Province of Prince Edward Island.
During the year, a note receivable was transferred from Prince Edward Island Century 2000 Fund Inc. to
Finance PEI at its carrying amount of $1,512,557.
Compensation of directors and key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and key management personnel during 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Salaries

2018
$

2017
$

552,136

495,626

Key management personnel consist of the executive director, directors and manager needed to administer the
programs in Island Investment Development Inc. Certain members of key management are employed under
Innovation PEI and the portion of their salary which pertains to the work performed for Island Investment
Development Inc. is reflected in the $535,000 (2017 - $535,000) management fee paid to Finance PEI.

16 Commitments
Prince Edward Island Century 2000 Fund Inc. loans approved but not disbursed at March 31, 2018 amount to
$4,205,170 (2017 - $6,131,697).
Island Investment Development Inc. has committed to, but not disbursed $2,059,487 (2017 - $1,065,627) in
advances to private companies.

(24)

150

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

Island Investment Development Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

17 Contingent liability
A statement of claim has been filed against the company that deals with the question of priority interest that
the company has in a mortgage that is held as collateral on their notes receivable to a specific organization.
There is no amount recorded in these financial statements for the possible effect on the calculation of the
allowance for possible credit losses as the potential outcome of the claim is uncertain at this time.

18 Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures presented for the 2017 fiscal year have been restated to conform with the
financial statement presentation adopted in the current year.

19 Financial risk management objectives and policies
Island Investment Development Inc.’s principal business activities result in a statement of financial position
that consists primarily of financial instruments. The principal financial risks that arise from transacting
financial instruments include credit, liquidity, market and operational risk. Authority for all risk-taking
activities rests with the Board of Directors (Board), which approves risk management policies, delegates’
limits and regularly reviews management’s risk assessments and compliance with approved policies.
Qualified professionals throughout Island Investment Development Inc. manage these risks through
comprehensive and integrated control processes and models, including regular review and assessment of risk
measurement and reporting processes.
(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty of a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises primarily from the company’s notes
receivable and marketable securities.
The company's maximum exposure to credit risk at the statement of financial position date in relation to
each class of recognized financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets indicated in the statement
of financial position. The maximum credit exposure does not take into account the value of any collateral
or other security held, in the event other entities/parties fail to perform their obligations under the
financial instruments in question.

(25)
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The company's maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Cash
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable
Demand loan receivable
Notes receivable
Advances to related companies
Investment in private company
Restricted funds

i)

2018
$

2017
$

13,019,938
58,058,707
1,173,258
6,998,502
127,230,212
3,431,483
2,440,511
215,097,010

22,697,691
48,776,782
1,191,202
6,998,502
130,976,635
2,633,938
1,434,373
208,324,461

427,449,621

423,033,584

Notes receivable
For the notes receivable portfolio, the company uses risk modelling that is customer based rather
than product based. The company reviews the borrowers capacity to repay the loan rather than
relying exclusively on collateral, although it is an important component in establishing credit risk.
Typically, collateral consists of capital assets held by the borrower but can extend to working capital
such as inventory when warranted. Any shortfall in collateral as compared to the carrying value of
the loan is considered when analyzing the loan for the provision that needs to be applied to it.
Credit is approved by staff and the company’s Board of Directors with loans in excess of $1 million
requiring approval by Treasury Board. The company factors the financial strength of each borrower,
the security which is available, their position in industry and past payment history when assessing
all potential loans.

ii)

Cash and marketable securities
Cash and marketable securities have a low credit risk exposure as the assets are high quality
investments with low risk counterparties.

(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company may not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due. Specifically, the company needs to ensure it has adequate resources to repay all accounts payable
and accrued liabilities, notes payable and to pay back any deposits under the Provincial Nominee
Program as they come due. The company's approach to manage liquidity risk is to closely monitor its
cash flows and forecast the expected receipts and obligations.
The table below analyzes the company's financial liabilities into relevant groupings based on the
remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date.

(26)
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2018
Under 1
year
$
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Note payable
Restricted funds

Between
1 - 2 years
$

Between
2 - 5 years
$

Over
5 years
$

Total
$

4,031,429
53,442,963
215,097,010

14,439,116
-

2,547,419
-

-

4,031,429
70,429,498
215,097,010

272,571,402

14,439,116

2,547,419

-

289,557,937

2017
Under 1
year
$
Bank indebtedness
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Note payable
Restricted funds

Between
1 - 2 years
$

Between
2 - 5 years
$

Over
5 years
$

Total
$

100,756

-

-

-

100,756

3,056,153
30,479,551
208,324,461

48,722,418
-

18,630,478
-

426,723
-

3,056,153
98,259,170
208,324,461

241,960,921

48,722,418

18,630,478

426,723

309,740,540

As at March 31, 2018, the company has $286,175,655 (2017 - $279,798,934) in cash and marketable
securities that is readily available to be used to meet the cash outflows of the company's financial
liabilities.
(c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and equity prices will affect
the company’s income or the value of its holdings in financial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimizing the return on risk.
(i)

Price risk
The company is exposed to price risk because of the marketable securities held by the company that
are classified as fair value through profit or loss. This company is not exposed to commodity price
risk. To manage its price risk arising from marketable security is the company diversifies its
portfolio.

(27)
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(ii) Interest rate risk
The following table sets out the assets and liabilities on the earlier of contractual maturity or
repricing date. Use of the table to derive information about the company's interest rate risk position
is limited by the fact that borrowers may choose to terminate their financial instruments at a date
earlier than contractual maturity or repricing date. For example, notes receivable are shown at
contractual maturity but could prepay earlier.
Under
1 year
$
Assets
Cash
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Inventory
Demand loan receivable
Effective interest rate
Note receivable (net of
allowance for losses)
Effective interest rate
Advances to related company
Investment in private
companies
Deferred financing costs
Property and equipment
Investment properties
Restricted funds
Total assets

Over 1 to
5 years
$

13,019,938
58,058,707
6,998,502
1.13%

-

31,214,447
4.16%
-

75,316,934
4.34%
-

Over
5 years
$
19,225,432
2.00%
-

Not interest
rate sensitive
$

Total
$

1,173,258
15,868
118,553
-

13,019,938
58,058,707
1,173,258
15,868
118,553
6,998,502

1,473,399

127,230,212

3,431,483

3,431,483

-

-

-

2,440,511
570,336
2,655,394
8,852,423
215,097,010

2,440,511
570,336
2,655,394
8,852,423
215,097,010

109,291,594

75,316,934

19,225,432

235,828,235

439,662,195

Liabilities and surplus
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Note payable
Restricted funds
Effective interest rate
Surplus

53,442,963
29,073
1.86%
-

16,986,535

-

4,031,429
215,067,937

4,031,429
70,429,498
215,097,010

-

-

150,104,258

150,104,258

Total liabilities and surplus

53,472,036

16,986,535

-

369,203,624

439,662,195

Interest rate sensitivity gap

55,819,558

58,330,399

19,225,432

(133,375,389)

-

(d) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with
the company’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and
generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.

(28)
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The company’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses
and damage to the company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures
that restrict initiative and creativity. The primary responsibility for the development and implementation
of controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior management.
(e) Capital management
The primary objective of Island Investment Development Inc.'s capital management is to ensure that it
maintains a healthy financial position in order to support its business. Island Investment Development
Inc. manages its capital structure and makes changes to it in light of changes in economic conditions.

(29)

Land
Buildings and improvements
Paving and water and sewer
Furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles
Computer equipment and
software

Land
Buildings and improvements
Paving and water and sewer
Furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles
Computer equipment and
software

Additions
$
121,067
1,703,074
98,646
50,591
17,244
1,990,622

Additions
$
44,819
376,689
83,146
16,000
5,811
526,465

Beginning
$
30,043
758,577
215,071
895,963
49,856
75,601
2,025,111

Beginning
$
30,043
713,758
47,589
812,817
33,856
69,790
1,707,853

For the year ended March 31, 2018

Schedule of Property and Equipment

Island Investment Development Inc.

(209,207)

-

(209,207)
-

Grants
Received
$

Cost 2017

(560,728)

-

(560,728)
-

Grants
Received
$

Cost 2018

2,025,111

75,601

30,043
758,577
215,071
895,963
49,856

Ending
$

3,455,005

92,845

30,043
879,644
1,357,417
994,609
100,447

Ending
$

417,696

43,523

124,614
47,589
184,607
17,363

Beginning
$

583,925

52,275

149,315
51,736
305,888
24,711

Beginning
$

799,611

61,859

177,075
100,594
421,742
38,341

Ending
$

166,229

8,752

24,701
4,147
121,281
7,348

Amortization
$

583,925

52,275

149,315
51,736
305,888
24,711

Ending
$

Accumulated amortization 2017

215,686

9,584

27,760
48,858
115,854
13,630

Amortization
$

Accumulated amortization 2018

1,441,186

23,326

30,043
609,262
163,335
590,075
25,145

Net book
value
$

2017

2,655,394

30,986

30,043
702,569
1,256,823
572,867
62,106

Net book
value
$

2018

Schedule
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
March 31, 2018
The financial statements are the responsibility of management and have been prepared in
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. Management is also responsible
for the notes to the financial statements and schedules, and for ensuring that this information
is consistent, where appropriate, with the information contained in the financial statements.
Based on management’s knowledge, having exercised reasonable diligence, the financial
statements fairly represent in all material respect, the financial position as at March 31, 2018.
Management is responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal control to
provide reasonable assurance that reliable financial information is produced.
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities
for financial reporting and internal control. The Board reviews internal financial reports on a
regular basis and externally audited financial statements annually. The Board recommends
approval of the audited external financial statements and meets periodically with management
and external auditors concerning internal controls and other matters relating to financial
reporting.
Grant Thornton, Island Waste Management Corporation’s independent auditors, has
performed an audit of Island Waste Management Corporation’s financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The Independent Auditor’s
Report outlines the scope of this independent audit and includes the opinion expressed on the
financial statements. The auditors have full and free access to financial information and
management of Island Waste Management Corporation as required.

_________________________
Gerry Moore
Chief Executive Officer

_________________________
Sheri Taylor Bradley
Chief Financial Officer
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Independent auditor’s report
Grant Thornton LLP
Suite 710
98 Fitzroy Street, PO Box 187
Charlottetown, PE
C1A 7K4

To the Board of Directors of

T +1 902 892 6547
F +1 902 566 5358
www.GrantThornton.ca

Island Waste Management Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Island Waste
Management Corporation, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at March 31, 2018, the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the Corporation’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Corporation’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of

Audit • Tax • Advisory
Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Island Waste Management Corporation as at March 31, 2018
and its financial performance and its cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.
Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island
June 11, 2018

Audit • Tax • Advisory
Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

Chartered Professional Accountants
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Island Waste Management Corporation
Consolidated statement of operations and changes in net
assets
Year ended March 31
Revenues
Household user fees (Page 20)
Disposal fees (Page 20)
Tires
Decommissioning and monitoring
Environmental Industrial Services Inc. (Page 24)
Stewardships and other

2017

2018
$

Expenditures
Administration (Page 21)
Advertising, education and public relations (Page 21)
Operational costs
Residential collection (Page 21)
Disposal (Pages 22 - 23)
Tire collection and disposal (Page 23)
Decommissioning and monitoring
Interest on long-term debt
Depreciation
Environmental Industrial Services Inc. (Page 24)
Stewardships and other

14,114,980
4,419,103
965,751
21,027
1,110,580
388,876

$

13,964,992
4,153,636
875,000
20,683
986,487
538,929

21,020,317

20,539,727

1,449,261
169,669

1,484,142
153,977

5,901,682
7,320,731
965,751
21,027
1,189,870
2,446,274
1,110,580
300,324

5,669,365
7,138,752
875,000
20,683
1,275,444
2,309,168
986,487
331,504

20,875,169

20,244,522

Excess of revenues over expenditures

$

145,148

$

295,205

Net assets, beginning of year

$

2,100,188

$

1,804,983

Excess of revenues over expenditures
Net assets, end of year

295,205

145,148
$

2,245,336

$

2,100,188

See accompanying notes and schedules to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
March 31
Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (Note 3)
Term deposits
Prepaids

Performance deposits
Term deposits
Property and equipment (Note 4)

Liabilities
Current
Payables and accruals
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 5)
Debt due on demand (Note 5)

Contractor deposits
Deferred government assistance (Note 6)
Long-term debt (Note 5)
Asset retirement obligation (Note 7)

Net assets

2018

2017

$ 1,108,595
1,929,900
2,500,000
46,546
5,585,041

$ 1,569,838
1,240,725
60,671
2,871,234

294,150
1,500,000
22,153,852

194,150
4,000,000
21,045,200

$ 29,533,043

$ 28,110,584

$ 3,458,929
2,567,182
155,264
6,181,375

$ 2,173,642
2,577,541
146,613
4,897,796

294,000
2,010,135
16,369,059
2,433,138
27,287,707

194,000
224,958
18,422,632
2,271,010
26,010,396

2,245,336

2,100,188

$ 29,533,043

$ 28,110,584

Commitments (Note 8)

On behalf of the Board

Director

Director

See accompanying notes and schedules to the consolidated financial statements.
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Island Waste Management Corporation
Consolidated statement of cash flows
Year ended March 31

2017

2018

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Operating
Cash received from customers
Cash payments to suppliers
Cash payments to employees
Interest paid
Interest received

$

20,961,529
(13,077,479)
(3,382,144)
(1,201,698)
108,268

$

2,938,144

3,408,476
Financing
Proceeds from long-term debt
Government assistance received
Repayment of long-term debt

Investing
(Increase) decrease in performance deposits
Proceeds from sale of equipment
Purchase of property and equipment

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

20,235,204
(12,866,822)
(3,279,623)
(1,286,423)
135,808

612,689
1,183,571
(2,667,845)

(2,487,046)

(871,585)

(2,487,046)

(100,000)
12,441
(2,910,575)

(150)
21,795
(2,168,585)

(2,998,134)

(2,146,940)

(461,243)

(1,695,842)

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year
End of year

3,265,680

1,569,838
$

1,108,595

$

1,569,838

See accompanying notes and schedules to the consolidated financial statements.
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1.

Nature of operations

The Corporation is a Prince Edward Island crown corporation established under the provisions
of the Environmental Protection Act and therefore is exempt from income taxes under
paragraph 149(1)(d) of the Canadian Income Tax Act. The Corporation’s objective is to
implement and manage a province-wide waste management system. This includes the
collection and disposal of solid waste generated in Prince Edward Island.
Environmental Industrial Services Inc. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Island Waste
Management Corporation. The Corporation’s objective is to operate water and wastewater
facilities.
The Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiary are located at 110 Watts Avenue,
Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island.
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a
resolution of the Board of Directors on June 11, 2018.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation and adoption of IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The consolidated financial statements of the Island Waste Management Corporation comply,
in all material respects, with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) in effect as at March 31, 2018.
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statement are set out below.
Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared on a historical
cost basis. The Corporation’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar, which is the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Corporation operates, which is
also the presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Principals of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its whollyowned subsidiary, Environmental Industrial Services Inc. Significant intercompany transactions
are eliminated upon consolidation.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balances with banks, net of bank
overdrafts, and highly liquid temporary money market instruments with original maturities of
three months or less. Bank borrowings are considered to be financing activities.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of property, plant and
equipment are added to the cost of the assets until they are substantially ready for their
intended use.
Revenue recognition
Household user fees are based on an annual assessment applied to the household’s
property tax assessment. Revenue is recognized evenly on a monthly basis based on the
annual assessment rate.
Disposal revenues are recognized when the waste has been delivered to the drop off
facilities.
Tire revenues are recognized when the tires have been disposed of at disposal sites.
Revenues and earnings from utility user fees and excess expenditure recoveries are recorded
when collection is reasonably assured and all other significant conditions of service are met.
Deferred government assistance
Government grants relating to the acquisition of assets and equipment purchased by
Environmental Industrial Services Inc. are recorded as deferred credits. This account is being
amortized on the same basis as the related assets are being depreciated and is reflected as a
reduction in current depreciation expense.
Financial instruments
The Corporation designates its financial assets as loans and receivables. Financial assets are
assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. Financial assets designated as loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These
assets are comprised of accounts receivable and performance deposits. These are initially
measured at fair value and then at amortized cost less impairment. When impaired, the
carrying amount is reduced by the impairment loss directly.
Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently stated at
amortized cost. These liabilities included accounts payable and accrued liabilities, long-term
debt, debt due on demand and contractor deposits.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Accounting estimates and measurement uncertainty
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use
of judgements, assumptions, and estimates as at the date of the consolidated financial
statements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods
presented.
Measurement uncertainty exists when there is a variance between the recognized amount and
another reasonable amount. Some accounting measurements require management’s best
estimate, based on assumptions as at the consolidated financial statement date that reflect the
most probable set of economic conditions and planned courses of action.
Asset retirement obligations, employee future benefits, allowance for doubtful accounts and
depreciation are the most significant items that are based on accounting estimates. Actual
results could differ from the estimates made by management in these consolidated financial
statements, and these differences, which may be material, could require adjustment in
subsequent reporting periods. See Note 7 for additional details on the asset retirement
obligation.
Provisions
Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of
past events where it is probable that an outflow or resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation
can be made. The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the consolidated statement of financial position
date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by
the Corporation from a contract are lower than the unavoidable costs of meeting its
obligations under the contract.
Specific accounting policies
To facilitate a better understanding of the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements,
significant accounting policies are disclosed in the notes, where applicable, of the related
accounting topics. A listing of these notes is as follows:
Note

Topic

Page

4

Property and equipment

11

7

Asset retirement obligation

14

Employee future benefits

17

10

9
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Future accounting standards and reporting changes
The following are future changes in accounting policies not yet effective as of March 31,
2018.
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, as issued in 2014, introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new expected-loss impairment
model that will require more timely recognition of expected credit losses and a substantiallyreformed model for hedge accounting, which enhanced disclosures about risk management
activity. IFRS 9 also removes the volatility in profit or loss that was caused by changes in an
entity’s own credit risk for liabilities elected to be measured at fair value. IFRS 9 is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier application is permitted.
The Corporation has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this standard on
its consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, was issued in May 2014, which will
replace IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty
Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18,
Transfers of Assets from Customers, and SIC-31, Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving
Advertising Services. IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based five-step model that will
apply to all contracts with customers with limited exceptions, including, but not limited to,
leases within the scope of IAS 17; financial instruments and other contractual rights or
obligations within the scope of IFRS 9, IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and
IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements. In addition to the five-step model, the standard specifies how
to account for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to
fulfilling a contract. The incremental costs of obtaining a contract must be recognized as an
asset if the entity expects to recover these costs. The standard’s requirements will also
apply to the recognition and measurements of gains and losses on the sale of some nonfinancial assets that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities. IFRS 15 is required
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with earlier adoption permitted.
The Corporation has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this standard on
its consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 16 was issued by the IASB on January 13, 2016. The new standard introduces a single
lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all
leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A
lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying
asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. This standard
substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements of IAS 17, while requiring
enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors. The Corporation has not yet begun the
process of evaluating the impact of the standard on its consolidated financial statements.

10
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3.

Receivables

Trade
Government assistance
Sales tax, net

$

845,942
619,536
464,422

$ 1,929,900

4.

2017

2018

$

895,420
345,305

$ 1,240,725

Property and equipment

Accounting policy
Property and equipment are reported at cost less subsequent depreciation and impairment
losses. The cost of property and equipment includes expenditures that are directly attributable
to their acquisition or construction, including borrowing costs, and any other cost directly
attributable to the installation and decommissioning of the asset. Property and equipment are
depreciated over their estimated lives on the diminishing balance basis. When parts of an item
of property and equipment have materially different useful lives or patterns of benefit
consumption, they are accounted for separately (i.e., as major components). The rates used
are as follows:
Buildings
20 yrs,
Motor vehicles
5 yrs,
Office equipment
5 yrs,
Computer equipment
5 yrs,
Computer software
5 yrs,
Leasehold improvements
5 yrs,
Site equipment
5 and 10 yrs,
Leachate facility
15, 25 and 30 yrs,
Compost facility
10, 15, 20 and 25 yrs,
Waste Watch drop-off centers
15 yrs,
Waste and compost carts
10 and 20 yrs,
Waste water infrastructure
40 yrs,

straight line
straight line
straight line
straight line
straight line
straight line
straight line
straight line
straight line
straight line
straight line
straight line

Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at
least annually.
IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, requires an entity to test assets for impairment if indications of
impairment exist. Based on an analysis of cash flows, the Corporation has established that
the appropriate cash generating unit for impairment review is the entire entity. As the
Corporation has the power to increase disposal and sewer rates to ensure full funding into
the foreseeable future, impairment at the entity level is remote. As at March 31, 2018,
management conducted an impairment review at the entity level, which confirmed that there
were no significant indicators of impairment which would have a material impact on the
Corporation’s ability to generate future economic benefits from its operating non-financial
assets.

11

$

832,524

412,440

(169,321)
(29,686)
(199,007)

593,719
17,728
611,447

377,435

(199,007)
(35,005)
(234,012)

611,447
611,447

Buildings

5,560,167

(7,537,109)
(309,753)
(7,846,862)

12,526,177
880,852
13,407,029

5,359,255

(7,846,862)
(316,042)
(8,162,904)

13,407,029
115,130
13,522,159

Landfill
cells
21,448,007
722,986
22,170,993

Compost
facility
2,388,639
41,540
2,430,179

WasteWatch
drop-off
6,785,589
473,769
(154,820)
7,104,538

Waste
carts

21,445,844
2,163
21,448,007

6,581,452

2,345,872
42,767
2,388,639

619,322

6,707,432
233,543
(155,386)
6,785,589

2,979,806

1,753,058
276,248
(42,471)
1,986,835

730,689

2,032,691

6,994,481

738,410

2,874,727

891,684

(528,160) (13,356,515) (1,492,412) (3,709,914)
(971,520)
122,476
42,471
(119,275) (1,097,011)
(157,817)
(323,424)
(166,102)
(647,435) (14,453,526) (1,650,229) (3,910,862) (1,095,151)

2,138,001
542,125
2,680,126

1,937,023

Motor
vehicles

404,340 520,659
25,665 1,875,043
430,005 2,395,702

Office
EISI
equip Infrastruct.

377,687
26,653
404,340

400,169
120,490
520,659

45,079 2,234,502

291,707

34,940

381,429

(582,682) (352,596) (117,300)
91,678
(88,613) (16,804) (21,930)
(579,617) (369,400) (139,230)

820,844
167,625
(117,145)
871,324

460,265

(579,617) (369,400) (139,230)
(123,526) (15,526) (21,970)
(703,143) (384,926) (164,700)

1,986,835
871,324
107,445
292,084
(95,963)
1,998,317 1,163,408

Site
equipment

(647,435) (14,453,526) (1,650,229) (3,910,862) (1,095,151)
119,496
25,367
(123,459) (1,136,015)
(160,628)
(333,366)
(201,344)
(770,894) (15,589,541) (1,810,857) (4,124,732) (1,267,628)

2,680,126
27,791
2,707,917

Leachate
facility

Total
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$ 21,045,200

(28,817,529)
256,625
(2,330,415)
(30,891,319)

$ 49,941,327
2,310,194
(315,002)
51,936,519

$ 22,153,852

(30,891,319)
144,863
(2,466,881)
(33,213,337)

$ 51,936,519
3,681,453
(250,783)
55,367,189

As of the end of the year, the newest constructed landfill cell at the East Prince Waste Management Facility was not used. There were no current year additions. Prior year additions of
$4,935,547 are included in landfill cell cost above and has not been depreciated as of yearend.

Carrying amount

-

832,524
832,524

Gross carrying
Balance Apr 1, 2016
$
Additions
Dispositions
Balance Mar 31, 2017

Depreciation and
Impairment
Balance Apr 1, 2016
Disposals
Depreciation
Balance Mar 31, 2017

832,524

-

$

Carrying amount

Depreciation and
Impairment
Balance Apr 1, 2017
Disposals
Depreciation
Balance Mar 31, 2018

832,524
832,524

Land

Property and equipment (cont’d)

Gross carrying
Balance Apr 1, 2017
$
Additions
Dispositions
Balance Mar 31, 2018

4.

March 31, 2018
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5.

Long-term debt

6.40% debenture amortized to and maturing
in December 2027, payable in quarterly
instalments of principal and interest of $599,547.
The debenture is unconditionally secured by the
Province of Prince Edward Island.

2018

$

1.35% debenture amortized to and maturing
in January 2019, payable in monthly
instalments of principal and interest of $113,439.
1.91% debenture amortized to and maturing in
June 2022, payable in monthly instalments of
principal and interest of $10,493.
Prime plus 3% demand loan advanced to
Environmental Industrial Services Inc. as security
for the loan, the borrower has provided a
promissory note for the full amount of the loan.
The loan will not be outstanding for a period
greater than 120 months.
Less: current portion
debt due on demand
$

17,295,232 $

2017

18,536,519

1,127,400

2,463,654

513,609

-

155,264
19,091,505
2,567,182
155,264

146,613
21,146,786
2,577,541
146,613

16,369,059 $

18,422,632

Based on normal repayment terms, annual principal repayments in each of the next five years
are due as follows: 2019 - $2,567,182; 2020 - $1,528,739; 2021 - $1,623,424;
2022 - $1,724,207; 2023 - $1,736,448 and beyond 2024 - $9,911,505.

6.

Deferred government assistance

Deferred revenue represents government assistance received for water and sewer
infrastructure. The revenue will be recognized over the life of the associated water and sewer
assets.
2018
2017
Balance, beginning of year
$
224,958
151,889
Amount received or receivable during the year
1,803,106
87,500
Amount recognized as revenue during the year
(17,929)
(14,431)
Balance, end of year

$

2,010,135 $

224,958

13

172

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

Island Waste Management Corporation
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
March 31, 2018
7.

Asset retirement obligation

Accounting policy
An asset retirement obligation is recognized as a liability for obligations associated with the
closure of the Corporation’s landfill site and returning such land to its original condition as set
by standards of environmental regulations.
Asset retirement obligations are measured at the present value of management’s best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the date of the
statement of financial position. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a risk free rate. The expected cash flows reflect current market assessments
and the risks specific to the liability.
The obligation is reviewed regularly by the Corporation’s management based on current
regulations, cost, technologies and industry standards. The discounted obligation is initially
capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related landfill and a corresponding liability is
recognized. The increase in the landfill site asset is depreciated over the estimated life of the
corresponding landfill while the liability is accreted as finance expense in earnings, until
settled or sold. Subsequent to the initial measurement, the obligation is adjusted at the end of
each period to reflect the passage of time, changes in the estimated future cash flows
underlying the obligation and changes in the risk free rate. Estimated future cash flows are
based on estimated current costs adjusted to the future expected closure date by applying an
estimate of inflation. The increase in the obligation due to the passage of time is recognized
as finance expenses whereas increases and/or decreases due to changes in the estimated
future cash flows or changes in the risk free rate are capitalized. Actual costs incurred upon
settlement of the obligation are charged against the obligation to the extent the obligation
was established.
Any reduction on the obligation, and, therefore, any deduction from the asset to which it
relates, may not exceed the carrying amount of that asset. If it does, any excess over the
carrying value is taken immediately to profit or loss.
If the change in estimate results in an increase in the obligation, and, therefore, an addition to
the carrying value of the asset, the Corporation considers whether this is an indication of
impairment of the asset as a whole and, if so, tests for impairment in accordance with IAS 36.
If the revised assets net of obligation exceeds the recoverable value, that portion of the
increase is charged directly to expenses.
The following presents the reconciliation of the beginning and ending aggregate carrying
amount of the obligation:

14
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7.

Asset retirement obligation (cont’d)
2018

2017

Asset retirement obligation, beginning of year
Liabilities incurred
Accretion expense

$ 2,271,010
115,132
46,996

$ 2,084,742
141,610
44,658

Asset retirement obligation, end of year

$ 2,433,138

$ 2,271,010

The key assumptions, on which the carrying amount of the obligation is based, include a risk
free rate of 2.23% (2017 – 2.17%) and inflation rate of 2%. The total undiscounted amount of
the estimated cash flows required to settle the remaining obligation is $4,560,000 (2017 $4,560,000), of which $972,000 has been paid to date. The expected timing of payment of the
cash flow required for settling the obligation is 12 years.
8.

Commitments

The Corporation conducts a portion of its operations, the compost facility, pursuant to an
operating agreement with a third party operator. Effective April 1, 2014, the agreement provides
for the payment by the Corporation to the operator of the facility a minimum annual fee plus an
excess tonnage fee. The minimum annual fee commitment under the operating agreement is
as follows:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

$ 2,384,681
$ 2,252,756
$ 2,243,428
$ 2,281,921
$ 2,327,560
$ 2,374,110

The Corporation has entered into various agreements for the collection of recyclables, waste
and compost materials. Effective July 1, 2018 the Company will enter into its new contract for
recyclables which carries into 2026. Minimum payments for the contracts currently in place are
as follows:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026

$ 5,401,723
$ 3,915,940
$ 1,894,728
$ 1,917,531
$ 1,948,206
$ 1,979,376
$ 2,011,050
$ 504,750

The Corporation has entered into a waste processing agreement dated August 8, 1995 to
supply PEI Energy Systems with a minimum annual guaranteed amount of 30,617 metric
tonnes of waste. The 30 year agreement, expiring in August 2025, provides for the payment by
the Corporation of a $45 per metric tonne quarterly fee adjusted for consumer price index
fluctuations. Any shortage is the responsibility of the Corporation. Current annual costs for the
waste processing are estimated at $2,117,000 (2017 - $2,094,000).
15
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9.

Financial risk management

The Corporation’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, receivables,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt.
Financial risk factors
The following sections describe the Corporation’s financial risk exposure and related mitigation
strategies:
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Corporation is subject to credit risk
through trade receivables. The Corporation mitigates credit risk associated with its trade
receivables through establishing credit approval limits and a regular monitoring process. The
Corporation generally considers the credit quality of its financial assets that are neither past
due or impaired to be solid. Credit risk is mitigated due to the large number of customers.
Allowance for doubtful accounts is reviewed at each balance sheet date. The Corporation
updates its estimates of allowances for doubtful accounts based on customer history.
Household user fees are collected by the Province of Prince Edward Island through its
provincial tax system.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss arising from changes in interest rates.
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Corporation to interest rate risk include
financial liabilities with floating interest rates. The Corporation currently has no financial
instruments which are exposed to interest rate risk due to floating rates but is exposed to risk
associated with fixed term debt that matures as noted in Note 5.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation may not have cash available to satisfy financial
liabilities as they come due. The Corporation prepares an annual cash flow budget which it
monitors on a monthly basis to ensure that it has sufficient available funds to meet current
and foreseeable future financial requirements.
Market risk
The Corporation is subject to market risk related to the price of diesel fuel. The Corporation
has entered into various agreements for the collection of recyclables, waste and compost
materials. These contracts include a provision that requires the Corporation to pay an annual
fuel adjustment based on the annual average price of diesel fuel as compared to the base
rate per the contract. For the year end March 31, 2018, had the average price of diesel fuel
increased or decreased by 10% during the year, the earnings of the Corporation would have
increased or decreased by approximately $10,000 (2017 - $49,000). The Corporation
currently has no strategy in place to mitigate this risk. Management does monitor the current
price of fuel on a regular basis.

16
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9.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

Fair values
The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to the short term maturity of these instruments
or terms of the instrument. The carrying amount for the long-term debt approximated fair
value as the interest rate was reflective of rates available for similar debt.
IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments – Disclosures”, prescribes the following three-level fair value
hierarchy for disclosure purposes based on the transparency of the inputs used to measure
the fair values of the asset and liabilities:
a) Level 1 – quoted price (unadjusted) of identical instruments in active markets that the
reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date.
b) Level 2 – inputs are quoted prices of similar instruments in active markets, quoted
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, inputs other
than quoted prices used in a valuation model that are observable for that instrument,
and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market
data by correlation or other means.
c) Level 3 – one or more significant inputs used in a valuation technique are
unobservable for the instruments.
Determination of fair value and the resulting hierarchy requires the use of observable market
data whenever available. The classification of a financial instrument in the hierarchy is based
upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the measurement of fair value
The Corporation’s financial instruments measured at fair value are cash and cash equivalents
and are recorded based on level 1 measurement.

10. Employee future benefits
Short term benefits
The Corporation’s short term benefits for qualified active employees include base salary,
compensated absences, group life insurance, dental and medical coverage.
Pension plan
The permanent employees of the Corporation participate in the multi-employer contributory
defined benefit pension plan administered by the Province of Prince Edward Island under the
Civil Service Superannuation Act. The Civil Service Superannuation Fund provides pensions
to employees of the Provincial Government and certain crown corporations and agencies
based on the length of service and average salary. Since sufficient information is not readily
available to account for the Corporation’s participation in the plan using defined benefit
pension plan accounting, these financial statements have been prepared using accounting
rules for defined contribution pension plans. The current year expense for this pension plan is
$185,000 (2017 - $173,000).
At March 31, 2017, the Civil Service Superannuation Fund reported that the pension plan was
100% funded.
17
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10. Employee future benefits (cont’d)
Retirement pay benefits
The Corporations currently provides a retirement pay benefit equal to one weeks’ pay for each
year of service, subject to a maximum benefit equal to 26 weeks’ pay. The retirement pay
benefit is payable upon retirement. Employees qualify at retirement if they have accrued 10
years of service, attained age 55 and are eligible to receive a pension from the Civil Service
Superannuation Fund. Retirement pay benefits are accrued on an annual basis based on
eligibility and are reflected in the accounts payable at year end.
Employee benefits risks
The Corporation’s defined benefit plan is indirectly exposed to economic risks with respect to
measurement risk from assumptions based on economic factors, such as discount rates
affected by volatile bond markets. Benefit obligations are exposed to uncertainty of future
economic conditions, primarily inflation risk due to uncertainty of the timing of the payments.
Demographic factors affect current and future benefit costs with respect to the amount and
time horizon of expected payments due to such factors as workforce average age and
earnings levels, attrition and retirement rates.
The Corporation is also exposed to funding risk in the multi-employer plans arising from
legislative changes affecting eligibility for and amount of pension and related benefits and
performance of plan assets affected by investment policies set by the government. Because
these plans are governed by legislation rather than contract, there is little flexibility for
participants with respect to withdrawal from the plan, plan wind up or amendments and
funding requirements.

11. Related party transactions
Included in these consolidated financial statements are transactions with various Prince Edward
Island crown corporations, departments, agencies and boards related to the Corporation by
virtue of common influence by the Government of Prince Edward Island. Routine operating
transactions in the ordinary course of business with related parties are settled at prevailing
market prices under normal trade terms.
The table below presents total compensation of the key management personnel, which
includes the Board of Directors and senior executive management. Board of Director
honorariums are paid based on standards set and approved by the Treasury Board.
2017

2018
Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

$
$

212,120
25,950
238,070

$
$

206,176
24,905
231,081

18

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

177

Island Waste Management Corporation
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
March 31, 2018
12. Rate regulation
The Corporation is subject to rate regulation on the household user fees and disposal fees
charged to residents of Prince Edward Island under the Island Regulatory Appeals
Commission Act. The purpose of this Act, which is administered by the Island Regulatory and
Appeal Commission (IRAC), is to regulate the rate the Corporation may charge for collection
and disposal of solid waste within Prince Edward Island and to ensure at all times a just and
reasonable price for this service. Changes in household user fees and disposal fees can only
be implemented with the approval of IRAC.

13. Capital management
The Corporation’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard the Corporation’s ability to
support the normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis, support any capital
expenditures that may be required in the normal operations of the Corporation and generate
sufficient cash flow to manage its existing debt.
The Corporation’s capital consists of cash and cash equivalents, long-term debt and net assets.
The Corporation’s primary uses of these funds are to finance capital expenditures, repay debt
obligations and fund normal operations. In order to facilitate the management of its capital
requirements, the Corporation prepares annual operating budgets and actual to budget
forecasts on a quarterly basis. To maintain or obtain additional capital, the Corporation may
issue new debt, reduce operating costs, utilize the central banking credit agreement or make a
request to IRAC to increase household user and disposal fees.
The Corporation is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and there have been
no changes with respect to the overall capital risk management strategy during the year.

14. Bank indebtedness
The Company has an authorized operating overdraft of $2,000,000 from the P.E.I. Treasury
Board. The operating overdraft bears interest at prime less 0.1% for up to $2,000,000. Prime at
March 31, 2018 was 3.45%. As security, the Company has provided a general security
agreement on its investments (term deposits) held with Toronto Dominion Bank. The overdraft
protection does not require financial guarantee.

15. Other matters
Costs associated with the closure and decommissioning of provincial dump sites are the
responsibility of the Province of Prince Edward Island.
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2017

2018

Household user fees
Billed by Island Waste Management Corporation
Billed through property taxes
Cart revenues
Refunds and adjustments

$

90,201
14,085,957
2,032
(63,210)

$

73,308
13,955,755
2,381
(66,452)

$

14,114,980

$

13,964,992

Disposal fees
East Prince Waste Management facility
Energy from Waste
Central Compost facility
Brockton
Dingwells Mills
Murray River
New London
Other

$ 2,569,206
1,139,363
324,764
115,519
99,725
73,892
96,371
263

$ 2,370,344
1,111,283
336,375
101,050
85,180
59,981
89,703
(280)

$ 4,419,103

$ 4,153,636
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2017

2018

Administration
Dues and memberships
Insurance
Interest and bank charges
Miscellaneous
Office equipment
Office supplies
Professional fees
Rent
Repairs and maintenance
Salaries and benefits
Supplies
Telephone
Travel
Utilities

$

2,720
24,665
11,828
6,945
1,121
16,808
32,830
16,800
19,133
1,200,594
6,416
35,879
41,574
31,948

$ 1,449,261

$

2,938
22,868
10,979
7,178
1,020
20,300
29,992
16,800
21,009
1,225,670
19,941
36,969
36,274
32,204

$ 1,484,142

Advertising, education and public relations
Advertising
Education
Public relations
Wages and benefits

$

$

3,774
83,092
23,414
59,389

3,027
78,724
13,539
58,687

$ 153,977

$ 169,669

Residential collection
Cart purchases and write-offs
Collection contracts
Compost and waste
Recyclables
Operations support technicians
Wages and benefits
Vehicle and supplies

$

80,262

$

48,398

3,981,549
1,251,941

3,831,808
1,230,747

522,081
65,849

492,644
65,768

$ 5,901,682

$ 5,669,365
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2017

2018

Disposal
East Prince Waste Management facility
Accretion
Equipment rental
Gas and oil
Household hazardous waste
Leachate disposal

$

Office and miscellaneous
Repairs and maintenance
Salaries, wages and benefits
Security
Supplies and materials
Telephone
Travel and conferences
Utilities

46,998
31,063
60,418
17,556
56,242

$

44,655
15,830
56,114
18,535
51,588

19,783
218,307
494,400
7,413
180,132
3,349
3,925
48,066

24,952
248,949
495,069
7,046
120,655
3,213
873
41,116

$ 1,187,652

$ 1,128,595

$

1,545
1,535

$

2,340
1,456

$

3,080

$

3,796

$

224,707
2,084,133
10,452
2,460
110,505

$

226,829
2,134,724
2,479
3,790
93,052

Queens County Regional Landfill
Repairs and maintenance
Utilities

Energy from Waste
Fly ash disposal
PEI Energy Systems
Repairs and maintenance – scale
Scale house supplies
Wages and benefits – scale operator and inspector

$ 2,432,257

$ 2,460,874

$ 2,103,697
44,406
301
83,064
59,258

$ 2,030,489
45,739
272
77,843
58,463

$ 2,290,726

$ 2,212,806

Central Composting facility
Contract
Insurance
Property tax
Repairs and maintenance
Wages and benefits
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Island Waste Management Corporation
Consolidated schedule of expenditures
Year ended March 31

2017

2018

Disposal (cont’d)
Waste Watch Drop-Off Centers
Blue bag disposal
Green Isle Environmental contract
Household hazardous waste
Material and supplies
Miscellaneous and asphalt shingles
Repairs and maintenance
Security
Signage
Telephone
Travel
Utilities
Wages and benefits

$

32,000
424,783
112,322
46,353
1,639
236,868
984
2,751
6,895
11,191
10,583
347,806

$

32,000
344,060
106,513
24,957
11,841
257,074
984
1,609
6,740
14,599
10,321
314,824

$ 1,234,175

$ 1,125,522

$

71,692
3,869
95,630

$

85,697
5,735
115,727

$

171,191

$

207,159

Transportation of material
Motor vehicle
Supplies
Wages and benefits

$ 7,320,731

$ 7,138,752

$

284,282
681,469

$

268,088
606,912

$

965,751

$

875,000

Tire collection and disposal
Collection
Disposal
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Island Waste Management Corporation
Consolidated schedule of utility operations
Year ended March 31, 2018

Revenues

2018
Operating
costs

Revenues

2017
Operating
costs

$ 399,177
21,112
122,551
13,418
86,006
3,937
57,795
142,232
9,939
75,100
50,785
698
91,377
36,453

$ 399,177
21,112
122,551
13,418
86,006
3,937
57,795
142,232
9,939
75,100
50,785
698
91,377
36,453

$ 400,257
17,565
103,385
28,056
80,605
3,068
18,162
122,474
1,789
82,778
45,815
5,931
47,005
29,597

$ 400,257
17,565
103,385
28,056
80,605
3,068
18,162
122,474
1,789
82,778
45,815
5,931
47,005
29,597

$ 1,110,580

$ 1,110,580

$ 986,487

$ 986,487

2018

Albany
Bloomfield
Brudenell
Correctional services
Crowbush
Eastern School
Finance PEI
Georgetown
Humpty Dumpty
Mill River
Northport - Alberton
Other
Parks
Western School

2017

Included in the costs above are wages of $492,481 (2017 - $452,710), depreciation of $6,858
(2017 - $6,816) and interest of $8,106 (2017 - $8,559).
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Fax: 902 892 0383
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BDO Canada LLP
155 Belvedere Avenue, Suite 200
PO Box 2158
Charlottetown PE C1A 8B9 Canada

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Directors of Prince Edward Island 2014 Inc.
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Prince Edward Island 2014 Inc.
which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018 and the statements
of operations, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers the internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the
international BDO network of independent member firms.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Prince Edward Island 2014 Inc. as at March 31, 2018 and the results of its
operations, changes in its net financial assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.
Emphasis of Matter
We draw attention to Note 1 of the financial statements which describes the change to
liquidation basis of accounting as a result of the Board of Directors intent to dissolve the
organization. Our conclusion is not qualified in this respect.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island
July 9, 2018
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PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND 2014 INC.
Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017
2018

2017

Financial Assets
Cash
GST/HST receivable

$

5,772
5,343
11,115

$

392,197
4,707
396,904

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2,710

Net financial assets and accumulated surplus

$

8,405

$

396,904

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
On Behalf of the Board:
Director
Director

1
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PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND 2014 INC.
Statement of Operations

Year ended March 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017
Budget
2018
Revenue:
Expense recoveries

$

Expenses:
Administration
Government transfers

Annual deficit
Accumulated surplus, beginning of the year
Accumulated surplus, end of the year

$

-

Actual
2018

$

-

Actual
2017

$

74

7,000
381,500
388,500

6,999
381,500
388,499

7,335
7,335

(388,500)

(388,499)

(7,261)

396,904

396,904

8,404

$

8,405

404,165
$

396,904

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND 2014 INC.
Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets

Year ended March 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017

Annual deficit

Budget
2018

Actual
2018

$ (388,500)

$ (388,499)

Net financial assets, beginning of the year
Net financial assets, end of the year

396,904
$

8,404

Actual
2017
$

396,904
$

8,405

(7,261)
404,165

$

396,904

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND 2014 INC.
Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended March 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017
2018
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from government transfers and grants
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cash paid for government transfers
Interest paid

$

Decrease in cash

$

(386,425)

Cash, beginning of the year
Cash, end of the year

(4,896)
(381,500)
(29)

2017

(8,283)

392,197
$

5,772

124,082
(132,330)
(35)

400,480
$

392,197

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND 2014 INC.
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2018

1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies:
(a) Management's responsibility for the financial statements:
The financial statements of the organization are the responsibility of management. They
have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.
Prince Edward Island 2014 Inc. ("the organization") is a not-for-profit entity incorporated
under the laws of Prince Edward Island. Its principal activities include planning,
management and execution of the commemorative activities for the 150th anniversary of
the 1864 historic events leading to Confederation.
The entity is exempt from income taxes in accordance with certain provisions of the
Income Tax Act.
On June 21, 2017, the Board of Directors of the entity passed a resolution to pay out
surplus funds as government transfers with the intent to liquidate the entity. As a result,
the organization has prepared its financial statements on the basis of liquidation value of
its assets and liabilities.
(b) Government transfers:
When the organization is the recipient, government transfers are recognized as revenue in
the financial statements when the transfer is authorized and any eligibility criteria are
met, except to the extent that transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets
the definition of a liability. Transfers are recognized as deferred revenue when transfer
stipulations give rise to a liability. Transfer revenue is recognized in the statement of
operations as the stipulation liabilities are settled.
When the organization is the transferor, government transfers are recognized as an
expense in the statement of operations when they are authorized and all eligibility
requirements have been met by the recipient.
(c) Financial instruments:
Financial instruments are measured at cost or amortized cost. The carrying value of these
financial instruments is presented in the statement of financial position. Financial
instruments are tested annually for impairment.
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P.E.I. Advisory Council on the Status of Women

Audited Financial Statements for P.E.I. Advisory Council on the Status of Women for
the year ended March 31, 2018 were not provided to the Office of the Comptroller as
required by Section 70 (4) of the Financial Administration Act. Unaudited, draft financial
statements were used in the preparation of the Public Accounts.
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217

P.E.I. Aquaculture and Fisheries Research Initiative Inc.

Audited Financial Statements for P.E.I. Aquaculture and Fisheries Research Initiative
Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2018 were not provided to the Office of the
Comptroller as required by Section 70 (4) of the Financial Administration Act.
Unaudited, draft financial statements were used in the preparation of the Public
Accounts.
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P.E.I. Civil Service Superannuation Fund

Audited Financial Statements for P.E.I. Civil Service Superannuation Fund for the year
ended March 31, 2018 were not provided to the Office of the Comptroller as required by
Section 70 (4) of the Financial Administration Act. Unaudited, draft financial statements
were used in the preparation of the Public Accounts.
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271

P.E.I. Housing Corporation

Audited Financial Statements for P.E.I. Housing Corporation for the year ended March
31, 2018 were not provided to the Office of the Comptroller as required by Section 70
(4) of the Financial Administration Act. Unaudited, draft financial statements were used
in the preparation of the Public Accounts.
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343

P.E.I. Pension Plan for Members of the Legislative Assembly

Audited Financial Statements for P.E.I. Pension Plan for Members of the Legislative
Assembly for the year ended December 31, 2017 were not provided to the Office of the
Comptroller as required by Section 70 (4) of the Financial Administration Act.
Unaudited, draft financial statements were used in the preparation of the Public
Accounts.
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345

P.E.I. Public Trustee

Audited Financial Statements for P.E.I. Public Trustee for the year ended March 31,
2018 were not provided to the Office of the Comptroller as required by Section 70 (4) of
the Financial Administration Act. Unaudited, draft financial statements were used in the
preparation of the Public Accounts.
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387

P.E.I. Teachers’ Superannuation Fund

Audited Financial Statements for P.E.I. Teachers’ Superannuation Fund for the year
ended June 30, 2017 were not provided to the Office of the Comptroller as required by
Section 70 (4) of the Financial Administration Act. Unaudited, draft financial statements
were used in the preparation of the Public Accounts.
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SUMMERSIDE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
MARCH 31, 2018
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SUMMERSIDE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD.
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
MARCH 31, 2018
2017

2018
Financial Assets
Cash
Accounts receivable

$

322,574
24,431

$

358,479
170,895

347,005

529,374

166,231
12,139,612

318,299
14,108,720

12,305,843

14,427,019

(11,958,838)

(13,897,645)

12,784,488

14,730,756

984,840
9,264

1,123,951
16,030

13,778,592

15,870,737

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Long-term debt (Note 2)
Net debt
Non-financial Assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 3)
Leasehold inducements less accumulated
amortization of $1,101,820; 2017 - $1,033,790
Prepaid expenses
Accumulated surplus

$ 1,819,754

$

1,973,092

Summerside Regional Development Corporation Ltd.
_____________________________ Director
_____________________________ Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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SUMMERSIDE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD.
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018
Budget
Income
Property income
Interest income

$

Expenses
Property operating expenses
Property taxes
Amortization
General and administration
Promotion and development
Interest on long-term debt
Loss before other income

1,959,400

1,988,489

2,019,051

525,250
203,700
766,400
311,000
20,200
526,800

505,313
200,044
755,922
292,804
7,563
533,258

602,491
214,297
695,977
295,385
20,365
487,244

2,353,350

2,294,904

2,315,759

(393,950)

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year
Accumulated surplus, end of year

$ 1,984,690
3,799

-

Annual deficit
$

2017

1,957,400
2,000

(393,950)

Other income
Gain on sale of tangible capital
assets

2018
$

(306,415)

(296,708)

153,077

-

(153,338)

1,973,092

1,973,092

1,579,142

$ 1,819,754

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

2,016,282
2,769

(296,708)
2,269,800
$

1,973,092

4.
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SUMMERSIDE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD.
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET DEBT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018

Annual deficit
Purchase of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets

$

2018

2017

(153,338) $

(296,708)

616,811
1,329,457

Amortization of leasehold inducements

139,111

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses
Decrease (increase) in net debt
Net debt, beginning of year
Net debt, end of year

(1,081,274)
538,885
157,092

6,766

(2,716)

1,938,807

(684,721)

(13,897,645)

(13,212,924)

$ (11,958,838) $ (13,897,645)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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SUMMERSIDE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018
2017

2018
Operating activities
Cash received from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Interest earned
Interest paid

$ 2,131,153
(1,151,025)
3,799
(533,258)

Financing activities
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Capital activities
Purchase of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets

$

1,981,554
(1,280,225)
2,769
(487,244)

450,669

216,854

(646,723)

1,239,850
(407,013)

(646,723)

832,837

160,149

(1,081,274)
-

160,149

(1,081,274)

Decrease in cash

(35,905)

(31,583)

Cash, beginning of year

358,479

390,062

Cash, end of year

$

322,574

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

$

358,479

6.
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SUMMERSIDE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
1. Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Management's responsibility for the financial statements
The financial statements of the Summerside Regional Development Corporation Ltd.
are the responsibility of management. They have been prepared in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards as established by the Public Sector
Accounting Board. The Corporation's mandate is to develop new and under-utilized
properties, that advance the economic development goals of Summerside. The
Corporation is a non-taxable entity under the provisions of the Income Tax Act.
(b) Non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for
the use in the provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the
current year and are not intended for sale in the normal course of operations. The
change in non-financial assets during the year, together with the excess of revenues
over expenses, provides the consolidated change in net debt for the year.
(c) Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are
directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the
asset. The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life as indicated in Note 3.
(d) Leasehold inducements
Leasehold inducements relate to incentives paid to tenants as part of their lease
agreements. The incentives are being amortized using the straight-line method over
the terms of the applicable lease.
(e) Revenue recognition
Revenue from rental properties is recognized over the term of the leases when
collection is reasonable assured and performance is substantially complete.
Interest income is recorded in the period earned.
Government assistance relating to general operations are recorded as revenue in the
period in which they are received. Grants relating to the delivery of specific programs
are recorded as revenue in the period in which they relate.
Government assistance relating to capital expenditures are recognized as revenue in
the period in which events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the assistance is
authorized, the amount can be reasonably estimated, any eligibility criteria have been
met and there are no stipulations that give rise to a possible obligation.

7.
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SUMMERSIDE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
1.Significant Accounting Policies (continued):
(f) Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. In
subsequent periods, financial instruments are reported at cost or amortized cost less
impairment, if applicable. Transaction costs are charged to the financial instrument
for those measured at amortized cost. Financial assets are tested for impairment when
changes in circumstances indicate the asset could be impaired.
(g) Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Such estimates include determining the useful lives of tangible capital assets
for amortization purposes. Actual results could differ from management's best
estimates as additional information becomes available in the future.
2. Long-term Debt
2017

2018
Finance PEI loan payable, interest at 5.00% per annum,
repayable in monthly payments of $ 31,802 including
interest, due in and amortized to July, 2031. As
security the company has provided a promissory note,
an assignment of the sub-sublease, corporate
guarantee, and 1st position general security
agreement on all assets at the location in Slemon
Park, PE
$ 3,671,189
Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency loan payable,
interest at 0.00% per annum, repayable in monthly
payments of $13,900, due in and amortized to June,
2025

1,209,300

$

3,864,312

1,376,100

8.
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SUMMERSIDE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
2. Long-term Debt (continued)
Prince Edward Island Century 2000 Fund Inc. loan repaid
during the year
Prince Edward Island Century 2000 Fund Inc. loan
payable, interest at 4.64% per annum, repayable in
monthly payments of $39,434 including interest, due
August 2021 and amortized to August 2046. As
security the company has provided a promissory note
and a first collateral mortgage on land and buildings
located at 109 Water Street, 268 Water Street and
250-262 Water Street, Summerside, PE, assignment of
property insurance, and assignment of lease(s) and
rent(s)

-

1,322,385

7,259,123

7,545,923

$ 12,139,612

$ 14,108,720

The aggregate required principal repayments of long-term debt for each of the years
subsequent to March 31, 2018 are as follows: 2019 - $508,800; 2020 - $525,800; 2021 $543,600; 2022 - $562,300; 2023 - $581,900.

9.
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SUMMERSIDE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
3. Tangible Capital Assets

Cost
Holman Centre
Land
$
150,000
Pavement
10,000
Building
8,797,239
109 Water Street
Land
61,958
Pavement
70,922
Building
694,185
268 Water Street
Land
5,400
Building
218,450
105 Industrial Crescent
Land
Building
Furniture and
equipment
88,408
Other properties held
for development
336,848
Test Cell
5,520,989
Marina
1
$15,954,400

2018
Accumulated
Amortization
$

6,000
1,796,952

2017
Net Book
Value

Net Book
Value
$

150,000
4,000
7,000,287

$

150,000
5,000
7,232,703

70,922
513,626

61,958
180,559

61,958
195,320

58,177

5,400
160,273

5,400
165,874

-

-

58,371
1,264,014

83,739

4,669

7,780

640,496
-

336,848
4,880,493
1

343,920
5,240,415
1

$ 3,169,912

$12,784,488

$ 14,730,756

The estimated useful lives used to calculate amortization on the above capital assets are
as follows:
Buildings
40 years
Pavement
10 years
Equipment
5 and 10 years
Test Cell
15 years

10.
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SUMMERSIDE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
4. Related Party Transactions
Included in accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are the
following amounts due to and from related parties:
2017

2018
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to the Province of Prince Edward Island

$

89,998

$

241,299

The Province of Prince Edward Island is the sole shareholder of the Summerside Regional
Development Corporation Ltd.
The long-term debt of $10,930,312 (2017 - $12,732,620) is due to the Province of Prince
Edward Island, Crown Corporations or their subsidiaries. The company incurred interest of
$579,249 (2017 - $595,493) on this debt during the year.
During the year the company recorded property income of $997,365 (2017 - $1,018,860),
from the Province of Prince Edward Island, Crown Corporations or their subsidiaries; and
sold the 105 Industrial Crescent property to the Province of Prince Edward Island for
settlement of long-term debt in the amount of $ 1,322,385.
5. Comparative Figures
Certain of the prior year figures have been restated to conform to the presentation
adopted for the current year.

11.
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Management's Report
The integrity, relevance and comparability of the data in the accompanying financial statements are the
responsibility of management.
The financial statements are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
Canada. A summary of the significant accounting policies is disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.
The preparation of financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management's
judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current period cannot be finalized with a certainty until
future periods.
To meet its responsibility, management maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in compliance with
legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is available on a timely basis for
preparation of the financial statements. These systems are monitored and evaluated by management.
Management is accountable to the Board of Directors of Tourism PEI on matters of financial reporting and
internal controls. Management provides the Board with externally audited financial statements annually. The
Board also discusses any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to their approval of
the financial statements.
The financial statements have been audited by ArsenaultBestCameronEllis, independent external auditors
appointed by the Board. The accompanying Independent Auditor's Report outlines their responsibilities, the
scope of their examination and their opinion on the financial statements.
On behalf of Tourism PEI
___________________________________
Cheryl Paynter, CPA, CA
Chief Executive Officer
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July 17, 2018
Independent Auditor's Report
To the Minister of Economic Development and Tourism
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Tourism PEI, which comprise the statement
of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the statements of operations, changes in net debt and cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Tourism PEI as at March 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants
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Tourism PEI
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2018
2018
$

2017
$

Assets
Financial assets
Cash
Accounts receivable (notes 3 and 5)
Due from Province of Prince Edward
Island (note 2)

1,780,595
909,296

1,495,017
795,491

7,371

55,283

2,697,262

2,345,791

2,702,913
141,142

2,294,673
155,309

2,844,055

2,449,982

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5)
Deferred revenue (note 4)

Net debt
Inventory
Prepaid expenses

Accumulated surplus

Approved by the Corporation
_____________________________ Minister
( 1)

(146,793)

(104,191)

135,563
11,230

90,621
13,570

146,793

104,191

-

-
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Tourism PEI
Statement of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2018
2018

2018

2017

Budget
(unaudited)
$

Actual
$

Actual
$

Revenue
Grants from Province of Prince Edward Island
Marketing
Visitor Services
Brookvale Ski Park
Park Operations
Golf Operations
Book PEI fees

13,982,500
650,000
95,000
412,500
1,010,000
3,407,700
35,000

13,590,419
660,979
104,618
470,926
1,184,588
3,974,616
33,160

13,602,659
684,399
92,109
444,051
1,074,809
3,762,116
37,550

19,592,700

20,019,306

19,697,693

424,800
358,600
2,797,900
799,600
4,090,100
3,297,500
205,200
138,900
794,000
795,600
4,191,100
332,800
413,800
411,000
541,800

362,356
354,729
3,011,697
1,075,196
4,518,117
2,930,844
180,878
136,640
789,201
825,676
4,374,179
256,465
353,019
356,906
493,403

755,320
350,973
2,701,994
876,558
4,380,290
2,937,980
181,014
78
663,606
716,536
4,582,501
321,048
380,544
359,634
489,617

19,592,700

20,019,306

19,697,693

-

-

-

Expenses (Schedule)
Finance and Administration
Parks Administration
Park Operations
Brookvale
Golf Operations
Strategy and Evaluation
Regulation and Compliance
French Services
Digital Marketing
Visitor Services
Advertising and Public Relations
Media Relations/Editorial
Fulfillment
Publications
Travel/Trade Sales

Operating surplus

( 2)
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Tourism PEI
Statement of Changes in Net Debt
For the year ended March 31, 2018

Operating surplus

Acquisition of inventory
Acquisition of prepaid expenses
Consumption of inventory
Use of prepaid expenses

2018
$

2017
$

-

-

(135,563)
(11,230)
90,621
13,570

(90,621)
(13,570)
129,343
2,390

(42,602)

27,542

(42,602)

27,542

Net debt - Beginning of year

(104,191)

(131,733)

Net debt - End of year

(146,793)

(104,191)

Decrease (increase) in net debt

( 3)
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Tourism PEI
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2018
2018
$

2017
$

-

-

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Operating surplus

Net change in non-cash working capital items
Increase in accounts receivable
Decrease (increase) in due from the Province of Prince Edward Island
Decrease (increase) in inventory
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue
Decrease in due to the Province of Prince Edward Island

Net change in cash

(113,805)
47,912
(44,942)
2,340
408,240
(14,167)
-

(51,601)
(55,283)
38,722
(11,180)
(113,577)
23,359
(133,604)

285,578

(303,164)

Cash - Beginning of year

1,495,017

1,798,181

Cash - End of year

1,780,595

1,495,017

( 4)
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Tourism PEI
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
Tourism PEI became a Crown corporation effective March 31, 1999 under the Tourism PEI Act passed by the
Government of Prince Edward Island on June 8, 1999. The objectives of Tourism PEI are to carry out tourism
related activities of the Province of Prince Edward Island.
The financial results of the corporation are included in the public accounts of the Province of Prince Edward
Island.

1

Summary of significant accounting policies
The financial statements of the corporation have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of CPA Canada. The following is a
summary of significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these statements.
Financial instruments
The Corporation's financial instruments consists of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities and due from the Province of Prince Edward Island.
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at
cost or amortized cost
Cash
Cash consists of cash on hand and bank balances.
Due to/from the Province of Prince Edward Island
Current operations:
Excess revenue (expense) for the year for Tourism PEI is recorded as a reduction (increase) in Grants from
Province of Prince Edward Island and as an amount due to (from) the Province of Prince Edward Island.
Inventory
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost, determined using the average cost method, and market. Market is
defined as net realizable value.
Revenue recognition and government assistance
Grants from the Province of Prince Edward Island are recorded as revenue when authorized. Revenue from
marketing activities is recorded when billed and revenue from Brookvale ski park, park operations, services
and fees is recorded when earned as services are provided.
Revenue from golf operation is recognized when goods or services are delivered to the customer and ultimate
collection is reasonably assured.
Deferred revenue is recorded when fees have been collected but the service has not been delivered.

(5)
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Tourism PEI
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
Expenses
Expenses are recorded in the period in which the related goods and services are consumed except for certain
marketing related expenditures, recorded in marketing expenses, that are recorded in the period the goods and
services are acquired and a liability incurred and program grant expenditures, recorded in Strategy and
Evaluation, that are recorded in the period in which the funds are approved for disbursement and a
corresponding liability incurred.
Vacation pay and pension liabilities
The staff of Tourism PEI are employees of the Province of Prince Edward Island. Direct costs for employees
of the Province of Prince Edward Island allocated to Tourism PEI are charged to the company on a per-payroll
basis. Since the staff are employees of the Province, accrued vacation pay and pension obligations are
liabilities of the Province and not the corporation and no liability for these costs has been accrued by the
corporation as at March 31, 2018.
Management estimates
The presentation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reported period. Significant items subject to such estimates
and assumptions include the valuation of accounts receivable. Actual amounts could differ.

2

Due from the Province of Prince Edward Island

Current operations
Excess expenditures for the year - Tourism PEI

3

2018
$

2017
$

(7,371)

(55,283)

2018
$

2017
$

653,787
387,414
(131,905)

626,166
301,230
(131,905)

909,296

795,491

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable
HST receivable
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts

(6)
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Tourism PEI
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

4

Deferred revenue
2018
$
Gift certificates
Prepaid golf passes and fees

5

2017
$

78,853
62,289

96,652
58,657

141,142

155,309

Related party transactions
During the year, the corporation utilized office premises from a Department of the Province of Prince Edward
Island for nil (2017 - nil) consideration.
Tourism PEI utilizes the provincial parks, including Brookvale Ski Park, the provincial golf courses, the
provincial day parks and the full service campgrounds, as well as the Visitor Information Centres in carrying
out its mandate. Tourism PEI paid rent of nil (2017 - nil) to utilize these facilities.
Included in accounts receivable is $1,593 (2017 - $531) due from departments of the Province of Prince
Edward Island. Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is an amount of $1,956 (2017 - $10,081)
due to departments of the Province of Prince Edward Island and $40,923 (2017 - $47,846) due to a provincial
Crown corporation.

6

Commitments
(a)

Tourism PEI has entered in various contracts resulting in the following commitments for the next five
years:
$
Year ending March 31, 2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

(b)

2,012,090
1,549,014
479,300
200,000
200,000

The minimum annual lease payments required over the next year under operating leases for equipment
and software expiring in November 2018 and October 2021 are as follows:
Equipment
$
Year ending March 31, 2019
2020
2021
2022

(7)

30,944
5,600
5,600
5,600
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Tourism PEI
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
There is a requirement to pay the corporation's pro rata share, based on rental space, of the operating costs,
including property taxes, of the clubhouse premises in Brudenell, which amounted to $39,356 (2017 $39,356).

7

Financial risk management objectives and policies
Tourism PEI’s principal business activities result in a statement of financial position that consists primarily of
financial instruments. The principal financial risks that arise from transacting financial instruments include
credit, liquidity, market and operational risk. Authority for all risk-taking activities rests with the Board of
Directors (Board), which approves risk management policies, delegates limits and regularly reviews
management’s risk assessments and compliance with approved policies. Qualified professionals throughout
Tourism PEI manage these risks through comprehensive and integrated control processes and models,
including regular review and assessment of risk measurement and reporting processes.
(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty of a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises primarily from the company’s
accounts receivable.
Accounts receivable includes trade receivables, HST receivable and other accrued receivables.

Tourism PEI's maximum exposure to credit risk is $909,296, its carrying value of accounts receivable as
noted on the statement of financial position.
Details of the carrying value of accounts receivable that are past due at the financial statement date are as
follows:
Allowance
Up to 90 Over 90 days for doubtful
2018
Current days overdue
overdue
accounts
Total
$
$
$
$
$
Accounts receivable
400,457
36,703
108,887
(131,905)
414,142
Trade receivables
387,414
387,414
HST receivable
107,740
107,740
Other receivables

895,611

36,703

(8)

108,887

(131,905)

909,296

442

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

Tourism PEI
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

Up to 90 Over 90 days
Current days overdue
overdue
$
$
$
Accounts receivable
Trade receivables
HST receivable
Other receivables

Allowance
for doubtful
accounts
$

2017
Total
$

398,916
301,230
110,575

2,762
-

113,913
-

(131,905)
-

383,686
301,230
110,575

810,721

2,762

113,913

(131,905)

795,491

(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company may not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due. Specifically, the company needs to ensure it has adequate resources to repay all accounts payable
and accrued liabilities and due to the Province of Prince Edward Island as they come due. The company's
approach to manage liquidity risk is to closely monitor its cash flows and forecast the expected receipts
and obligations.
The company's financial liabilities total $2,844,055 and are expected to be repaid within one year.
(c) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with
the company’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and
generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.
The company’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses
and damage to the company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures
that restrict initiative and creativity. The primary responsibility for the development and implementation
of controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior management.
(d) Capital management
The primary objective of Tourism PEI's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a healthy
financial position in order to support its business. Tourism PEI manages its capital structure and makes
changes to it in light of changes in economic conditions.

(9)
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Tourism PEI
Consolidated Schedule of Expenses by Type
For the year ended March 31, 2018

Schedule
2018

Finance and Administration
Parks Administration
Park Operations
Brookvale
Golf Operations
Strategy and Evaluation
Regulation and Compliance
French Services
Digital Marketing
Visitor Services
Advertising and Public Relations
Media Relations/Editorial
Fulfillment
Publications
Travel/Trade Sales

Salaries
and benefits
$

Operating
Goods and
Services
$

230,899
276,859
1,956,176
646,988
2,391,090
480,769
121,920
260,295
710,164
323,172
113,565
130,215
145,126
159,821

131,457
77,870
1,055,521
428,208
2,127,027
2,450,075
58,958
136,640
528,906
115,512
4,051,007
142,900
222,804
211,780
333,582

362,356
354,729
3,011,697
1,075,196
4,518,117
2,930,844
180,878
136,640
789,201
825,676
4,374,179
256,465
353,019
356,906
493,403

7,947,059

12,072,247

20,019,306

Salaries
and benefits
$

Operating
Goods and
Services
$

235,629
288,640
2,136,874
557,200
2,990,382
374,613
122,600
184,845
626,245
326,605
157,407
121,762
139,012
156,906

519,691
62,333
565,120
319,358
1,389,908
2,563,367
58,414
78
478,761
90,291
4,255,896
163,641
258,782
220,622
332,711

755,320
350,973
2,701,994
876,558
4,380,290
2,937,980
181,014
78
663,606
716,536
4,582,501
321,048
380,544
359,634
489,617

8,418,720

11,278,973

19,697,693

Total
$

2017

Finance and Administration
Parks Administration
Park Operations
Brookvale
Golf Operations
Strategy and Evaluation
Regulation and Compliance
French Services
Digital Marketing
Visitor Services
Advertising and Public Relations
Media Relations/Editorial
Fulfillment
Publications
Travel/Trade Sales

(10)

Total
$
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Independent auditor’s report

To the members of the Board of the
Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island

Grant Thornton LLP
Suite 710
98 Fitzroy Street, PO Box 187
Charlottetown, PE
C1A 7K4
T +1 902 892 6547
F +1 902 566 5358
www.GrantThornton.ca

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Workers Compensation Board of
Prince Edward Island, which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31,
2017, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in fund balance and cash flows for the
year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island as at December 31, 2017 and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island
April 27, 2018

Chartered Professional Accountants
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Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Statements of comprehensive income
Year ended December 31

Notes

2017

2016

12
4

$ 33,583,140
766,736
23,706,062
31,939

$ 34,845,458
856,757
23,124,275
338,677

12

233,392

280,635

58,321,269

59,445,802

9,251,000
(11,632,000)
22,040,000
(220,000)
766,736

9,422,000
(9,875,000)
22,181,000
(126,000)
856,757

20,205,736

22,458,757

7,684,178
325,856
102,076
235,712
8,347,822

7,246,835
173,308
130,316
109,940
7,660,399

1,188,959
153,596

987,959
153,717

1,342,555

1,141,676

Total expenses

29,896,113

31,260,832

Operating income

28,425,156

28,184,970

Revenues
Current assessments
Self-insured employers
Investments
Interest on receivables
Recoverable administration fees and interest charges
to self-insured employers
Expenses
Claims cost expenses
Expected increase
Experience gains
Claims and administrative costs incurred
Latent occupational disease costs incurred
Claims costs incurred for self-insured employers
Administration expenses
Administration (Page 32)
Workers’ Advisor Program
Employers’ Advisor Program
Appeals Tribunal
Other expenses
Investment management expenses
Bad debt expense

11
11
11
11
12

14
14
14
4

Distribution to employers (Note 15)

(21,301,088)

-

Net income

$

7,124,068

$

28,184,970

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be classified in the statement of operations
Change in actuarial gains and losses

$

(32,300)

$

-

Total comprehensive income

$

$

28,184,970

7,091,768

See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements.
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Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Statements of changes in fund balance
Year ended December 31

Fund
balance
Balance, January 1, 2017

$

Net income

98,177,625

Total
accumulated
comprehensive
loss
$

7,124,068

Other comprehensive loss
Balance, December 31, 2017

Fund
balance
Balance, January 1, 2016

$

Net income

69,992,655

$

$

98,177,625

(199,405)

(32,300)
$ 105,102,288

Total
accumulated
comprehensive
loss
$

(167,105)

Total
fund
balance
$ 69,825,550

$

(167,105)

98,010,520
7,124,068

(32,300)

28,184,970

Balance, December 31, 2016

$

-

$ 105,301,693

(167,105)

Total
fund
balance

28,184,970
$

98,010,520

See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements.
4
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Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Statements of financial position
December 31

Notes

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Investments
Property and equipment
Intangible assets

2017

$
3
4
6
7

6,705,848
865,222
255,132,805
2,503,763
623,174

2016

$

9,113,669
2,123,340
248,738,221
2,315,778
693,792

$ 265,830,812

$ 262,984,800

$

$

Liabilities and fund balance
Payables and accruals
Employee future benefits
Benefits liabilities

9
10
11

Fund balance

13

1,733,224
1,697,300
157,298,000
160,728,524

956,780
1,608,500
162,409,000
164,974,280

105,102,288

98,010,520

$ 265,830,812

$ 262,984,800

On behalf of the Board

Chair
Chief Executive Officer

See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements.

5

452

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Statements of cash flows
Year ended December 31

2017

2016

$ 35,144,976
772,197
35,917,173

$ 33,771,339
848,761
34,620,100

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash received from:
Assessed employers
Self-insured employers for assessments
Cash paid:
To claimants or third parties on their behalf
Distribution to employers (Note 15)
For administration requirements and other goods
For salaries to employees
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

(23,818,736)
(21,301,088)
(2,551,885)
(6,253,456)
(53,925,165)
(18,007,992)

(23,895,757)
(500,000)
(2,729,006)
(6,106,101)
(33,230,864)
1,389,236

4,293,422
76,922,822
81,216,244

4,990,422
54,296,779
59,287,201

(65,045,877)
(183,483)
(386,713)
(65,616,073)

(58,766,929)
(122,073)
(294,454)
(59,183,456)

Cash flow from investing activities
Cash received from:
Investment income, net of fees
Sale of investments
Cash paid for:
Purchase of investments
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash provided by investing activities

15,600,171

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

(2,407,821)

1,492,981

9,113,669

7,620,688

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year
End of year

$

6,705,848

103,745

$

9,113,669

See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements.
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Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2017
1.

Nature of operations

The Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island (“the Board”) was established by the Prince
Edward Island Legislature in 1949 under the Workers Compensation Act. The Board has a mandate for the
administration of a workers’ compensation system as defined by the Workers Compensation Act and for the
administration of health and safety programs as defined by the Occupational Health and Safety Act. The
Board’s head office is located in Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, Canada.
The nature of operations includes administering payments of benefits to or on behalf of workers, levying and
collecting assessment revenues from employers, investing Board funds, inspecting Prince Edward Island
workplaces, enforcing health and safety standards defined by legislation and delivering health and safety
education and prevention programs. The current Workers Compensation Act became effective on January 1,
1995. The current Occupational Health & Safety Act became effective on May 20, 2006.
The Board does not receive government funding.
The financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors
on April 27, 2018.
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation and adoption of IFRS
The financial statements of the Board have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The financial statements of the Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island comply, in all material
respects, with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in effect as at
December 31, 2017.
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied, except where departure from IFRS is explicitly permitted
under the transitional provisions for first time application of IFRS or another IFRS.
Basis of measurement
The financial statements of the Board have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for investments
in the statement of financial position that are reported at fair value. The Board’s functional currency is the
Canadian dollar, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Board operates,
which is also the presentation currency of the financial statements.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balances with banks. Cash and short-term investments
held by custodians for investment purposes are not available for general use and, accordingly, are included in
investments.
Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated into Canadian dollars at the
closing rate, which is the spot exchange rate in effect at the date of the statement of financial position.
Exchange differences arising from settlement of monetary items and the subsequent translation of monetary
items are included in the statement of operations in the period in which they arise.
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Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2017
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Accounting estimates and measurement uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of judgements, assumptions
and estimates as at the date of the financial statements that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, disclosure of contingent liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods presented.
Measurement uncertainty exists when there is a variance between the recognized amount and another
reasonable amount. Some accounting measurements require management’s best estimate, based on
assumptions as at the financial statement date, that reflect the most probable set of economic conditions
and planned courses of action.
Benefit liabilities, employee future benefits, accrued assessments, allowance for doubtful accounts and
depreciation are the most significant items that are based on accounting estimates. Actual results could
differ from the estimates made by management in these financial statements and these differences, which may
be material, could require adjustment in subsequent reporting periods. See Note 11 for additional details on
benefit liabilities.
Revenue recognition
The Board recognizes revenue when services have been provided, it is probable that the associated
economic benefits will flow to the Board and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue is
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
services provided in the normal course of business. The Board’s primary source of revenue is assessed
premiums.
Self-insured employers are subject to individual responsibility for costs attributable to claims arising from their
employees, as well as administration expenses incurred on behalf of the self-insured employers. As such,
assessment revenues from self-insured employers are recognized as these costs are incurred.
Specific accounting policies
To facilitate a better understanding of the Board’s financial statements, significant accounting policies are
disclosed in the notes, where applicable, of the related accounting topics. A listing of these notes is as
follows:
Note

Topic

Page

3

Receivables

4

Investments

10

6

Property and equipment

18

9

7

Intangible assets

20

9

Payables and accruals

21

10

Employee benefits

21

11

Benefits liabilities

23

12

Self-insured employers

29

8
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Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2017
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Future accounting standards and reporting changes
The International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) is continually working toward improving
and developing new accounting standards. The IASB has issued a number of exposure drafts of
new standards that are expected to come into effect over the next several years. The Workers
Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island continually monitors the IASB work plans and
publications to assess any potential impact on the organization.
The IASB has issued revisions to IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments) and IFRS 15 (Revenue from
Contracts with Customers). IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are effective for accounting periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2018.
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. IFRS 17 fundamentally changes how
entities account for insurance contracts, introducing a default "building block approach", which disaggregates
the cash flows in an insurance contract and provides a different measurement basis for each component,
and a simplified "premium allocation approach" for certain short-term contracts. Assumptions used in
measuring insurance assets and liabilities such as cash flows, discount rates and risk adjustment will be
updated at each reporting period. The discount rate will reflect the characteristics of the insurance liabilities
and the estimated future cash flows to settle claims incurred will be discounted unless the period of time
between claim occurrence and settlement is less than one year. Presentation changes include 'insurance
revenue' replacing the current reporting of 'premiums' and insurance contract assets and liabilities will not be
netted. Under this standard, premiums receivable, unearned premiums and claims payable may no longer be
presented separately from other insurance assets and liabilities. The effective date for IFRS 17 is January 1,
2021 with mandatory restatement of comparative periods. The Board is currently assessing the impact of
IFRS 17.
3.

Receivables

Accounting policy
Trade receivables are amounts due from employers for assessed premiums, or estimated premiums, when a
final return for insurance coverage for the period has not been filed. Assessed premiums receivable are
initially recognized at the invoiced amount and, subsequently, measured at recoverable value that is net of a
provision for uncollectible amounts. Trade and other receivables are classified as financial assets and are
recorded at amortized cost.
At the beginning of each year, an assessment is levied on non-monthly employers by applying industry
assessment rates to their estimated payrolls. During the year, employers’ actual payrolls may vary from their
estimate; therefore, at year end, accrued assessments receivable are adjusted based on payroll adjustments
from the prior year. The accrued assessments are determined excluding those employers whose
assessments are levied on a monthly basis.
Other receivables include amounts due from employees for computer purchases and other payroll related
items.

9
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Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2017
3.

Receivables (cont’d)
2017

Receivables
Assessments
Less allowance for doubtful accounts
Accrued assessments
Self-insured employers
Other receivables

$

$

4.

1,239,108
(240,126)
(412,183)
(34,720)
313,143
865,222

2016
$

$

2,370,304
(390,004)
18,456
(29,260)
153,844
2,123,340

Investments

Accounting policy
All the Board’s portfolio investments, except real-return bonds, are mandatorily classified as fair value through
profit or loss investments. Real return bonds have been designated by the Board as fair value through profit or
loss as permitted under IFRS 9. As such, all portfolio investments are recorded at their fair value. The Board
recognizes interest revenue as earned, dividends when declared and investment gains and losses when
realized. Realized gains and losses represent the difference between the amounts received through the sale of
the investments and their respective cost base. Unrealized gains and losses on fair value through profit or loss
investments are recognized as investment income at year end based on the fair value of the investments at
that time. When an investment is sold, the cumulative unrealized gain or loss is reclassified as a realized gain
or loss in investment income on the statement of operations. Investment income also includes interest income
and income distributions from pooled funds. The Board utilizes trade date accounting for all purchases and
sales of financial instruments in its investment portfolio. Transactions are recorded on the date an agreement is
entered (the trade date) and not on the date the transaction is finalized (the settlement date). Investments
denominated in foreign currency are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the
statement of financial position date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange rates in effect on
the transactions date. The foreign currency exchange gains or losses for these investments are recorded in the
same manner as other investment gains or losses.
Fair values of specific investments are determined as follows:
 Equities are valued at their year end quoted market prices as reported on recognized public securities
exchange.


Fixed-term investments are valued at their year end closing or bid price based on available public
quotations from recognized dealers in such securities.



Commercial paper, short-term notes and treasury bills and term deposits maturing within a year are
valued at either their year end closing or bid price based on available quotations from recognized
dealers in such securities, or cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value.
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Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2017
4. Investments (cont’d)


Pooled fund units other than infrastructure are valued at their year-end net asset value, as determined
by the fund manager or administrator. For pooled funds holdings equity and fixed-income assets, these
values represent the Board’s proportionate share of underlying net assets at fair values determined
using either quoted market prices or year-end closing market prices or the average of the latest bid/ask
prices based on available public quotations from recognized dealers in such securities. For pooled
funds holding derivatives, cleared derivatives are valued at the closing price quoted by the relevant
clearing house, and over-the-counter derivatives are valued using an industry standard model.
Exchange-traded options are valued at the last sale price or the closing bid price for long positions and
the closing ask price for short positions. For real estate pooled funds, these values represent the
Board’s proportionate share of the underlying net assets at fair values determined using independent
appraisals, net of any liabilities against the fund assets.



Infrastructure pooled funds are held through a separate corporate entity controlled by Worksafe NB
and in which the Board does not have significant influence. Therefore, these infrastructure pooled
funds are considered financial instruments and are valued at their most recent net asset value prior
to year-end, adjusted for any capital contributions or withdrawals between the net asset value date
and year-end, as determined by the fund manager or administrator. The net asset value represents
the Board’s proportionate share of the underlying net assets at fair values estimated using one or
more methodologies, including discounted cash flows, multiples of earnings measures, and recent
comparable transactions.



Forward foreign exchange contracts are valued at their net unrealized gain or loss, based on quoted
market exchange rates at the balance sheet date. The Board has not designated the forward exchange
contracts as a hedging instrument. Any changes in the fair market value of the instruments are
recognized directly into earnings.
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Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2017
4. Investments (cont’d)
2017
Investments
Cash and short-term investments
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Real estate
Fixed term investments
Infrastructure
Equities
Global opportunistic

Investment income
Earned during the year
Realized investment gains
Change in unrealized investment gain

Investment expenses
External management fees
Management fees paid to Worksafe NB

2016

$ 11,919,463
1,107,875
38,805,672
47,398,651
14,191,883
116,905,938
24,803,323

$

$ 255,132,805

$ 248,738,221

2017

2016

$

6,512,545
745,884
36,839,136
53,201,947
14,610,395
124,640,924
12,187,390

5,507,614
13,647,729
4,550,719

$

5,639,705
8,128,927
9,355,643

$ 23,706,062

$

23,124,275

$

1,115,342
73,617

$

906,539
81,420

$

1,188,959

$

987,959

Pooled funds
Certain of the Board’s portfolio investments are held through pooled funds. The fair value of the investments
held through pooled funds is as follows:
2017
2016
Conventional bonds
Real return bonds
Non North American equities
Real estate
Absolute return
Infrastructure

$ 37,467,346
9,931,305
10,796,334
38,805,672
24,803,323
14,191,883

$

42,097,509
11,104,439
9,841,563
36,839,136
12,187,390
14,610,395

$ 135,995,863

$ 126,680,432

Investment agreement
The Board has entered into an Investment Agreement (January 1995) for the management of its investment
assets with those of WorksafeNB. These financial statements report the Board’s proportionate share of the
investment assets held in the pooled fund which was 15.3% at December 31, 2017 (2016 – 16.6%). The Board
pays a fee to WorksafeNB for the administration of the combined investments.
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Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2017
4. Investments (cont’d)
Commitments
The Board, through its investment in pooled infrastructure and real estate funds, has committed to contribute
investments in these funds, which may be drawn down over the next several years. Unfunded commitments as
of December 31, 2017 are $15.5 million.
5.

Financial risk management

The Board has established policies for management of its investments. All of the Board’s pooled investments
are managed by independent, external investment managers. The compliance of these managers with the
established policies is monitored on a regular basis. The pooled investments are managed to reduce
investment risk by diversifying its portfolio among asset classes, industry sectors, geographic locations and
individual securities. Further diversification is achieved by selecting investment managers with varying
investment philosophies and styles. From time to time, in conjunction with WorkSafeNB, independent
consultants are retained to advise on the appropriateness and effectiveness of its investment policies and
practices.
The following sections describe the Board’s financial risk exposure and related mitigation strategies.
Market risk
The Board invests in publicly traded equities listed on domestic and foreign exchanges, and bonds traded over
the counter through broker dealers. These securities are affected by fluctuations in market prices. Such market
changes are subject to economic factors and other fluctuations in domestic and global capital markets, as well
as risks to issuers, which may affect the market value of individual securities. Policy guidelines have been
established to ensure that the Board’s investments are diversified by issuer, industry and geographic location.
The table below indicates the total exposure in each of the equity mandates within the Board’s portfolio:

Canada
United States
International equities
Real estate
Emerging markets

2017

2016

$ 38,394,546
47,949,291
38,283,132
38,805,672
17,082,292

$ 42,343,523
44,654,383
37,903,482
36,839,136
11,926,926

$ 180,514,933

$ 173,667,450
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Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2017
5.

Financial risk management (cont’d)

The table below presents the effect of a change in value of equities held based on management estimates for
each of the equity mandates in the Boards’ portfolio:
2017
Equities
Change in market value
Impact on fund balance
Canadian
United States
International equities
Real estate
Emerging markets

15%
$ 5,759,000
7,192,000
5,742,000
5,821,000
2,562,000

5%

-5%

$ 1,920,000
2,397,000
1,914,000
1,940,000
854,000

$ (1,828,000)
(2,283,000)
(1,823,000)
(1,848,000)
(813,000)

-15%
$ (5,008,000)
(6,254,000)
(4,993,000)
(5,062,000)
(2,228,000)

2016
Equities
Change in market value
Impact on fund balance
Canadian
United States
International equities
Real estate
Emerging markets

15%
$ 6,352,000
6,698,000
5,686,000
5,526,000
1,789,000

5%
$ 2,117,000
2,233,000
1,895,000
1,842,000
596,000

-5%
$ (2,016,000)
(2,126,000)
(1,805,000)
(1,754,000)
(568,000)

-15%
$ (5,523,000)
(5,824,000)
(4,944,000)
(4,805,000)
(1,556,000)

Foreign currency risk
The Board has certain investments denominated in foreign currencies. Currency risk is the risk that the value
of these investments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. For its U.S. and non-North
American equities, the Board has adopted a policy to hedge 50% of its developed market foreign currency
exposure using forward exchange contracts. Forward foreign exchange contracts are agreements to exchange
an amount of one currency for another at a future date and at a set price, agreed upon at the contract’s
inception. The fair value of these financial instruments would change in response to changes in the foreign
exchange rates of the currencies involved in the contracts. The notional amounts in forward foreign exchange
contracts are the contractual amounts on which payments are made. These notional amounts have been
converted into Canadian dollars at the contractual exchange rates in effect at the inception of the contracts.
The Board has significant current exposure in the US dollar, the Euro, the Japanese Yen and the British Pound.
Exposure to changes in these four currencies represents 91.3% of the Board’s total exposure to developed
market foreign currencies and 75.4% of the total foreign currency exposure including emerging markets. The
Board has holdings of $55,388,000 (2016 - $54,129,000) in US dollar or 21.8% of the portfolio, $17,732,000
(2016 - $13,010,000) or 7.0% in the Euro, $11,643,000 (2016 - $11,772,000) or 4.6% in the Japanese Yen and
$8,970,000 (2016 - $7,268,000) or 3.5% in the British Pound.
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The table below presents the effects of a 15% appreciation in the Canadian dollar as compared to the US
dollar, Euro, Japanese Yen and British Pound on the fund balance:
2017
2016
CAD/USD
CAD/EURO
CAD/YEN
CAD/POUND

$
$
$
$

(7,258,000)
(2,389,000)
(1,519,000)
(1,168,000)

$
$
$
$

(7,060,000)
(1,697,000)
(1,535,000)
(948,000)

At December 31, 2017, the notional value of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts was $59,078,205
(2016 - $45,560,992). The fair value of these contracts was a gain of $1,107,875 (2016 - gain of $745,884).
Unrealized gain on forward foreign exchange contracts of $361,991 (2016 - gain of $2,888,537) were included
in investment income.
Inflation risk
Inflation risk is the risk that a general increase in price level may result in loss of future purchasing power for
current monetary assets. To mitigate the effect of inflation on the Board’s future liabilities, the portfolio holds
inflation sensitive investments, such as real return bonds and real estate. Canadian real return bonds are
indexed to the annual change in the Canadian Consumer Price Index.
Interest risk management
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial security will fluctuate due to changes in market interest
rates. The Board’s investment portfolio is exposed to interest rate risk from its holdings of fixed income
securities. Fluctuations in interest rates are managed by varying the duration of the fixed income portfolio. The
following table presents the remaining term to maturity of the Board’s outstanding fixed term investments.
Remaining term to maturity
Within 1 year
Fixed term investments
(market value)

$

(160,456)

From 1 year
to 5 years

Over 5 years

Total
2017

Total
2016

$ 12,606,168

$ 34,952,939

$ 47,398,651

$ 53,201,947

The average effective yield of these fixed term investments is 2.5% (2016 - 2.3%) per annum based on
market value.
As of December 31, 2017, had the prevailing interest rate changed by 1%, assuming a parallel shift in the yield
curve, with all other variables held constant, the value of the fixed term investments would have increased or
decreased by $4,630,000 (2016 - $5,433,000) or approximately 9.8% (2016 – 10.2%) of their value.
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Financial risk management (cont’d)

Credit risk management
Credit risk on fixed term or money market investments or forward foreign exchange contracts arises from the
possibility that the counterparty to an instrument fails to meet its obligation to the Board. Policy guidelines have
been established to ensure the Board holds corporate fixed term investments with a credit rating of A or higher,
and Canadian federal or provincial government fixed term investments with a credit rating of BBB or higher.
The Board may only invest in money market instruments that are provincially or federally guaranteed by one of
the five largest Canadian chartered banks. Counterparties to forward foreign exchange contracts must have a
credit rating of at least AA. As at December 31, 2017, the aggregate amount of fixed income securities with
counterparty ratings of BBB was $nil (2016 - $nil).
The Board is also exposed to credit risk through its trade receivables. The Board mitigates this risk through a
regular monitoring process. Credit risk is mitigated due to the large number of customers and their dispersion
across geographic areas and various industries. Allowance for doubtful accounts is reviewed at each balance
sheet date. The Board updates its estimates of allowances for doubtful accounts based on customer history.
Fair value hierarchy
In compliance with IFRS 7, Financial Instruments – Disclosures, the Board has categorized its assets and
liabilities that are carried at fair value on a recurring basis, based on the priority of the inputs to the valuation
techniques used to measure fair value, into a three level fair value hierarchy. Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value are categorized as follows:
Level 1: Fair value is based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market.
Level 2: Fair value is based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, valuation that is
based on significant observable inputs or inputs that are derived principally for or corroborated with
observable market data through correlation or other means.
Level 3: Fair value is based on valuation techniques that require one or more significant unobservable inputs
or the use of broker quotes. These unobservable inputs reflect the Board’s assumptions about the
assumptions market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities.
2017
Level 1
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Real estate
Fixed term
Infrastructure
Equities

$ 11,919,463

Level 2
$

29,472,498
47,398,651
141,709,261
$ 230,499,873

Level 3

Total

-

$ 11,919,463

9,333,174
14,191,883
-

1,107,875
38,805,672
47,398,651
14,191,883
141,709,261

1,107,875 $ 23,525,057

$ 255,132,805

- $
1,107,875
-

$

During 2017 and 2016, there were no significant transfers of investments between level 1 and level 2.
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2016
Level 1

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Real estate
Fixed term
Infrastructure
Equities

$

6,512,545

Level 2
$

33,295,390
53,201,947
136,828,314
$ 229,838,196

- $
745,884
-

$

Level 3
-

Total
$

6,512,545

3,543,746
14,610,395
-

745,884
36,839,136
53,201,947
14,610,395
136,828,314

745,884 $ 18,154,141

$ 248,738,221

The following summarizes the changes in the level 3 investments for the year:

Balance beginning of the year
Purchase of level 3 investments
Investment income
Return of capital
Unrealized gains (losses) recognized
Balance at end of the year

2017

2016

$ 18,154,141

$12,688,776

5,953,526
453,464
(2,303,731)
1,267,657
$ 23,525,057

4,180,384
259,291
(2,128,412)
3,154,102
$18,154,141

There are 3 investments classified as level 3: (1) A limited partnership interest in a fund investing in global
infrastructure assets and real estate assets. These are closed-end fund with no active market for its units as at
December 31, 2017 and, therefore, classified as level 3 investments in the fair market hierarchy. This fund has
a 12-year life that commenced on October 30, 2013. The general partner has the option to extend the fund’s
life by 2 years; (2) A limited partnership interest in a fund investing in global infrastructure assets. This is an
open-ended fund that allows quarterly redemptions at net asset value with some restrictions. It is classified as a
level 3 investment in the fair value hierarchy; (3) A limited partnership interest in a fund investing in European
real estate. This is a close-end fund with no active market for its units and no published net asset value as of
December 31, 2017 and is therefore classified as a level 3 investment in the fair value hierarchy. This fund has
a 9-year life that commenced on August 22, 2014.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Board will not be able to meet all cash outflow obligations as they come due.
The Board mitigates this risk by monitoring cash activities and expected outflows. The Board’s current liabilities
arise as claims are made. The Board does not have material liabilities that can be called unexpectedly at the
demand of a lender or claimant. The Board has no material commitments for capital expenditure and there is
no need for such expenditures in the normal course of operations. Claim payments are funded by current
operating cash flow including investment income.
There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or policies, procedure
and methods used to measure the risk.

6. Property and equipment
Accounting policy
Property and equipment are reported at cost less subsequent depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of
property and equipment includes expenditures that are directly attributable to their acquisition or construction
and any other cost directly attributable to the installation and decommissioning of the asset. Property and
equipment are depreciated over their estimated lives on the straight line basis. Assets are depreciated at 50%
of the applicable rate in the year of acquisition. When parts of an item of property and equipment have
materially different useful lives or patterns of benefit consumption, they are accounted for separately (i.e., as
major components). The rates used are as follows:
Buildings and components
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment

10 to 40 years, straight line
10 years, straight line
5 years, straight line

Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually.
IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, requires an entity to test assets for impairment if indications of impairment
exist. Based on an analysis of cash flows, the Board has established that the appropriate cash generating
unit for impairment review is the entire entity. As the Board has the statutory power under the Act to increase
premiums and/or impose levies to ensure full funding unto the foreseeable future, impairment at the entity
level is remote. As at December 31, 2017, management conducted an impairment review at the entity level,
which confirmed that there were no significant indicators of impairment which would have a material impact
on the Board’s ability to generate future economic benefits from its operating non-financial assets.
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Gross carrying amount
Balance January 1, 2017
Additions
Disposals
Balance December 31, 2017
Depreciation and impairment
Balance January 1, 2017
Disposals
Depreciation
Balance December 31, 2017
Carrying amount Dec 31, 2017

Gross carrying amount
Balance January 1, 2016
Additions
Disposals
Balance December 31, 2016
Depreciation and impairment
Balance January 1, 2016
Disposals
Depreciation
Balance December 31, 2016
Carrying amount Dec 31, 2016

Land

Buildings

Furniture &
fixtures

Computer
equipment

$ 368,460
368,460

$ 2,672,584
244,400
2,916,984

$ 642,167
50,317
692,484

$ 682,991
91,996
(34,020)
740,967

$ 4,366,202
386,713
(34,020)
4,718,895

(466,782)
31,756
(71,024)
(506,050)

(2,050,424)
31,756
(196,464)
(2,215,132)

-

(1,151,795)
(96,477)
(1,248,272)

(431,847)
(28,963)
(460,810)

2017
Total

$ 368,460

$ 1,668,712

$ 231,674

$ 234,917

$2,503,763

Land

Buildings

Furniture &
Fixtures

Computer
Equipment

2016
Total

$ 368,460
368,460

$ 2,541,946
130,638
2,672,584

$ 638,161
4,006
642,167

$ 588,159
161,300
(66,468)
682,991

$ 4,136,726
295,944
(66,468)
4,366,202

(473,572)
65,089
(58,299)
(466,782)

(1,938,957)
65,089
(176,556)
(2,050,424)

$ 368,460

(1,062,672)
(89,123)
(1,151,795)
$ 1,520,789

(402,713)
(29,134)
(431,847)
$ 210,320

$ 216,209

$ 2,315,788
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Intangible assets

Accounting policy
Computer software development expenditure is capitalized only if the directly related costs (both internal and
external) can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically feasible, future economic benefits
are probable and the Board has the intention and sufficient resources to complete development and to use
the asset. Computer software assets are derecognized when these factors no longer exist. The capitalized
expenditure includes the direct cost of materials and labour, but not administrative costs, including training.
Other development expenditures are expensed as incurred if they do not meet the prescribed capitalization
criteria. Similarly, costs associated with maintaining computer software programs in a functional condition, as
originally intended, are expensed as incurred. Development costs previously recognized as an expense are
not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period.
The Board’s intangible assets are comprised of computer software developed internally or acquired through
third party vendors and customized as necessary. These costs are accounted for using the cost model
whereby capitalized costs are amortized on a straight line or declining balance basis over their estimated
useful lives, as these assets are considered finite. Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each
reporting date. In addition, they are subject to impairment testing.
Internally developed software is amortized on a straight line basis over 10 years for certain software and 3
years for other smaller software programs.
Computer software
Gross carrying amount
Balance at January 1
Addition, separately acquired
Balance at December 31

2017
$

Amortization and impairment
Balance at January 1
Amortization
Balance at December 31
Carrying amount December 31

8.

4,526,661
183,483
4,710,144

2016
$

(3,832,869)
(254,101)
(4,086,970)
$

623,174

4,404,588
122,073
4,526,661
(3,576,782)
(256,087)
(3,832,869)

$

693,792

Bank indebtedness

The Board has a $500,000 unsecured operating line of credit of which nil was used at December 31, 2017.
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Payables and accruals
2017

Trade and other payables
Accrued staff salaries
Accrued vacation pay

$

1,028,396
484,525
220,303

$

1,733,224

2016
$

$

701,276
45,580
209,924
956,780

10. Employee benefits
Accounting policy
Permanent employees of the Board participate in a defined benefit pension plan sponsored by the Province
of Prince Edward Island. As these multi-employer plans meet the accounting requirements for treatment as
defined contribution plans, the current year employer contributions are accounted for as current pension
expense. The cost of retirement pay benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method prorated on service. Benefits are projected with management’s best estimate of
salary escalations to retirement and then pro-rated based on service. Remeasurement changes in benefit
liabilities, composed of actuarial changes in assumptions and experience gains and losses, are recognized in
other comprehensive income.
Short-term benefits
The Board’s short-term benefits for qualified active employees include base salary, compensated absences,
group life insurance, dental and medical coverage.
Pension plan
The Board and its employees participate in a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan,
administered by the Province of Prince Edward Island under the Civil Service Superannuation Act. The Civil
Service Superannuation Fund provides pensions to employees of the Provincial Government and certain
Crown Corporations and agencies. Changes were made to the Civil Service Superannuation Act effective
January 1, 2016. For service after 2013, the average salary used to determine pension benefits will be
calculated using an average of all earnings indexed to the year of retirement. Also, for service after 2018, the
age at which an unreduced pension is available will move from 60 to 62 and the years of service will move from
30 to 32. Retirement benefits will be indexed at 1.5% up until 2017. In 2017, pension benefits indexing will
depend on the financial health of the fund. The plans are similar to state plans as defined in IAS 19 whereby
they are established by legislation to provide retirement benefits for eligible provincial employees. State plans
share similar characteristics as mutli-employer plans and are treated as defined contribution plans under IAS
19. For these plans, the Board has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.
Since sufficient information is not readily available to account for the Board’s participation in the plan using
defined benefit pension plan accounting, these financial statements have been prepared using accounting rules
for defined contribution pension plans. The current year expense for this pension plan is $419,606 (2016 $396,093). As the Board maintains no obligation to cover funding deficiencies within the plan, should any exist,
there are no provisions to be recorded for future funding obligations.
At March 31, 2017, the Civil Service Superannuation Fund reported that the pension plan was 100% funded.
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Retirement pay benefits
The Board provides a retirement pay benefit equal to one weeks pay for each year of service, subject to a
maximum benefit equal to 26 weeks pay. The retirement pay benefit is payable upon retirement. Unionized
employees qualify at retirement if they have accrued 10 years of service and attained age 55. Non-unionized
employees qualify at retirement if they have accrued 5 years of service and attained age 55, accrued 30 years
of service (moving to 32 years of service as of December 2018), or accrued 5 years of service and die or
become disabled. The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Board’s accrued retirement
pay benefits obligations are a discount rate of 3.20% (2016 - 3.50%) and a rate of compensation increase of
3.5%. The retirement pay benefits liability has been estimated to equal $1,697,300 (2016 - $1,608,500) based
on the last actuarial calculation as of December 31, 2017.
Other information about the Board’s retirement pay benefits is as follows:
2017

2016

Opening retirement pay benefits
Changes in retirement pay benefits
Change in assumptions

$

1,608,500
56,500
32,300

$

1,601,800
6,700
-

Ending retirement pay benefits

$

1,697,300

$

1,608,500

Employee benefits risks
The Board’s defined benefit plan is indirectly exposed to economic risks with respect to measurement risk from
assumptions based on economic factors, such as discount rates affected by volatile bond markets. Benefit
obligations are exposed to uncertainty of future economic conditions, primarily inflation risk due to uncertainty
of the timing of the payments.
Demographic factors affect current and future benefit costs with respect to the amount and time horizon of
expected payments due to such factors as workforce average age and earnings levels, attrition and retirement
rates.
The Board is also exposed to funding risk in the multi-employer plans arising from legislative changes affecting
eligibility for and amount of pension and related benefits and performance of plan assets affected by
investment policies set by the government. Because these plans are governed by legislation rather than
contract, there is little flexibility for participants with respect to withdrawal from the plan, plan wind up or
amendments, and funding requirements.
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11. Benefits liabilities
The benefits liabilities represent the actuarial present value of all future benefit payments expected to be made for
claims which occurred in the current fiscal year or in any prior year. The benefits liabilities include provision for all
benefits provided by current legislation policies and administrative practices in respect of existing claims.
The Board believes that the amount provided for benefit liabilities as at December 31, 2017, is adequate, recognizing
that actuarial assumptions as disclosed below may change over time to reflect underlying economic trends. When
they do, it is possible to cause a material change in the actuarial present value of the future payments.
Benefits liabilities as at December 31, 2017, have been independently valued by the Board’s external actuary.
Benefits liabilities include a provision for all benefits provided by current legislation, Board policies, and administrative
practices. These liabilities also include a provision for future expenses of administering those benefits. Benefits
liabilities do not include a provision for benefits costs of self-insured employers.
Since the benefits liabilities of the Board are of a long-term nature, the actuarial assumptions and methods used to
calculate the reported benefits liabilities are based on considerations of future expenses over the long-term. As the
determination of these liabilities requires assumptions about economic and other events that may occur many years
in the future, but which are based on best information as at the valuation date, a significant degree of professional
judgement must be exercised in developing these assumptions. Accordingly, changes in future conditions within one
year of the financial statement date could require a material change in the recognized amounts.
Key actuarial assumptions
Important components of the benefits liabilities are long-term in nature, meaning that many claims continue in payment
for many years following the accident.
The independent consulting actuary makes significant estimates and judgments in respect of certain liability amounts
disclosed in the financial statements and the discount rates used to calculate the present value of future benefit
payments. These estimates and judgments are continually being evaluated and are based on historical experience,
as well as enhancements to actuarial modeling techniques.
The key areas of significant estimates and judgments and the methodologies used to determine key assumptions are
set out below.
A provision is made at year-end for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the balance sheet date.
This provision includes the cost of claims incurred but not reported to the Board.
The estimation of outstanding benefits liabilities is based largely on the assumption that past developments are an
appropriate predictor of the future and involves a variety of actuarial techniques that analyze experience, trends and
other relevant factors. The process commences with the actuarial projection of the future claims payments and
administration costs incurred to the reporting date. The various payment codes of the Board are grouped into a number
of benefit categories and analyzed separately.
Modeling approaches are used to analyze and project the various benefit types. These approaches fall into three
broad categories, which are as follows:
 Payments per claim for active long-term wage loss, pension and survivor claims;


Projected payments based on past payment patterns for short-term disability, health care and
the first seven years for long-term disability awards; and



Estimated average benefit payments per claim for projected future long-term wage loss and
physical impairment awards.
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Projected future claims payments and associated administration costs are obtained by examining the results from
the above methods. This projection is made without bias toward over or under estimation. As such, the resulting
estimate is considered to be a net central estimate of outstanding benefits liabilities that has an approximately
equal chance of proving adequate as not.
The projected future claims payments are converted to inflated values, taking into account assumptions about
future inflation. The present value of this liability is then calculated, by discounting the inflated cash flows to allow
for future returns on the underlying assets using appropriate discount rates. Both implicit and explicit assumptions
are made for future inflation. For the first fifteen years of the projection period for short-term disability, health care
and the first seven years for long-term disability awards, the future inflation is implied in the development factors.
Explicit future inflation assumptions are used for all other liability estimates.
The table below presents key assumptions used to determine the benefits liabilities.
Gross rate of return
Real rate of return
Increase in inflation
Future administration
Latent occupational diseases

2017

2016

6.0%
3.5%
2.5%
6.5%
4.5%

6.0%
3.5%
2.5%
6.5%
4.5%

Process used to determine assumptions
A description of the processes used to determine these assumptions is provided below:
General Statement
Assumptions are formulated to be consistent with the funding and investment policies adopted by the Board.
Benefits liabilities are valued based on the primary assumption that the system will be in operation for the very
long-term. Hence, the focus is on long-term trends as opposed to short-term fluctuations around those trends.
Gross rate of return
The gross rate of return reflects the best estimate of the long-term average rate of return that can be expected
using the benchmark asset allocation adopted by the Board in its statement of investment policies and beliefs. The
process is based on the estimate of a real rate of return that is then compounded with the long-term average future
inflation estimate to obtain the gross rate of return.
Future awards liabilities
For the purposes of projecting future cash flows for the future award liabilities, other than those for future extended
wage loss awards, the calculation uses a weighted average of payments made over the 2015 to 2017 period. The
weightings are 17% of 2015, 33% of 2016, and 50% of 2017, all adjusted to constant 2017 dollars. In the case of
medical aid and hospital expenses, certain large individual cases that are expected to require long-term care have
been removed from historical data. For these cases, the ongoing payments have been estimated based on an
analysis of the individual file.
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Pension in pay
The liabilities in respect of pensions and extended wage loss awards, including survivor benefits that are already in
payment, are included in this category. Cash flows, in respect of these categories have been projected on an
individual claimant basis using mortality as the only decrement. No provision for termination of benefits from other
causes such as recoveries has been made. To the extent such terminations occur, there will be a gain.
Future extended wage loss awards
Included in the valuation is a provision for future extended wage loss awards. A claims run off table has been
developed based in part on the Board’s limited experience with respect to wage loss claims. This table is used to
predict the emergence of future extended wage loss claims. The table was developed using a run off table used by
another Board with legislation similar to Prince Edward Island’s with experience modifications noted in Prince
Edward Island as compared to the other jurisdiction.
Future administration
When a claim occurs, it triggers an obligation to provide claims management, maintenance and support in terms of
paying the various providers of health care services and compensating workers for lost wages for as long as the
claim is open. The future administration expense liability is intended to provide a reasonable allowance for this
obligation. A detailed review of future administration expenses is conducted periodically. In this review an estimate
is made of the portion of operating expenses that can be attributed to claims maintenance, including a proportionate
share of overhead expenses. Based on this review, a liability for future administration expenses of 6.5% of the total
benefits liability is included in the liability estimate.
An analysis of the components of and changes in benefits liabilities is as follows:

Balance,
beginning of year
Expected increase
Assumption changes
Experience (gains)
losses

Costs incurred

Less:
Payments made

Latent occupational
diseases
Balance, end of year

Temporary
wage
loss

Pension
and extended
wage loss

$ 9,912,000

$ 102,803,000

$ 30,422,000

$ 2,793,000

589,000

6,114,000

1,813,000

-

-

-

(1,418,000)

(6,926,000)

Health
care Rehabilitation

(1,812,000)

Administration
$

2017

2016

Total

Total

9,485,000

$ 155,415,000

170,000

565,000

9,251,000

9,422,000

-

-

-

-

(765,000)

(711,000)

$

(11,632,000)

158,224,000

(9,875,000)

9,083,000

101,991,000

30,423,000

2,198,000

9,339,000

153,034,000

157,771,000

6,717,000

7,597,000

5,826,000

554,000

1,346,000

22,040,000

22,181,000

15,800,000

109,588,000

36,249,000

2,752,000

10,685,000

175,074,000

179,952,000

(1,498,000)

(24,550,000)

(24,537,000)

150,524,000

155,415,000

-

6,774,000

6,994,000

9,187,000

$ 157,298,000

(6,922,000)

(9,411,000)

(6,235,000)

(484,000)

-

-

-

-

$ 8,878,000

$100,177,000

$ 30,014,000

$ 2,268,000

$

$

162,409,000
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Benefit liabilities of self-insured employers are not included in the benefits liability. These liabilities will be borne by
those employers when paid in the future years. They do not add to the Board’s liabilities on its net fund balance.
Current year injuries

Health care
Temporary wage loss
Rehabilitation
Lump sums
Future permanent awards
New permanent awards
Administration
Total

Health care
Temporary wage loss
Rehabilitation
Lump sums
Future permanent awards
Administration
Total

Current year
cost

2017
Present value
of future costs

Total incurred
claims

$ 1,776,000
2,733,000
63,000
6,000
298,000
$ 4,876,000

$ 4,050,000
3,984,000
554,000
564,000
6,746,000
218,000
1,048,000
$ 17,164,000

$ 5,826,000
6,717,000
554,000
627,000
6,746,000
224,000
1,346,000
$22,040,000

Current year
cost

2016
Present value
of future costs

Total incurred
claims

$ 1,777,000
2,701,000
2,000
146,000
301,000
$ 4,927,000

$ 4,138,000
4,222,000
659,000
581,000
6,601,000
1,053,000
$ 17,254,000

$ 5,915,000
6,923,000
661,000
727,000
6,601,000
1,354,000
$22,181,000
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Reconciliation of movement in benefits liabilities
Balance, beginning of the year
Interest on liability
Payments and other transitions
Balance, end of year for prior accident years
Impact of experience losses (gains) on change in liability for
prior accident years due to:
Mortality and termination
Award inflation less than expected
New awards
Change in expected claim run-off
Difference between actual and expected payments
Other
Total change in liability
Change in latent occupational diseases liability
Liability for new accidents

Balance, end of year

2017
$ 162,409,000
9,251,000
(24,550,000)
147,110,000

2016
$ 165,344,000
9,422,000
(24,537,000)
150,229,000

(1,400,000)
(1,300,000)
(3,500,000)
(2,600,000)
(2,000,000)
(832,000)
(11,632,000)

600,000
(1,300,000)
(4,000,000)
(1,800,000)
(2,600,000)
(775,000)
(9,875,000)

(220,000)
22,040,000
21,820,000

(126,000)
22,181,000
22,055,000

$ 157,298,000

$ 162,409,000
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11. Benefits liabilities (cont’d)
Claims development
The estimation of claim development involves assessing the future behaviour of claims, taking into consideration the
consistency of the Board’s claim handling procedures, the amount of information available, the characteristics of the line
of business from which the claim arises and historical delays in reporting claims. In general, the longer the term required
for the settlement of a group of claims, the more variable the estimates. Short settlement term claims are those which are
expected to be substantially paid within a year of being reported.
The table that follows presents the development of claims payments and the estimated ultimate cost of claims for the
claim years 2008 to 2017. The upper half of the table shows the cumulative amounts paid or estimate to be paid during
successive years related to each claim year. The original estimates will be increased or decreased, as more information
becomes known about the original claims and overall claim frequency and severity.
($'000)
Accident year
Year of estimate
Estimated total cash flow (including
past and future cash flows)

2008

2008

$

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

Total

21,985

2009

21,431 $

23,164

2010

21,158

24,135 $

26,044

2011

20,276

24,699

24,901 $

29,273

2012

19,947

24,987

23,286

28,208 $

31,901

2013

20,002

23,991

22,033

26,348

29,648 $

32,752

2014

20,330

23,827

20,465

25,585

27,025

28,537 $

33,271

2015

19,671

23,897

19,438

25,638

28,580

28,182

30,346 $

32,825

2016

20,302

23,858

18,664

24,243

27,064

25,792

28,515

28,898 $

32,894

2017

19,855

23,381

18,113

23,430

25,878

24,325

25,723

26,011

30,869 $

32,645

Current (2017) estimate of total cash
flow

19,855

23,381

18,113

23,430

25,878

24,325

25,723

26,011

30,869

32,645 $

Total cash flows paid December 31,
2017

(11,371)

(12,570)

(10,958)

(14,365)

(14,560)

(12,571)

(11,357)

(9,598)

(8,719)

(4,607)

Estimated future cash flows
Impact of discounting
Liability for accident years 2008 - 2017

250,230

(110,676)

8,484

10,811

7,155

9,065

11,318

11,754

14,366

16,413

22,150

28,038

139,554

(3,446)

(4,537)

(2,986)

(3,617)

(4,734)

(4,883)

(6,127)

(7,096)

(9,106)

(11,316)

(57,848)

5,038

6,274

4,169

5,448

6,584

6,871

8,239

9,317

13,044

16,722

81,706

Liability for accident years 2007 and
prior

59,631

Claims administration

9,187

Latent occupational diseases liability

6,774

Balance sheet liabiltiy at December 31,
2017

$

28
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11. Benefits liabilities (cont’d)
Claims risk
Because there is no statutory limit on the benefit amount payable or the duration of the risk exposure related to
work related injuries, the Board bears risk with respect to its future claims costs, which could have material
implications for liability estimation. In determining the Board’s claim benefit liabilities, a primary risk is that the
actual benefits payments may exceed the estimation of the amount of the liabilities. This may occur due to
changes in claim reporting patterns, frequency and/or size of claim payments or duration of claims.
Compensable injuries and benefits payable may also change due to legislation or policy changes. With
potentially long claim run off periods, inflation is also a factor because future costs could escalate at a faster
rate than expected.
Sensitivity of actuarial assumptions
The benefits liabilities are determined by using many actuarial assumptions. The two most significant
assumptions are the real rate of return and inflation rate. The liability estimates are highly sensitive to small
changes in these assumptions. The following table presents the sensitivity of the liabilities to the following
change in the real rate of return and inflation rate:
2017
2016
1% Decrease in real rate of return

$ 11,206,000

$11,596,000

1% Increase in inflation

$

$ (984,000)

0.25% Decrease in real rate of return

$ 2,666,000

$ 2,755,000

0.50% Decrease in real rate of return

$ 5,419,000

$ 5,604,000

(939,000)

12. Self-insured employers
These financial statements include the effects of significant transactions carried out for self-insured employers,
principally the Government of Canada, who directly bear the costs of their own incurred claims and an
appropriate share of administration expenses. Administrative fees and interest charges are included within the
schedule of administrative expenses (page 32). Total amounts of assessment revenue and offsetting expenses
included in the statements of operations and operating surplus are as follows:
2017
2016
Current assessment revenue
$
766,736
$ 856,757
Administration fees and interest charges recoverable
233,392
280,635
$ 1,000,128
$ 1,137,392
Claims costs incurred
Short-term disability
$
129,353
$ 168,900
Long-term disability
475,695
486,454
Health care
161,688
201,403
Rehabilitation
766,736
856,757
Administration fees and interest charges
233,392
280,635
$ 1,000,128
$ 1,137,392
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13. Funding strategy and capital management
In 2002, the Board implemented a funding strategy to address retirement of the unfunded liability as at
December 31, 2001. In recognition of the significant improvement in the Board’s financial position under this
strategy (2002 – 2006), the Board replaced this funding strategy with a funding policy (POL 136) which
recognizes current funding levels and is aimed at maintaining a financial position of fully funded.
Fully funded means the total assets of the Board are equal to or greater than the total liabilities.
The funding policy will target a funding status in the range of 100% - 110% and includes specific adjustments
to be applied to the assessment rate setting process should the funding status fall outside this range. This
permitted excess of assets over liabilities reduces the impact of year to year fluctuations, therefore, providing
assessment rate stabilization and enhanced security that awarded benefits will be met.
Although, per IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement, investments have been
recorded in the financial statements using the fair value method, investment revenue for funding policy
purposes continues to be recorded using the smoothing method. Under the smoothing method, gains or losses
realized on disposal of fixed term investments are deferred and amortized on a straight line basis over a nine
year period. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on equity investments are deferred and amortized on a
straight line basis over a four year period. The use of the smoothing method for funding policy purposes
continues to be in effect to reduce the volatility of investment returns on assessment rates as per the goals of
the funding policy.
Investment reconciliation to the smoothing method
January 1, 2017 balance
2017 adjustment to record revenue using the smoothing method

$
$

Fund balance based on investment smoothing
Fund balance as currently reported
Adjustment to record revenue using the smoothing method
Fund balance based on investment smoothing

35,331,327
6,077,987
41,409,314

$ 105,102,288
(41,409,314)
$

63,692,974

Asset total based on investment smoothing
Total assets as currently reported
Adjustment to record revenue using the smoothing method
Asset total based on investment smoothing

$ 265,830,812
(41,409,314)
$ 224,421,498

Total liabilities as currently reported

$ 160,728,524

Funding status as per funding policy (percentage based on investment smoothing):

139.6%
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14. Legislative obligations and other related party transactions
Included in these financial statements are transactions with various Prince Edward Island crown corporations,
departments, agencies and Boards related to the Board by virtue of common influence by the Government of
Prince Edward Island. Routine operating transactions in the ordinary course of business with related parties
are settled at prevailing market prices under normal trade terms.
The Board is required by the Workers Compensation Act (the Act) to provide an annual grant to the Workers’
Advisor Program. The Workers’ Advisor Program operates autonomously from the Board and assists workers
or dependants of workers in respect of claims for compensation. During the year, the Board paid $325,856
(2016 - $173,308) of the Program’s expenses.
The Board is required by the Act to provide an annual grant to the Employers’ Advisor Program. The
Employers’ Advisor Program operates autonomously from the Board and assists employers in respect of
classifications, assessments and claims for compensation. During the year, the Board paid $102,076
(2016 - $130,316) of the Program’s expenses.
The Board is required by the Act to pay the operating costs of the Appeals Tribunal. During the year, the
Board paid $235,712 (2016 - $109,940) to cover the operating costs of the Tribunal.
The table below presents total compensation of the key management group, which includes the Board of
Directors and senior executive staff.
Short-term employee benefits
Post employment benefits

2017
$ 633,364
102,348

2016
$ 601,183
101,196

$ 735,712

$ 702,379

15. Distribution to employers
During the year, the Board of Directors of the Board approved a distribution to active employers of $21,301,088
(2016 - $nil). The Board was able to distribute these funds due to significantly better investment returns. These
funds were distributed to employers who had assessable payroll as of December 31, 2016 and was based on
base premiums which was defined as assessable payroll times the group assessment rate.

16. Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

31

478

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME III 2017-2018

Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island
Schedule of administration expenses
Year ended December 31
Building operating costs
Communications, printing and supplies
Computer maintenance
Depreciation
Dues and fees
Interest and bank charges
Miscellaneous
Postage
Professional development
Professional fees
Salaries
Board members
Staff members
Benefits
Retirement benefits (Note 10)
Telephone
Travel

2017
$

194,510
181,623
214,867
450,564
124,607
187,835
51,781
79,987
80,840
887,840

2016
$

67,542
5,230,242
976,939
141,331
103,691
207,979
9,182,178
(1,498,000)

Less allocation to benefits liabilities (Note 11)
$

7,684,178

209,318
178,583
270,913
432,645
104,825
160,135
14,661
96,981
67,573
726,785
61,902
5,075,708
900,837
124,231
112,904
206,834
8,744,835
(1,498,000)

$

7,246,835
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